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PART I
All brand names or trademarks appearing in this report are the property of their respective holders. Use or display by us of other parties’ trademarks, trade
dress, or products in this report is not intended to, and does not, imply a relationship with, or endorsements or sponsorship of, us by the trademark or trade dress
owners. Unless the context requires otherwise, references in this report to the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, ITI, Inc.
Item 1.

BUSINESS

Overview
We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery and clinical development of innovative, small molecule drugs that address underserved
medical needs in neuropsychiatric and neurological disorders by targeting intracellular signaling mechanisms within the central nervous system, or CNS. ITI-007 is
our lead drug development candidate with mechanisms of action that, we believe, may represent an effective treatment across multiple therapeutic indications. In
our pre-clinical and clinical trials to date, ITI-007 combines potent serotonin 5-HT2A receptor antagonism, dopamine receptor phosphoprotein modulation, or
DPPM, glutamatergic modulation, and serotonin reuptake inhibition into a single drug candidate for the treatment of acute and residual schizophrenia and the
treatment of bipolar disorder, including bipolar depression. At dopamine D2 receptors, ITI-007 has been demonstrated to have dual properties and to act as both a
pre-synaptic partial agonist and a post-synaptic antagonist. ITI-007 has also been demonstrated to have affinity for dopamine D1 receptors and indirectly stimulate
phosphorylation of glutamatergic NMDA GluN2B receptors in a mesolimbic specific manner. We believe that this regional selectivity in brain areas thought to
mediate the efficacy of antipsychotic drugs, together with serotonergic, glutamatergic, and dopaminergic interactions, may result in efficacy for a broad array of
symptoms associated with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder with improved psychosocial function. The serotonin reuptake inhibition potentially allows for
antidepressant activity in the treatment of schizoaffective disorder, other disorders with co-morbid depression, and/or as a stand-alone treatment for major
depressive disorder. We believe ITI-007 may also be useful for the treatment of other psychiatric and neurodegenerative disorders, particularly behavioral
disturbances associated with dementia, autism, and other CNS diseases. ITI-007 is in Phase 3 clinical development as a novel treatment for schizophrenia and
bipolar depression.
ITI-007 for the Treatment of Schizophrenia
In September 2015, we announced top-line clinical results from our first Phase 3 clinical trial of ITI-007 for the treatment of patients with schizophrenia.
This randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 3 clinical trial was conducted at 12 sites in the United States with 450 patients randomized (1:1:1) to
receive either 60 mg of ITI-007, 40 mg of ITI-007 or placebo once daily in the morning for 28 days. The pre-specified primary efficacy measure was change from
baseline versus placebo at study endpoint (4 weeks) on the centrally rated Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale, or PANSS, total score. In this trial, the once-daily
dose of 60 mg of ITI-007 met the primary endpoint and demonstrated antipsychotic efficacy with statistically significant superiority over placebo at week 4 (study
endpoint) with additional improvements observed in social function. Moreover, the 60 mg dose of ITI-007 showed significant antipsychotic efficacy as early as
week 1, which was maintained at every time point throughout the entire study. ITI-007 showed a dose-related improvement in symptoms of schizophrenia with the
40 mg dose approximating the trajectory of improvement seen with the 60 mg dose, but the effect with 40 mg did not reach statistical significance on the primary
endpoint. In addition, the 60 mg dose of ITI-007 met the key secondary endpoint of statistically significant improvement on the Clinical Global Impression Scale
for Severity of Illness, or CGI-S. The 40 mg dose of ITI-007 also demonstrated a statistically significant improvement versus placebo on the CGI-S, though not
formally tested against placebo as a key secondary endpoint since it did not separate on the primary endpoint. Consistent with previous studies, ITI-007 had a
favorable safety and tolerability profile as evidenced by motoric, metabolic, and cardiovascular characteristics similar to placebo, and no clinically significant
changes in akathisia, extrapyramidal symptoms, prolactin, body weight, glucose, insulin, or lipids.
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In September 2015, we also announced top-line data from an open-label positron emission tomography, or PET, study of ITI-007 examining brain occupancy
of striatal D2 receptors. This study was conducted in patients diagnosed with schizophrenia who were otherwise healthy and stable with respect to their psychosis.
After washout from their previous antipsychotic medication for at least two weeks, PET was used to determine target occupancy in brain regions at baseline (drugfree) and again after two weeks of once daily ITI-007 oral administration. In this trial, the 60 mg dose of ITI-007 was associated with a mean of approximately 40%
striatal dopamine D 2 receptor occupancy. As predicted by preclinical and earlier clinical data, ITI-007 demonstrated antipsychotic effect at relatively low striatal D
2 receptor occupancy, lower than the occupancy range required by most other antipsychotic drugs. Unlike any existing schizophrenia treatment, this dopamine
receptor phosphoprotein modulator, or DPPM, acts as a pre-synaptic partial agonist and post-synaptic antagonist at D 2 receptors. We believe this mechanism likely
contributes to the favorable safety profile of ITI-007, with reduced risk for hyperprolactinemia, akathisia, extrapyramidal symptoms, and other motoric side effects.
The top-line results from our first Phase 3 clinical trial of ITI-007 confirm the earlier Phase 2 results that we announced in December 2013, in which ITI-007
exhibited antipsychotic efficacy in a randomized, double-blind, placebo and active controlled clinical trial in patients with an acutely exacerbated episode of
schizophrenia. In this Phase 2 trial, 335 patients were randomized to receive one of four treatments: 60 mg of ITI-007, 120 mg of ITI-007, 4 mg of risperidone
(active control) or placebo in a 1:1:1:1 ratio, orally once daily for 28 days. The primary endpoint for this clinical trial was change from baseline to Day 28 on the
PANSS total score. In this study, ITI-007 met the trial’s pre-specified primary endpoint, improving symptoms associated with schizophrenia as measured by a
statistically significant and clinically meaningful decrease in the PANSS total score. The trial also met key secondary outcome measures related to efficacy on
PANSS subscales and safety. We are also conducting a second Phase 3 clinical trial in schizophrenia that we initiated in the second quarter of 2015, with over 600
patients planned to be enrolled in the trial. In this trial, we are randomizing patients to two doses of ITI-007 (60 mg or 20 mg), risperidone (active control) or
placebo over a 6-week treatment duration, and the primary outcome measure is change from baseline to Day 42 on the PANSS total score. We expect patient
enrollment will be completed in the second quarter of 2016. Subject to timely enrollment, we anticipate top-line results from the second Phase 3 clinical trial will
be available in mid-2016.
In addition to our two Phase 3 clinical trials, we will need to complete other clinical and non-clinical trials and manufacturing and pre-commercialization
activities necessary to support the submission of a planned New Drug Application, or NDA, for ITI-007 in schizophrenia, which we currently expect could occur in
the first half of 2017.
ITI-007 for the Treatment of Depressive Episodes Associated with Bipolar Disorder (Bipolar Depression)
Our bipolar depression program consists of two Phase 3 multi-center, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trials: one to evaluate ITI-007 as
a monotherapy and the other to evaluate ITI-007 as an adjunctive therapy with lithium or valproate. In each trial, approximately 550 patients with a clinical
diagnosis of Bipolar I or Bipolar II disorder and who are experiencing a current major depressive episode will be randomized to receive one of three treatments: 60
mg ITI-007, 40 mg ITI-007, or placebo in a 1:1:1 ratio orally once daily for 6 weeks. In the ITI-007-401 trial, patients will receive ITI-007 or placebo as a
monotherapy. In the ITI-007-402 trial, patients will receive ITI-007 or placebo adjunctive to their existing mood stabilizer lithium or valproate. We initiated our
bipolar depression program in the third quarter of 2015.
The primary endpoint for both clinical trials is change from baseline at Day 42 on the Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale, or MADRS, total score
versus placebo. The MADRS is a well-validated 10-item checklist that measures the ability of a drug to reduce overall severity of depressive symptoms. Individual
items are rated by an expert clinician on a scale of 0 to 6 in which a score of 6 represents the most depressed evaluation for each item assessed. The total score
ranges from 0 to 60. Secondary endpoints include measures of social function and quality of life that may illustrate the differentiated clinical profile of ITI-007.
Safety and tolerability are also assessed in both clinical trials.
5
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Other Indications for ITI-007
In the fourth quarter of 2014, we announced the top-line data from ITI-007-200, a Phase 1/2 clinical trial designed to evaluate the safety, tolerability and
pharmacokinetics of low doses of ITI-007 in healthy geriatric subjects and in patients with dementia, including Alzheimer’s disease. The completion of this study
marks an important milestone in our strategy to develop low doses of ITI-007 for the treatment of behavioral disturbances associated with dementia and related
disorders. The ITI-007-200 trial results to date indicate that ITI-007 is safe and well-tolerated across a range of low doses, has linear- and dose-related
pharmacokinetics and improves cognition in the elderly. The most frequent adverse event was mild sedation at the higher doses. We believe these results further
position ITI-007 as a development candidate for the treatment of behavioral disturbances in patients with dementia and other neuropsychiatric and neurological
conditions. We plan to initiate late phase clinical programs evaluating ITI-007 in patients with behavioral disturbances associated with dementia and related
disorders, including Alzheimer’s disease, in the first half of 2016.
We are also pursuing clinical development of ITI-007 for the treatment of additional CNS diseases and disorders. At the lowest doses, ITI-007 has been
demonstrated to act primarily as a potent 5-HT2A serotonin receptor antagonist. As the dose is increased, additional benefits are derived from the engagement of
additional drug targets, including modest dopamine receptor modulation and modest inhibition of serotonin transporters. We believe that combined interactions at
these receptors may provide additional benefits above and beyond selective 5-HT2A antagonism for treating agitation, aggression and sleep disturbances in
diseases that include dementia, Alzheimer’s disease, Huntington’s disease and autism spectrum disorders, while avoiding many of the side effects associated with
more robust dopamine receptor antagonism. As the dose of ITI-007 is further increased, leading to moderate dopamine receptor modulation, inhibition of serotonin
transporters, and indirect glutamate modulation, these actions complement the complete blockade of 5-HT2A serotonin receptors. At a dose of 60 mg, ITI-007 has
been shown effective in treating the symptoms associated with schizophrenia, and we believe this higher dose range will be useful for the treatment of bipolar
disorder, depressive disorders and other neuropsychiatric diseases.
Given the potential utility for ITI-007 and follow-on compounds to treat these additional indications, we may investigate, either on our own or with a partner,
agitation, aggression and sleep disturbances in additional diseases that include autism spectrum disorders; depressive disorder; intermittent explosive disorder; nonmotor symptoms and motor complications associated with Parkinson’s disease; and post-traumatic stress disorder. We hold exclusive, worldwide
commercialization rights to ITI-007 and a family of compounds from Bristol-Myers Squibb Company pursuant to an exclusive license.
Other Product Candidates
We have a second major program called ITI-002 that has yielded a portfolio of compounds that selectively inhibits the enzyme phosphodiesterase type 1, or
PDE1. We believe PDE1 helps regulate brain activity related to cognition, memory processes and movement/coordination. On February 25, 2011, we (through our
wholly owned operating subsidiary, ITI) and Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited, or Takeda, entered into a license and collaboration agreement, or the
Takeda License Agreement, under which we agreed to collaborate to research, develop and commercialize our proprietary compound ITI-214 and other selected
compounds that selectively inhibit PDE1 for use in the prevention and treatment of human diseases. On October 31, 2014, we entered into an agreement with
Takeda terminating the Takeda License Agreement, or the Termination Agreement, pursuant to which all rights granted under the Takeda License Agreement were
returned to us. On September 15, 2015, Takeda completed the transfer of the Investigational New Drug application, or IND, for ITI-214 to us. ITI-214 is the first
compound in its class to successfully advance into Phase 1 clinical trials. We intend to pursue the development of our PDE program, including ITI-214 for the
treatment of several CNS and non-CNS conditions, which may include cognition in Parkinson’s disease, cognition in Alzheimer’s disease, cognition in
schizophrenia and in other non-CNS indications. Other compounds in the PDE portfolio are also being advanced for the treatment of various indications.
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Our pipeline also includes pre-clinical programs that are focused on advancing drugs for the treatment of schizophrenia, Parkinson’s disease, Alzheimer’s
disease and other neuropsychiatric and neurodegenerative disorders. We are also investigating the development of treatments for disease modification of
neurodegenerative disorders and non-CNS diseases.
We have assembled a management team with significant industry experience to lead the discovery and development of our product candidates. We
complement our management team with a group of scientific and clinical advisors that includes recognized experts in the fields of schizophrenia and other CNS
disorders, including Nobel laureate, Dr. Paul Greengard, one of our co-founders.
We were originally incorporated in the State of Delaware in August 2012 under the name “Oneida Resources Corp.” Prior to a reverse merger that occurred
on August 29, 2013, or the Merger, Oneida Resources Corp. was a “shell” company registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act,
with no specific business plan or purpose until it began operating the business of ITI, Inc., or ITI, through the Merger transaction on August 29, 2013. ITI was
incorporated in Delaware in May 2001 to focus primarily on the development of novel drugs for the treatment of neuropsychiatric and neurologic diseases and
other disorders of the CNS. Effective upon the Merger, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company merged with and into ITI, and ITI continues as the operating
subsidiary of the Company. As used herein, the words the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to the current Delaware corporation operating the business of
ITI as a wholly-owned subsidiary, which business continues as the business of the Company.
Our corporate headquarters and laboratory are located at 430 East 29th Street, New York, New York 10016, and our telephone number is (646) 440-9333.
We also have an office in Towson, Maryland. We maintain a website at www.intracellulartherapies.com, to which we regularly post copies of our press releases as
well as additional information about us. Our filings with the SEC will be available free of charge through the Investor Relations section of our website as soon as
reasonably practicable after being electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC. Information contained in our website does not constitute a part of this report or
our other filings with the SEC.
Our Strategy
Our goal is to discover and develop novel small molecule therapeutics for the treatment of CNS diseases in order to improve the lives of people suffering
from such illnesses. Using our key understanding of intracellular signaling, we seek to accomplish our goal, using our in-house expert drug discovery and clinical
development teams, in two ways:
•

we seek to have the capability to develop first-in-class medications with novel mechanisms that have the potential to treat CNS diseases for which
there are no previously marketed drugs; and

•

we seek to develop drugs that either can differentiate themselves in competitive markets by addressing aspects of CNS disease which are not treated by
currently marketed drugs or can be effective with fewer side effects.

The key elements of our strategy are to:
•

complete the development of ITI-007 for its lead indication, treatment of schizophrenia, and for additional neuropsychiatric indications, such as
bipolar disorder and residual symptoms in schizophrenia;

•

expand the commercial potential of ITI-007 by investigating its usefulness in neurological areas, such as behavioral disturbances in dementia,
including Alzheimer’s disease and autism spectrum disorder, and in additional neuropsychiatric indications, such as sleep disorders associated with
neuropsychiatric and neurological disorders and major depressive disorder;
7
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•

continue to develop PDE inhibitor compounds, such as ITI-214, for the treatment of CNS and other disorders; and

•

advance earlier stage product candidates in our pipeline.

Our Drug Discovery Platform and Capabilities
Based on the pioneering efforts of our co-founder and Nobel laureate, Dr. Paul Greengard, we have developed a detailed understanding of intracellular
signaling pathways and intracellular targets. We have used that knowledge to develop several state of the art technology platforms, including one called CNSProfile
TM . This technology monitors the phosphoprotein changes elicited by major psychotropic drug classes and subclasses, and generates a unique molecular signature
for drug compounds. By monitoring how the levels of these phosphoproteins change in vivo , we identify intracellular signaling pathways through which several
major drug classes operate. Along with what we believe to be state of the art drug discovery efforts, we have used, and may continue to use, this information as a
tool to validate our selection of preclinical candidate molecules.
During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, we incurred $87.7 million and $21.2 million in research and development expenses, respectively.
Given the nature of our research and development and business activities, we do not expect that compliance with federal, state and local environmental laws
will result in material costs or have a significant negative effect on our operations.
Disease and Market Overview
Our programs for small molecule therapeutics are designed to address various CNS diseases that we believe are underserved or unmet by currently available
therapies and that represent large potential commercial market opportunities for us. Background information on the CNS diseases and related commercial markets
that may be addressed by our programs is set forth below.
Schizophrenia
Schizophrenia is a disabling and chronic mental illness that is characterized by multiple symptoms during an acute phase of the disorder that can include socalled “positive” symptoms, such as hearing voices, grandiose beliefs and suspiciousness or paranoia. These symptoms can be accompanied by additional, harder to
treat symptoms, such as social withdrawal, blunted emotional response and speech deficits, collectively referred to as “negative” symptoms, difficulty
concentrating and disorganized thoughts, or cognitive impairment, depression and insomnia. Such residual symptoms often persist even after the acute positive
symptoms subside, and contribute substantially to the social and employment disability associated with schizophrenia. Current antipsychotic medications provide
some relief for the symptoms associated with the acute phase of the disorder, but they do not effectively treat the residual phase symptoms associated with chronic
schizophrenia. Currently available medications used to treat acute schizophrenia are limited in their use due to side effects that can include movement disorders,
weight gain, metabolic disturbances, and cardiovascular disorders. Indeed, the side effects associated with current antipsychotic medications often make some of
the residual phase symptoms, such as negative symptoms and social function, worse. There is an unmet medical need for new therapies that have improved side
effect and efficacy profiles.
According to the National Institute of Mental Health, over 1% of the world’s population suffers from schizophrenia, and more than 2.5 million Americans
suffer from the illness in any given year. Worldwide sales of antipsychotic drugs exceeded $14 billion in 2014. These drugs have been increasingly used by
physicians to address a range of disorders in addition to schizophrenia, including bipolar disorder and a variety of psychoses and related conditions in elderly
patients. Despite their commercial success, current antipsychotic drugs have substantial limitations, including inadequate efficacy and severe side effects.
8
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The first-generation, or typical, antipsychotics that were introduced in the late-1950s block dopamine receptors. While typical antipsychotics are effective
against positive symptoms of schizophrenia in many patients, these drugs often induce disabling motor disturbances, and they fail to address or worsen most of the
negative symptoms and cognitive disturbances associated with schizophrenia.
Most schizophrenia patients in the United States are treated today with second-generation, or atypical, antipsychotics, which induce fewer motor
disturbances than typical antipsychotics, but still fail to address most of the negative symptoms of schizophrenia and other symptoms associated with social
function impairment. Many patients with schizophrenia have deficits in social function. Social function is the ability to recognize, understand, process and use
external cues to solve problems, maintain work performance, and conduct interpersonal relationships. Deficits in social function often remain after positive
symptoms, such as hallucinations and delusions, have resolved in these patients. In addition, currently prescribed treatments do not effectively address or may
exacerbate cognitive disturbances associated with schizophrenia. It is believed that the efficacy of atypical antipsychotics is due to their interactions with dopamine
and 5-HT2A receptors. The side effects induced by the atypical agents may include weight gain, non-insulin dependent (type II) diabetes, cardiovascular side
effects, sleep disturbances, and motor disturbances. We believe that these side effects generally arise either from non-essential receptor interactions or from
excessive dopamine blockade.
The limitations of currently available antipsychotics result in poor patient compliance. A landmark study funded by the National Institute of Mental Health,
the Clinical Antipsychotic Trials of Intervention Effectiveness, also referred to as CATIE, which was published in The New England Journal of Medicine in
September 2005, found that 74% of patients taking typical or atypical antipsychotics discontinued treatment within 18 months because of side effects or lack of
efficacy. We believe there is a large underserved medical need for new therapies that have improved side effect and efficacy profiles.
Bipolar Disorder
Bipolar disorder, sometimes referred to as manic-depressive illness, is characterized by extreme shifts in mood. Individuals with bipolar disorder may
experience intense feelings of over-excitement, irritability, and impulsivity with grandiose beliefs and racing thoughts, referred to as a manic episode. Symptoms of
depression may include feeling tired, hopeless and sad, with difficulty concentrating and thoughts of suicide. Some people experience both types of symptoms in
the same “mixed” episode. Severe symptoms of bipolar disorder can be associated with hallucinations or delusions, otherwise referred to as psychosis.
Bipolar disorder affects approximately 5.7 million adults in the United States in any given year, or about 2.6 percent of the adult U.S. population. In 2012,
therapeutics used to treat bipolar disorder had global sales of approximately $6 billion.
Bipolar disorder is often treated with antipsychotic medications alone or in combination with mood stabilizers. The side effects and safety risks associated
with antipsychotic drugs in patients with bipolar disorder are similar to those experienced by patients with schizophrenia. Moreover, a large national research
program conducted from 1998 to 2005 called the Systematic Treatment Enhancement Program for Bipolar Disorder, or STEP-BD, followed 4,360 patients with
bipolar disorder long term and showed that about half of patients who were treated for bipolar disorder still experienced lingering and recurrent symptoms,
indicating a clear need for improved treatments.
Behavioral Disturbances in Dementia, Including Alzheimer’s Disease
It has been estimated that 44.4 million people worldwide were living with dementia in 2013, including over 5.2 million patients with Alzheimer’s disease in
the United States. This number is expected to increase to 75.6 million by 2030 and to increase to 135.5 million by 2050. While the diagnostic criteria for
Alzheimer’s disease and other dementias mostly focus on the related cognitive deficits, it is often the behavioral and psychiatric symptoms that are most
troublesome for caregivers and lead to poor quality of life for patients.
9
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Several behavioral symptoms are quite prevalent in patients with dementia, including patients with Alzheimer’s disease. In view of the potential multiple effects of
ITI-007 on aggression, agitation, sleep disorders and depression, and its safety profile to date, we believe that ITI-007 may provide a novel therapy for treating the
behavioral disturbances accompanying dementia, including Alzheimer’s disease.
The FDA has not approved any drug to treat the behavioral symptoms of dementia, including Alzheimer’s disease. As symptoms progress and become more
severe, physicians often resort to off-label use of antipsychotic medications in these patients. Current antipsychotic drugs are associated with a number of side
effects, which can be problematic for elderly patients with dementia. In addition, antipsychotic drugs may exacerbate the cognitive disturbances associated with
dementia. We believe there is a large unmet medical need for a safe and effective therapy to treat the behavioral symptoms in patients with dementia, including
Alzheimer’s disease.
Alzheimer’s Disease
Alzheimer’s disease is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder that slowly destroys memory and thinking skills, and eventually even the ability to carry out
simple tasks. Its symptoms include cognitive dysfunction, memory abnormalities, progressive impairment in activities of daily living, and a host of behavioral and
neuropsychiatric symptoms. Alzheimer’s disease primarily affects older people and, in most cases, symptoms first appear after age 60. Alzheimer’s disease gets
worse over time and is fatal.
The market for Alzheimer’s disease therapeutics is categorized into two segments: acetylcholinesterase inhibitors and NMDA receptor antagonists, which
include Aricept ® , Namenda ® , Exelon ® and Ebixa ® . These two segments had total sales of $4.9 billion in 2013.
According to the Alzheimer’s Association, 5.2 million people in the United States are living with Alzheimer’s disease, and it is currently the fifth leading
cause of death for people age 65 and older. It has been estimated that 44.4 million people worldwide were living with dementia in 2013. This number is expected to
increase to 75.6 million by 2030 and to increase to 135.5 million by 2050. While the diagnostic criteria for Alzheimer’s disease mostly focus on the related
cognitive deficits, it is often the behavioral and psychiatric symptoms that are most troublesome for caregivers and lead to poor quality of life for patients. These
symptoms include agitation, aggressive behaviors, depression, sleep disorders, and psychosis. Studies have suggested that approximately 60% of patients with
Alzheimer’s disease experience agitation/aggression, up to 87% of patients experience depression, approximately 60% of patients experience sleep disturbances,
particularly as an increased likelihood of day-night reversal, and approximately 20% to 51% of Alzheimer’s disease patients may develop psychosis at some point
in the disease process, commonly consisting of hallucinations and delusions. The diagnosis of Alzheimer’s disease psychosis is associated with more rapid
cognitive and functional decline and institutionalization. Sleep disturbances increase the likelihood of day-night reversion, increased agitation and increased
caregiver stress that strongly influences decisions for nursing home placement.
The FDA has not approved any drug to treat the behavioral symptoms of Alzheimer’s disease. As symptoms progress and become more severe, physicians
often resort to off-label use of antipsychotic medications in these patients. Current antipsychotic drugs are associated with a number of side effects, which can be
problematic for elderly patients with Alzheimer’s disease. In addition, antipsychotic drugs may exacerbate the cognitive disturbances associated with Alzheimer’s
disease. Current antipsychotic drugs also have a boxed warning for use in elderly patients with dementia-related psychosis due to increased mortality and
morbidity. There is a large unmet medical need for a safe and effective therapy to treat the behavioral symptoms in patients with Alzheimer’s disease.
Parkinson’s Disease
Parkinson’s disease is a chronic and progressive neurodegenerative disorder that involves malfunction and death of neurons in a region of the brain that
controls movement. This neurodegeneration creates a shortage of an important brain signaling chemical, or neurotransmitter, known as dopamine, thereby
rendering patients unable
10
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to direct or control their movements in a normal manner. Parkinson’s disease is characterized by well-known motor symptoms, including tremors, limb stiffness,
slowness of movements, and difficulties with posture and balance, as well as by non-motor symptoms, which include sleep disturbances, mood disorders, cognitive
impairment and psychosis. Parkinson’s disease progresses slowly in most people and the severity of symptoms tends to worsen over time.
Parkinson’s disease is the second most common neurodegenerative disorder after Alzheimer’s disease. According to the National Parkinson Foundation,
about 1 million people in the United States and from approximately 4 to 6 million people worldwide suffer from this disease. Parkinson’s disease is more common
in people over 60 years of age, and the prevalence of this disease is expected to increase significantly as the average age of the population increases. Parkinson’s
disease patients are commonly treated with dopamine replacement therapies, such as levodopa, commonly referred to as L-DOPA, which is metabolized to
dopamine, and dopamine agonists, which are molecules that mimic the action of dopamine. Sales of therapeutics such as L-DOPA and dopamine agonists used to
treat the motor symptoms of the disease reached $2.3 billion in 2013.
Non-motor symptoms can be particularly distressing and even more troublesome to patients with Parkinson’s disease than the primary motor disturbances.
Non-motor symptoms substantially contribute to the burden of Parkinson’s disease and deeply affect the quality of life of patients and their caregivers. Non-motor
symptoms of Parkinson’s disease are associated with increased caregiver stress and burden, nursing home placement, and increased morbidity and mortality.
Treatment of non-motor symptoms associated with Parkinson’s disease poses a challenge to physicians. Current dopamine replacement drugs used to treat
the motor symptoms of Parkinson’s disease do not help, and sometimes worsen, the non-motor symptoms. No drugs are currently approved by the FDA for treating
the broad non-motor symptoms associated with Parkinson’s disease, and this remains a large unmet medical need.
Depression
Major depressive disorder, or MDD, is a brain disorder that can be associated with symptoms of sadness, hopelessness, helplessness, feelings of guilt,
irritability, loss of interest in formerly pleasurable activities, cognitive impairment, disturbed sleep patterns, and suicide ideation or behavior. Different people may
experience different symptoms, but everyone with major depression experiences symptoms that are severe enough to interfere with everyday functioning, such as
the ability to concentrate at work or school, social interactions, eating and sleeping. Sometimes the depressive episode can be so severe it is accompanied by
psychosis (hallucinations and delusions). According to the National Institute of Mental Health, approximately 3% of teenagers and approximately 7% of adults
experience MDD each year. Worldwide sales of antidepressant drugs reached $9.3 billion in 2013. The antidepressant market is primarily composed of selective
serotonin reuptake inhibitors such as Lexapro ® (marketed by Forest Laboratories and Lundbeck) and selective norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors, or SNRIs, such
as Cymbalta ® (marketed by Eli Lilly). Antipsychotics such as Seroquel ® (marketed by Astrazeneca) and Abilify ® (marketed jointly by Bristol-Myers Squibb and
Otsuka Pharmaceutical) are also used as adjunctive treatments with antidepressant treatment. The National Institute of Mental Health-funded Sequenced Treatment
Alternatives to Relieve Depression, or STAR*D, study showed that only one-third of treated patients experience complete remission of depressive symptoms.
Nearly two-thirds of patients were considered treatment-resistant.
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Our Clinical Programs
Our pipeline includes two product candidates in clinical development and two product candidates in advanced pre-clinical testing. We believe that our
product candidates offer innovative therapeutic approaches and may provide significant advantages relative to current therapies. The following table summarizes
our product candidates and programs:
OUR THERAPEUTIC PIPELINE

ITI-007 Program
Our lead product candidate, ITI-007, possesses mechanisms of action that we believe may represent an effective treatment across multiple therapeutic
indications. ITI-007 is in Phase 3 clinical trials for the treatment of schizophrenia. In our pre-clinical and clinical trials to date, we have demonstrated that ITI-007
combines potent serotonin 5-HT2A receptor antagonism, dopamine receptor phosphoprotein modulation, or DPPM, glutamatergic modulation and serotonin
reuptake inhibition into a single drug candidate for the treatment of acute and residual schizophrenia. At dopamine D2 receptors, ITI-007 has been demonstrated to
have dual properties and to act as both a pre-synaptic partial agonist and a post-synaptic antagonist. ITI-007 has also been demonstrated to have affinity for
dopamine D1 receptors and indirectly stimulate phosphorylation of glutamatergic NMDA NR2B, or GluN2B, receptors in a mesolimbic specific manner. We
believe that this regional selectivity in brain areas thought to mediate the efficacy of antipsychotic drugs, together with serotonergic, glutamatergic, and
dopaminergic interactions, may result in antipsychotic efficacy for positive, negative, affective and cognitive symptoms associated with schizophrenia. The
serotonin reuptake inhibition could allow for antidepressant activity for the treatment of schizoaffective disorder, other disorders with co-morbid depression, and/or
as a stand-alone treatment for major depressive disorder. We believe ITI-007 may also be useful for the treatment of bipolar disorder and other psychiatric and
neurodegenerative disorders, particularly behavioral disturbances associated with dementia, autism and other CNS diseases.
We believe these features of ITI-007 may be able to improve the quality of life of patients with schizophrenia and enhance social function to allow them to
integrate more fully into their families and their
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workplaces. In addition, ITI-007 may be shown to treat disorders at either low-doses ( e.g., sleep, aggression and agitation) or high-doses ( e.g. , acute exacerbated
and residual schizophrenia, bipolar disorders, and mood disorders).
Phase 1 studies to support multiple clinical indications
We conducted a series of Phase 1 safety studies of ITI-007 in Europe and the United States during the period from 2007 to 2011. All of the studies conducted
to date in the United States have been conducted under an Investigational New Drug application, or IND, filed in 2007 by ITI. Data from these studies are being
used to support the clinical development of ITI-007 in multiple indications, including schizophrenia, sleep disorders in neuropsychiatric and neurodegenerative
disease, major depressive disorders, bipolar disorders, behavioral disturbances in dementia and Alzheimer’s disease, autism, posttraumatic stress disorder, or PTSD,
and intermittent explosive disorder, or IED. We have completed the following three Phase 1 trials in healthy volunteers:
•

A Phase 1, double-blind placebo controlled, single ascending dose study in 40 healthy volunteers in Europe in 2007. ITI-007 was generally well
tolerated at all doses. Most adverse events, or AEs, were mild to moderate and all treatment related AEs resolved. The most frequent AE was
headache.

•

A Phase 1, placebo controlled multiple ascending dose study in 25 healthy volunteers in Europe from 2007 to 2008. ITI-007 was generally well
tolerated at all doses. Most AEs were mild to moderate and all treatment related AEs resolved.

•

A Phase 1, open-label positron emission tomography, or PET, study to demonstrate receptor occupancy, safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics after
single oral dose administration of ITI-007 in 16 healthy male volunteers. This study was conducted in the United States from 2007 to 2009. ITI-007
was well tolerated, all AEs were of mild or moderate intensity and all treatment related AEs resolved. Dose related increases in receptor occupancy at
dopamine D2 receptors in the striatum were demonstrated after ITI-007 administration. Brain occupancy at 5-HT2A and serotonin reuptake
transporters also was demonstrated after single doses of ITI-007.

We continued Phase 1 development of ITI-007 in patients with schizophrenia in order to advance ITI-007 in this target therapeutic indication. Specifically,
we conducted the following additional studies:
•

A Phase 1b/2, placebo controlled multiple ascending dose study in 45 patients with stable schizophrenia in the United States during 2009 to 2010. ITI007 was generally well tolerated at all doses. All AEs were mild to moderate and all treatment related AEs resolved. The overall percentage of patients
reporting treatment related AEs was similar for those treated with ITI-007 (83.3% to 100%, across dose groups) and placebo (72.7%). The majority of
the treatment related AEs that occurred at the commencement of the study decreased in terms of frequency and/or severity with repeated
administration. We observed signs consistent with clinical efficacy in stable patients with schizophrenia in this study.

•

A Phase 1, randomized study to determine the tolerability, safety and pharmacokinetics of ITI-007 using different dosing regimens in 11 patients with
schizophrenia. This study was conducted in the United States in 2011. In this study, we showed that administration of ITI-007 in a capsule dosage
form taken with food reduced the incidence of treatment related AEs and all treatment related AEs resolved. The most commonly reported treatment
related AE in this study was somnolence, commonly known as drowsiness.

ITI-007 for the treatment of exacerbated and residual schizophrenia
In multiple clinical trials of ITI-007 in patients with schizophrenia, the drug candidate has demonstrated clinical signals consistent with reductions in
psychosis, depression and insomnia. Reductions in psychosis are consistent with the potential to treat acute schizophrenia, whereas reductions in depression and
insomnia are
13
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consistent with the potential to treat residual phase schizophrenia. ITI-007 has been shown to be safe and well-tolerated across a wide range of doses in these
studies. Further, at doses that have demonstrated clinical activity, ITI-007 has caused fewer adverse effects than those typically associated with antipsychotic drug
treatment, such as impaired motor function. These adverse side effects can be a major cause of patient noncompliance with current antipsychotic therapies and can
lead to poorer social function.
Phase 2 Clinical Trial (ITI-007-005)
ITI-007 exhibited antipsychotic efficacy in ITI-007-005, a randomized, double-blind, placebo and active controlled Phase 2 clinical trial in patients with an
acutely exacerbated episode of schizophrenia. In December 2013, we announced the clinical results from this Phase 2 trial. In this Phase 2 trial, 335 patients were
randomized to receive one of four treatments: 60 mg of ITI-007, 120 mg of ITI-007, 4 mg of risperidone (active control) or placebo in a 1:1:1:1 ratio. Patients
received study treatment orally once daily in the morning for 28 days. Of those randomized, 311 patients were included in the intent-to-treat primary analysis.
Subject participation lasted approximately 7 to 8 weeks, including a one week screening period, a four week treatment period followed by stabilization on standard
of care, and a safety follow up visit approximately two weeks after stabilization. The primary endpoint for this clinical trial was change from baseline to Day 28 on
the PANSS total score. The PANSS is a well-validated 30-item rating scale that measures the ability of a drug to reduce schizophrenia symptom severity. The
PANSS measures positive symptoms, such as delusions, suspiciousness, and hallucinations; negative symptoms, such as blunted affect, social and emotional
withdrawal, and stereotyped thinking; and general psychopathology, such as anxiety, tension, depression, and active social avoidance.
Secondary endpoints in this trial included weekly assessments of the PANSS total score as well as its subscales (Positive Symptom Subscale, Negative
Symptom Subscale, and General Psychopathology Subscale) and the Negative Symptom Factor (based on a subset of PANSS questions), individual item response
on the PANSS, and the Calgary Depression Scale for Schizophrenia. Safety and tolerability were also assessed.
In December 2013, we announced that topline results from the ITI-007-005 study indicated that ITI-007 met the trial’s pre-specified primary endpoint,
improving symptoms associated with schizophrenia as measured by a statistically significant and clinically meaningful decrease in the PANSS total score. The trial
also met key secondary outcome measures related to efficacy on PANSS subscales and safety.
Many patients with schizophrenia have deficits in social function. Social function is the ability to recognize, understand, process and use external cues to
solve problems, maintain work performance and conduct interpersonal relationships. Deficits in social function often remain after positive symptoms, such as
hallucinations and delusions, have resolved in these patients. In the Phase 2 trial, ITI-007 exhibited a differentiating response profile across a broad range of
symptoms that we believe is consistent with improvements in these social functioning deficits. The study also showed that ITI-007 was well-tolerated at the tested
doses. ITI-007 demonstrated a favorable safety profile in the study without characteristic antipsychotic drug side effects or any serious adverse events.
ITI-007 at a dose of 60 mg demonstrated a statistically significant improvement in psychosis (p = 0.017) on the trial’s pre-specified primary endpoint, which
was change from baseline on the PANSS total score, compared to placebo. The primary statistical analysis was pre-specified and used a Mixed-Effect Model
Repeated Measure method for handling missing data in the intent-to-treat, or ITT, study population and a Bonferroni procedure to correct for multiple two-sided
comparisons (each dose of ITI-007 compared to placebo). The trial’s pre-specified sensitivity analysis on the primary endpoint used the analysis of covariance, or
ANCOVA, model and last observation carried forward, or LOCF, method for handling missing data for the ITT population and confirmed the positive outcome
with statistically significant improvements compared to placebo in patients receiving the 60 mg dose of ITI-007 (p = 0.011). ITI-007 at a dose of 60 mg also
significantly improved the positive symptom subscale (p < 0.05) and the general psychopathology subscale (p < 0.05) on the PANSS after 28 days of treatment
using the ANCOVA-LOCF on the ITT population.
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The improvement in the PANSS total score in the 120 mg dose group did not reach statistical significance. We believe that it is possible that sedation, the
most frequent side effect in the 120 mg dose group, interfered with the ability to detect an efficacy signal at this dose administered once daily in the morning.
Approximately 32.5% of subjects randomized to 120 mg of ITI-007 experienced sedation/somnolence, compared to 21% of subjects randomized to risperidone,
17% of subjects randomized to 60 mg of ITI-007, and 13% randomized to placebo. We believe that nighttime administration may be more appropriate for testing
the effectiveness of the 120 mg dose of ITI-007 in this patient population. In the trial, the 60 mg dose of ITI-007 was effective when administered once daily in the
morning.
Consistent with preliminary indications from the interim analysis and with the drug candidate’s pharmacological profile, ITI-007 at a dose of 60 mg
significantly improved certain items on the negative symptom and general psychopathology subscales consistent with improved social function. The study was
statistically powered only on the primary endpoint. ITI-007 did significantly improve many secondary endpoints, although the study was not designed for
significance on secondary endpoints and was not powered to detect statistical differences in subgroup analyses.
A high percentage (74%) of randomized subjects completed trial participation. Only 19% of subjects discontinued from study treatment during the 28 day
study treatment period, and an additional 7% of subjects completed study treatment but were lost to follow up.
In the Phase 2 trial, ITI-007 was well-tolerated. The most frequent AE was sedation, as described above. There were no serious adverse events related to ITI007. There were no clinically meaningful changes in safety measures with ITI-007. Notably, ITI-007 demonstrated a favorable metabolic profile with no increase
of blood levels of glucose, insulin, cholesterol or triglycerides over a four week treatment period. Moreover, in contrast to risperidone, 60 mg of ITI-007 was
effective with no difference from placebo on weight change parameters, prolactin levels, extrapyramidal symptoms (EPS) or akathisia. ITI-007 was not associated
with EPS as measured by the Simpson-Angus Scale, Barnes Akathisia Rating Scale, or Abnormal Involuntary Movement Scale. There was no increase in suicidal
ideation or behavior with ITI-007.
Phase 3 Clinical Trials and Regulatory Plans
We are proceeding with Phase 3 development of ITI-007 for the treatment of schizophrenia. We are conducting two randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled Phase 3 clinical trials of ITI-007 in patients with acutely exacerbated schizophrenia. In September 2015, we announced top-line clinical results from our
first Phase 3 clinical trial of ITI-007 for the treatment of patients with schizophrenia. This randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 3 clinical trial was
conducted at 12 sites in the United States with 450 patients randomized (1:1:1) to receive either 60 mg of ITI-007, 40 mg of ITI-007 or placebo once daily in the
morning for 28 days. The pre-specified primary efficacy measure was change from baseline versus placebo at study endpoint (4 weeks) on the centrally rated
Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale, or PANSS, total score. In this trial, the once-daily dose of 60 mg of ITI-007 met the primary endpoint and demonstrated
antipsychotic efficacy with statistically significant superiority over placebo at week 4 (study endpoint) with additional improvements observed in social function.
Moreover, the 60 mg dose of ITI-007 showed significant antipsychotic efficacy as early as week 1, which was maintained at every time point throughout the entire
study. ITI-007 showed a dose-related improvement in symptoms of schizophrenia with the 40 mg dose approximating the trajectory of improvement seen with the
60 mg dose, but the effect with 40 mg did not reach statistical significance on the primary endpoint. In addition, the 60 mg dose of ITI-007 met the key secondary
endpoint of statistically significant improvement on the Clinical Global Impression Scale for Severity of Illness, or CGI-S. The 40 mg dose of ITI-007 also
demonstrated a statistically significant improvement versus placebo on the CGI-S, though not formally tested against placebo since it did not separate on the
primary endpoint. Consistent with previous studies, ITI-007 had a favorable safety and tolerability profile as evidenced by motoric, metabolic, and cardiovascular
characteristics similar to placebo, and no clinically significant changes in akathisia, extrapyramidal symptoms, prolactin, body weight, glucose, insulin, or lipids.
We are also conducting a second Phase 3 clinical trial in schizophrenia that we initiated in the second quarter of 2015, with over 600 patients
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planned to be enrolled in the trial. In this trial, we are randomizing patients to two doses of ITI-007 (60 mg or 20 mg), risperidone (active control) or placebo over a
6-week treatment duration, and the primary outcome measure is change from baseline to Day 42 on the PANSS total score. We expect patient enrollment will be
completed in the second quarter of 2016. Subject to timely enrollment, we anticipate top-line results from the second Phase 3 clinical trial will be available in mid2016.
In addition to our Phase 3 clinical trials, we will need to complete other clinical and non-clinical trials and manufacturing and pre-commercialization
activities necessary to support the submission of a planned NDA for ITI-007 in schizophrenia, which we currently expect could occur in the first half of 2017.
Additional meetings with the FDA may be requested, as needed, to discuss in greater detail our plans for schizophrenia, and other elements of our regulatory
strategy, including additional therapeutic indications, as the program progresses. Our clinical plans may change based on any discussions with the FDA, the relative
success and cost of our research, preclinical and clinical development programs, whether we are able to enter into future collaborations, and any unforeseen delays
or cash needs. If the FDA does not agree with our clinical development plans for ITI-007, our development of ITI-007 may be delayed and the costs of our
development of ITI-007 could increase, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
We are also developing long acting injectable formulations of ITI-007 for the treatment of schizophrenia. This is a pre-clinical stage development program.
PET study of ITI-007 in patients with stable schizophrenia
On September 16, 2015, we announced top-line data from an open-label positron emission tomography, or PET, study of ITI-007 examining brain occupancy
of striatal D2 receptors. This study was conducted in patients diagnosed with schizophrenia who were otherwise healthy and stable with respect to their psychosis.
After washout from their previous antipsychotic medication for at least two weeks, PET was used to determine target occupancy in brain regions at baseline (drugfree) and again after two weeks of once daily ITI-007 oral administration. In this trial, the 60 mg dose of ITI-007 was associated with a mean of approximately 40%
striatal dopamine D 2 receptor occupancy. As predicted by preclinical and earlier clinical data, ITI-007 demonstrated antipsychotic effect at relatively low striatal D
2 receptor occupancy, lower than the occupancy range required by most other antipsychotic drugs. Unlike any existing schizophrenia treatment, this dopamine
receptor phosphoprotein modulator, or DPPM, acts as a pre-synaptic partial agonist and post-synaptic antagonist at D2 receptors. We believe this mechanism likely
contributes to the favorable safety profile of ITI-007, with reduced risk for hyperprolactinemia, akathisia, extrapyramidal symptoms, and other motoric side effects.
ITI-007 for the treatment of depressive episodes associated with bipolar disorder (bipolar depression)
The pharmacological profile of ITI-007 offers the potential to treat bipolar mania, depression, and mixed symptoms at doses similar to those targeted for the
treatment of schizophrenia. We believe that ITI-007 may be effective alone or in combination with mood stabilizers. Given that many patients with bipolar disorder
also experience disturbed sleep and cognitive impairment similar to that observed in schizophrenia, we believe that ITI-007 may treat a wide array of symptoms in
patients with bipolar disorder, including improvement of cognition and sleep.
Our bipolar depression program consists of two Phase 3 multi-center, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trials: one to evaluate ITI-007 as
a monotherapy and the other to evaluate ITI-007 as an adjunctive therapy with lithium or valproate. In each trial, approximately 550 patients with a clinical
diagnosis of Bipolar I or Bipolar II disorder and who are experiencing a current major depressive episode will be randomized to receive one of three treatments: 60
mg ITI-007, 40 mg ITI-007, or placebo in a 1:1:1 ratio orally once daily for 6 weeks. In the ITI-007-401 trial, patients will receive ITI-007 or placebo as a
monotherapy. In the ITI-007-402 trial, patients will receive ITI-007 or placebo adjunctive to their existing mood stabilizer lithium or valproate. We initiated our
bipolar depression program in the third quarter of 2015.
The primary endpoint for both clinical trials is change from baseline at Day 42 on the Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS) total score
versus placebo. The MADRS is a well-validated 10-item checklist that measures the ability of a drug to reduce overall severity of depressive symptoms. Individual
items are rated
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by an expert clinician on a scale of 0 to 6 in which a score of 6 represents the most depressed evaluation for each item assessed. The total score ranges from 0 to 60.
Secondary endpoints include measures of social function and quality of life that may illustrate the differentiated clinical profile of ITI-007. Safety and tolerability
are also assessed in both clinical trials.
ITI-007 for the treatment of behavioral disturbances associated with dementia, including Alzheimer’s disease
Behavioral disturbances are common in dementia and Alzheimer’s disease. These disturbances are a major component of the burden to caregivers, and often
lead to institutionalization. Although currently available treatments for patients with dementia mainly address cognitive disturbances, behavioral disturbances are
considerably more problematic and likely more amenable to drug treatment. Several behavioral symptoms are quite prevalent in patients with dementia, including
patients with Alzheimer’s disease. In the fourth quarter of 2014, we announced the top-line data from ITI-007-200, a Phase 1/2 clinical trial designed to evaluate
the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of low doses of ITI-007 in healthy geriatric subjects and in patients with dementia, including Alzheimer’s disease. The
ITI-007-200 clinical trial was conducted in two parts. Part 1 was a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled multiple ascending dose evaluation of ITI-007 in
healthy geriatric subjects. In each of three cohorts in Part 1, approximately 10 subjects were randomized to receive ITI-007 (N=8) or placebo (N=2) orally once
daily in the morning for seven days. Doses of ITI-007 up to and including 30 mg were evaluated in three cohorts in Part 1. In Part 2, eight patients with dementia
were randomized to receive 9 mg ITI-007 (N=5) or placebo (N=3) orally once a day in the evening for seven days. The primary objectives of the study were to
evaluate the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of ITI-007 in the elderly and in the target dementia patient population. Secondary measures were included to
explore the effects of ITI-007 on cognition and agitation. The Hopkins Verbal Learning Test-R, or HVLT-R, was used to assess cognition in healthy geriatric
subjects and dementia patients. The results demonstrated impaired verbal learning and memory (recall and recognition memory) by dementia patients relative to
healthy geriatric subjects. Moreover, the data indicated that healthy geriatric subjects treated with ITI-007 for approximately one week experienced an
improvement in verbal learning and memory relative to placebo-treated subjects. Dementia patients treated with ITI-007 showed enhanced recognition memory,
making fewer false positive errors (i.e., responding ‘yes’ to non-target words) than patients treated with placebo. Other secondary endpoints in the ITI-007-200
clinical trial included the assessment of agitation. However, none of the study participants experienced agitation at baseline or during the study, and therefore no
signals on this behavioral endpoint could be assessed. The completion of this study marks an important milestone in our strategy to develop low doses of ITI-007
for the treatment of behavioral disturbances associated with dementia and related disorders. The ITI-007-200 trial results to date indicate that ITI-007 is safe and
well-tolerated across a range of low doses, has linear- and dose-related pharmacokinetics and improves cognition in the elderly. The most frequent adverse event
was mild sedation at the higher doses. We believe these results further position ITI-007 as a development candidate for the treatment of behavioral disturbances in
patients with dementia and other neuropsychiatric and neurological conditions. We plan to initiate additional clinical programs evaluating ITI-007 in patients with
behavioral disturbances associated with dementia and related disorders, including Alzheimer’s disease, in the first half of 2016.
ITI-007 for the treatment of sleep disturbances associated with neurologic and psychiatric disorders
A Phase 2 double-blind, placebo controlled cross-over clinical trial conducted in 19 patients with primary insomnia with disturbed sleep maintenance at low
doses of ITI-007 was completed in 2008 in Europe. The primary outcome measure was slow wave sleep as determined by polysomnography. ITI-007 demonstrated
a dose-related statistically significant increase in slow wave sleep. Secondary measures were consistent with improvement of sleep maintenance in patients with
primary insomnia, indicated by decreased waking after sleep onset, increased total sleep time, and no increase in latency to sleep onset. At these low doses ITI-007
did not induce sleep, but rather helped maintain sleep once sleep had been initiated. In addition, ITI-007 was not associated with next day cognitive impairment, or
“hang-over” effects. We believe that ITI-007 may be particularly useful in the treatment of sleep disorders that accompany neuropsychiatric and neurologic
disorders, including schizophrenia, autism spectrum disorder, or ASD, Parkinson’s disease and dementia. Previous work
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has suggested that selective 5-HT2A receptor antagonists increase deep, slow wave sleep in both humans and animals. We believe, however, that other
neuropharmacological mechanisms, in addition to 5-HT2A receptor antagonism, such as engaging some dopamine modulation, may be beneficial for the successful
treatment of sleep maintenance insomnia, or SMI, in humans. We believe that ITI-007 represents a new approach to the treatment of sleep maintenance insomnia
because of its unique pharmacology and neuropharmacological interactions beyond selective 5-HT2A receptor antagonism. We believe that ITI-007 offers a
potentially new approach to the treatment of sleep maintenance disorders, particularly in those disorders that accompany neuropsychiatric and neurologic disorders.
Many of these disorders are accompanied by profound sleep deficits, which impair daytime functioning including cognition, exacerbate disease symptoms and
increase the cost of care. We are presently exploring clinical designs to incorporate the examination of sleep disturbances in one or more of these indications. There
is no assurance that any such design would be sufficient for an FDA approval for this indication.
ITI-007 for the treatment of sleep and behavioral disturbances associated with autism spectrum disorder
Sleep problems are common in patients with ASD and are not adequately treated by currently available interventions. Approximately two thirds of children
and adolescents with ASD experience sleep problems, higher than the rate of sleep problems in age-matched developmentally typical children. Moreover,
individuals with ASD suffer from behavioral disturbances, including aggression, irritability, anxiety and depression. With its multiple pathway mechanism of
action, we believe that ITI-007 could address the multi-faceted behavioral symptoms associated with ASD. 5-HT2A receptor antagonism is predicted to increase
slow wave sleep, improve sleep maintenance and reduce aggression. D2 receptor modulation is predicted to improve sleep maintenance and reduce irritability and
aggression. Serotonin reuptake inhibition is predicted to reduce anxiety and depression. Accordingly, we believe that ITI-007 could improve sleep maintenance,
reduce behavioral disturbances and enhance social interaction in patients with ASD. We believe that our completed Phase 1 studies support advancing ITI-007 into
Phase 2 trials in this patient population, and we are presently exploring the feasibility of such trials.
ITI-007 for the treatment of depression and other mood disorders
As a potent 5-HT2A receptor antagonist and serotonin reuptake inhibitor, we believe that ITI-007 could improve symptoms of depression with fewer side
effects than selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors, or SSRIs. Dopamine modulation by ITI-007 may reduce irritability and aggression that can accompany many
mood disorders. As such, ITI-007 may be effective for the treatment of mood disorders including MDD, PTSD, and IED. We are presently exploring the feasibility
of clinical studies in these indications.
ITI-002 (PDE1) Program
We have a second major program called ITI-002 that has yielded a portfolio of compounds that selectively inhibits the enzyme phosphodiesterase type 1, or
PDE1. We believe PDE1 helps regulate brain activity related to cognition, memory processes and movement/coordination. In addition, PDE1 inhibitors may have
utility in treating non-CNS disorders. On February 25, 2011, we (through our wholly owned operating subsidiary, ITI) and Takeda Pharmaceutical Company
Limited, or Takeda, entered into a license and collaboration agreement, or the Takeda License Agreement, under which we agreed to collaborate to research,
develop and commercialize our proprietary compound ITI-214 and other selected compounds that selectively inhibit PDE1 for use in the prevention and treatment
of human diseases. Takeda conducted four Phase 1 studies. A single rising dose study was conducted in the U.S. in healthy male and female, Japanese and nonJapanese volunteers. In a second U.S. study, ITI-214 was administered once daily over 14 days to healthy volunteers and patients with stable schizophrenia. In a
third study, conducted in Japan, ITI-214 was administered for seven days at multiple rising oral doses in both male and female healthy volunteers. A fourth study
compared the relative bioavailability of oral formulations of ITI-214 used in all previous studies to an immediate-release tablet, either with or without food in
healthy volunteers. In these studies, ITI-214 demonstrated a favorable safety profile and was generally
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well-tolerated across a broad range of doses both in healthy volunteers and in patients with schizophrenia with a pharmacokinetic profile that supports once daily
dosing. ITI-214 is the first compound in its class to successfully advance into Phase 1 clinical trials. On October 31, 2014, we entered into an agreement with
Takeda terminating the Takeda License Agreement, or the Termination Agreement, pursuant to which all rights granted under the Takeda License Agreement were
returned to us. On September 15, 2015, Takeda completed the transfer of the Investigational New Drug application, or IND, for ITI-214 to us. We intend to pursue
the development of our PDE program, including ITI-214 for the treatment of several CNS and non-CNS conditions, which may include cognition in Parkinson’s
disease, cognition in Alzheimer’s disease, cognition in schizophrenia and in other non-CNS indications. Other compounds in the PDE portfolio are also being
advanced for the treatment of various indications.
Additional PDE Programs
There are multiple forms and isoforms of PDE with distinct roles in intracellular signaling. We have developed strong internal expertise in the design and
synthesis of inhibitors specific for individual PDE isoforms. Based on our understanding of the expression and functions of these isoforms in the CNS, we have
identified PDE2 and PDE9 as compelling targets for drug discovery. We believe that inhibitors of these PDEs may be useful in treating neurodegeneration and
bioenergetic failure in a variety of CNS diseases.
Intellectual Property
Our Patent Portfolio
As of February 1, 2016, we owned or controlled approximately 70 patent families filed in the United States and other major markets worldwide, including
approximately 54 issued or allowed U.S. patents, 41 pending U.S. patent applications, 214 issued foreign patents, and 194 pending foreign patent applications,
directed to novel compounds, formulations, methods of treatment, synthetic methods, and platform technologies.
Our ITI-007 program on novel compounds for neuropsychiatric and neurodegenerative diseases includes patents exclusively in-licensed from Bristol-Myers
Squibb on families of compounds, including the ITI-007 lead molecule. We have extensively characterized this lead and filed additional patent applications on
polymorphs, formulations, additional indications, derivatives and additional compounds. The ITI-007 lead molecule has composition of matter protection through
2025 and additional Orange Book-listable protection to 2034. Additionally, we expect to have data exclusivity in the European Union for up to 11 years from
commercial launch. We also have a follow-on program, directed to compounds structurally related to the ITI-007 lead, but having composition of matter protection
beyond 2031.
Our program on PDE1 inhibitors for cognition and dopamine-mediated disorders, such as Parkinson’s disease, includes patent protection for the lead
molecule, ITI-214, as well as a wide range of filings on other proprietary compounds and indications. The ITI-214 lead molecule has composition of matter
protection to 2029, with possible extensions and additional Orange Book-listable protection to 2034. Additionally, we expect to have data exclusivity in the
European Union for up to 11 years from commercial launch. We are also evaluating potential follow-on compounds for ITI-214 which would have patent
protection beyond 2030.
We have also filed patent applications on novel proprietary targets and lead compounds for Alzheimer’s disease, which would provide compound protection
beyond 2028 or beyond 2034, depending on which compound is ultimately selected for development.
License Agreement
The Bristol-Myers Squibb License Agreement
On May 31, 2005, we entered into a worldwide, exclusive License Agreement with Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, or BMS, pursuant to which we hold a
license to certain patents and know-how of BMS relating to ITI-007 and other specified compounds. The agreement was amended on November 3, 2010. The
licensed rights are
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exclusive, except BMS retains rights in specified compounds in the fields of obesity, diabetes, metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease. However, BMS has
no right to use, develop or commercialize ITI-007 and other specified compounds in any field of use. We have the right to grant sublicenses of the rights conveyed
by BMS. We are obliged under the license to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and commercialize the licensed technology. We are also prohibited
from engaging in the clinical development or commercialization of specified competitive compounds.
Under the agreement, we made an upfront payment of $1.0 million to BMS, a milestone payment of $1.25 million in December 2013, and a milestone
payment of $1.5 million in December 2014 following the initiation of our first Phase 3 clinical trial for ITI-007 for patients with exacerbated schizophrenia.
Possible milestone payments remaining total $12.0 million. Under the agreement, we may be obliged to make other milestone payments to BMS for each licensed
product of up to an aggregate of approximately $14.75 million. We are also obliged to make tiered single digit percentage royalty payments on sales of licensed
products. We are obliged to pay to BMS a percentage of non-royalty payments made in consideration of any sublicense.
The agreement extends, and royalties are payable, on a country-by-country and product-by-product basis, through the later of ten years after first commercial
sale of a licensed product in such country, expiration of the last licensed patent covering a licensed product, its method of manufacture or use, or the expiration of
other government grants providing market exclusivity, subject to certain rights of the parties to terminate the agreement on the occurrence of certain events. On
termination of the agreement, we may be obliged to convey to BMS rights in developments relating to a licensed compound or licensed product, including
regulatory filings, research results and other intellectual property rights.
Collaboration Agreement
The Takeda Pharmaceutical License and Collaboration Agreement and Termination Agreement
On February 25, 2011, we entered into a license and collaboration agreement with Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited under which we agreed to
collaborate to research, develop and commercialize our proprietary compound ITI-214 and other selected compounds that selectively inhibit PDE1 for use in the
prevention and treatment of human diseases. As part of the agreement, we assigned to Takeda certain patents owned by us that claim ITI-214 and granted Takeda
an exclusive license to develop and commercialize compounds identified in the conduct of the research program that satisfy specified criteria. However, we
retained rights to all compounds that do not meet the specified criteria and we continue to develop PDE1 inhibitors outside the scope of the agreement. Upon
execution of the agreement, Takeda made a nonrefundable payment to us.
Under the terms of the agreement, we conducted a research program with an initial term of three years to identify and characterize compounds that meet
certain specified criteria sufficient for further development by Takeda. This research program ended in February 2014. We were responsible for our expenses
incurred in the conduct of certain research activities specified in the research plan. Takeda agreed to reimburse us for expenses we incurred in conducting additional
research activities.
On October 31, 2014, we entered into an agreement with Takeda terminating the Takeda License Agreement, pursuant to which all rights granted under the
Takeda License Agreement were returned to us. On September 15, 2015, Takeda completed the transfer of the Investigational New Drug application, or IND, for
ITI-214 to us. ITI-214 is the first compound in its class to successfully advance into Phase 1 clinical trials. We intend to pursue the development of our PDE
program, including ITI-214 for the treatment of several CNS and non-CNS conditions, which may include cognition in Parkinson’s disease, cognition in
Alzheimer’s disease, cognition in schizophrenia and in other non-CNS indications. Other compounds in the PDE portfolio are also being advanced for the treatment
of various indications.
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Manufacturing
We do not own or operate manufacturing facilities for the production of any of our product candidates, nor do we have plans to develop our own
manufacturing operations in the foreseeable future. We currently rely on third-party contract manufacturers for all of our required raw materials, active
pharmaceutical ingredient, or API, and finished product for our preclinical research and clinical trials, including the Phase 3 trials for ITI-007 for the treatment of
schizophrenia and the treatment of bipolar depression. We believe that we would be able to contract with other third-party contract manufacturers to obtain API if
our existing sources of API were no longer available, but there is no assurance that API would be available from other third-party manufacturers on acceptable
terms, on the timeframe that our business would require, or at all. We do not have long-term agreements with our existing third-party contract manufacturers. We
also do not have any current contractual relationships for the manufacture of commercial supplies of any of our product candidates if they are approved. As ITI-007
and any of our other product candidates continue to progress towards potential regulatory approval, we intend to enter into agreements with a third-party contract
manufacturer and one or more back-up manufacturers for the commercial production of those products. Development and commercial quantities of any products
that we develop will need to be manufactured in facilities, and by processes, that comply with the requirements of the FDA and the regulatory agencies of other
jurisdictions in which we are seeking approval. We currently employ internal resources to manage our manufacturing contractors.
Sales and Marketing
We currently have no marketing, sales or distribution capabilities. In order to commercialize any of our product candidates, we must develop these
capabilities internally or through collaboration with third parties. In selected therapeutic areas where we feel that our product candidates can be commercialized by
a specialty sales force that calls on a limited and focused group of physicians, we may plan to participate in the commercialization of our product candidates in the
United States. In therapeutic areas that require a large sales force selling to a large and diverse prescribing population, we may elect to commercialize through, or in
collaboration with, strategic partners. We may choose to commercialize our products in markets outside of the United States by establishing one or more strategic
alliances in the future.
Competition
We face, and will continue to face, intense competition from pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, as well as numerous academic and research
institutions and governmental agencies, both in the United States and abroad. We compete, or will compete, with existing and new products being developed by our
competitors. Some of these competitors are pursuing the development of pharmaceuticals that target the same diseases and conditions that our research and
development programs target.
Even if we are successful in developing our product candidates, the resulting products would compete with a variety of established drugs in the areas of our
targeted CNS therapeutic indications. Our potential products for the treatment of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder would compete with, among other branded
products, Abilify ® , marketed jointly by Bristol-Myers Squibb and Otsuka Pharmaceutical; Fanapt ® , marketed by Novartis Pharmaceuticals; Seroquel XR ® ,
marketed by AstraZeneca; Invega ® , marketed by Janssen; VRAYLAR ® , marketed by Allergan, Rexulti ® marketed by Otsuka Pharmaceutical and Latuda ® ,
marketed by Sunovion. In addition, our product candidates, if approved, will compete with, among other generic antipsychotic products, haloperidol, risperidone,
quetiapine, olanzapine and clozapine.
In addition, the companies described above and other competitors may have a variety of drugs in development or awaiting FDA approval that could reach the
market and become established before we have a product to sell. Our competitors may also develop alternative therapies that could further limit the market for any
drugs that we may develop. Many of our competitors are using technologies or methods different or similar to
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ours to identify and validate drug targets and to discover novel small molecule drugs. Many of our competitors and their collaborators have significantly greater
experience than we do in the following:
•

identifying and validating targets;

•

screening compounds against targets;

•

preclinical and clinical trials of potential pharmaceutical products; and

•

obtaining FDA and other regulatory clearances.

In addition, many of our competitors and their collaborators have substantially greater advantages in the following areas:
•

capital resources;

•

research and development resources;

•

manufacturing capabilities; and

•

sales and marketing.

Smaller companies also may prove to be significant competitors, particularly through proprietary research discoveries and collaborative arrangements with
large pharmaceutical and established biotechnology companies. Many of our competitors have products that have been approved by the FDA or are in advanced
development. We face competition from other companies, academic institutions, governmental agencies and other public and private research organizations for
collaborative arrangements with pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, in recruiting and retaining highly qualified scientific and management personnel
and for licenses to additional technologies. Our competitors, either alone or with their collaborators, may succeed in developing technologies or drugs that are more
effective, safer, and more affordable or more easily administered than ours and may achieve patent protection or commercialize drugs sooner than us.
Developments by others may render our product candidates or our technologies obsolete. Our failure to compete effectively could have a material adverse effect on
our business.
Government Regulation
United States—FDA Process
The research, development, testing, manufacture, labeling, promotion, advertising, import and export, distribution and marketing, among other things, of
drug products are extensively regulated by governmental authorities in the United States and other countries. In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs under
the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or the FDCA, and its implementing regulations. Failure to comply with the applicable U.S. requirements may subject us
to administrative or judicial sanctions, such as FDA refusal to approve pending NDAs, warning letters, fines, civil penalties, product recalls, product seizures, total
or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions and/or criminal prosecution.
Drug Approval Process. None of our drug product candidates may be marketed in the United States until the drug has received FDA approval. Such approval
can take many years to obtain and may be rejected by the FDA at a number of steps. The steps required before a drug may be marketed in the United States
generally include the following:
•

completion of extensive pre-clinical laboratory tests, animal studies, and formulation studies in accordance with the FDA’s Good Laboratory Practice,
or GLP, regulations;

•

submission to the FDA of an IND for human clinical testing, which must become effective before human clinical trials may begin;

•

performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the drug for each proposed indication;
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•

submission to the FDA of an NDA after completion of all clinical trials;

•

satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facility or facilities at which the API and finished drug product are
produced and tested to assess compliance with current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMPs;

•

satisfactory completion of FDA inspections of clinical trial sites to assure that data supporting the safety and effectiveness of product candidates has
been generated in compliance with Good Clinical Practices; and

•

FDA review and approval of the NDA prior to any commercial marketing or sale of the drug in the United States.

Pre-clinical tests include laboratory evaluation of product chemistry, toxicity and formulation, as well as animal studies. The conduct of the pre-clinical tests
and formulation of the compounds for testing must comply with federal regulations and requirements. The results of the pre-clinical tests, together with
manufacturing information and analytical data, are submitted to the FDA as part of an IND, which must become effective before human clinical trials may begin.
An IND will automatically become effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless before that time the FDA raises concerns or questions about the conduct of
the trial, such as whether human research subjects will be exposed to an unreasonable health risk. In such a case, the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any
outstanding FDA concerns or questions before clinical trials can proceed. The FDA, sponsor or an Institutional Review Board, or IRB may place a study on hold at
any time during development.
Clinical trials involve administration of the investigational drug to human subjects under the supervision of qualified investigators. Clinical trials are
conducted under protocols detailing the objectives of the study, the parameters to be used in monitoring safety and the effectiveness criteria to be evaluated. Each
protocol must be provided to the FDA as part of a separate submission to the IND. Further, an IRB, for each medical center proposing to conduct the clinical trial
must review and approve the study protocol and informed consent information for study subjects for any clinical trial before it commences at that center, and the
IRB must monitor the study until it is completed. There are also requirements governing reporting of on-going clinical trials and clinical trial results to public
registries. Study subjects must sign an informed consent form before participating in a clinical trial.
Clinical trials necessary for product approval typically are conducted in three sequential phases, but the phases may overlap.
•

Phase 1 usually involves the initial introduction of the investigational drug into a limited population, typically healthy humans, to evaluate its shortterm safety, dosage tolerance, metabolism, pharmacokinetics and pharmacologic actions, and, if possible, to gain an early indication of its
effectiveness.

•

Phase 2 usually involves trials in a limited patient population to (i) evaluate dosage tolerance and appropriate dosage; (ii) identify possible adverse
effects and safety risks; and (iii) evaluate preliminarily the efficacy of the drug for specific targeted indications. Multiple Phase 2 clinical trials may be
conducted by the sponsor to obtain information prior to beginning larger and more expensive Phase 3 clinical trials.

•

Phase 3 trials, commonly referred to as pivotal studies, are undertaken in an expanded patient population at multiple, geographically dispersed clinical
trial centers to further evaluate clinical efficacy and test further for safety by using the drug in its final form.

The FDA or an IRB may suspend clinical trials at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the subjects or patients are being exposed to an
unacceptable health risk. The FDA may approve an NDA for a product candidate, but require that the sponsor conduct additional clinical trials to further assess the
drug after NDA approval under a post-approval commitment. Post-approval trials are typically referred to as Phase 4 clinical trials.
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During the development of a new drug, sponsors are given an opportunity to meet with the FDA at certain points. These points may be prior to submission of
an IND, at the end of Phase 2, and before an NDA is submitted. Meetings at other times may be requested. These meetings can provide an opportunity for the
sponsor to share information about the data gathered to date, for the FDA to provide advice, and for the sponsor and the FDA to reach an agreement on the next
phase of development. Sponsors typically use the end of Phase 2 meeting to discuss their Phase 2 clinical results and present their plans for the pivotal Phase 3
clinical trial that they believe will support approval of the new drug. A sponsor may request a Special Protocol Assessment, or SPA, to reach an agreement with the
FDA that the protocol design, clinical endpoints, and statistical analyses are acceptable to support regulatory approval of the product candidate with respect to
effectiveness in the indication studied. If such an agreement is reached, it will be documented and made part of the administrative record, and it will be binding on
the FDA except in limited circumstances, such as if the FDA identifies a substantial scientific issue essential to determining the safety or effectiveness of the
product after clinical studies begin, or if the sponsor fails to follow the protocol that was agreed upon with the FDA. There is no guarantee that a study will
ultimately be adequate to support an approval even if the study is subject to an SPA.
Concurrent with clinical trials, companies usually complete additional animal safety studies and must also develop additional information about the
chemistry and physical characteristics of the drug and finalize a process for manufacturing the product in accordance with cGMP requirements. The manufacturing
process must be capable of consistently producing quality batches of the drug candidate and the manufacturer must develop methods for testing the quality, purity
and potency of the final drugs. Additionally, appropriate packaging must be selected and tested and stability studies must be conducted to demonstrate that the drug
candidate does not undergo unacceptable deterioration over its shelf life.
Assuming successful completion of the required clinical testing, the results of pre-clinical studies and of clinical studies, together with other detailed
information, including information on the manufacture and composition of the drug, are submitted to the FDA in the form of an NDA requesting approval to
market the product for one or more indications. An NDA must be accompanied by a significant user fee, which is waived for the first NDA submitted by a
qualifying small business. The NDA is subject to a sixty day acceptance period, and if sufficiently complete to permit substantive review, will be filed by FDA at
the end of that period. For NDAs assigned a standard review designation, the FDA’s goal is to complete its review 12 months from submission and for priority
review NDAs, 8 months from submission. These goals can be extended by the FDA requests for additional information from the sponsor.
The testing and approval process requires substantial time, effort and financial resources. The FDA will review the NDA and may deem it to be inadequate to
support approval, and we cannot be sure that any approval will be granted on a timely basis, if at all. The FDA may also refer the application to the appropriate
advisory committee, typically a panel of clinicians, for review, evaluation and a recommendation as to whether the application should be approved. The FDA is not
bound by the recommendations of the advisory committee, but it typically follows such recommendations.
Before approving an NDA, the FDA inspects the facility or the facilities at which the drug and/or its active pharmaceutical ingredient is manufactured and
will not approve the product unless the manufacturing is in compliance with cGMPs. If the FDA evaluates the NDA and the manufacturing facilities are deemed
acceptable, the FDA may issue an approval letter, or in some cases a Complete Response Letter. The approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the drug
for specific indications. As a condition of NDA approval, the FDA may require post-marketing testing and surveillance to monitor the drug’s safety or efficacy, or
impose other conditions. A Complete Response Letter indicates that the review cycle of the application is complete and the application is not ready for approval. A
Complete Response Letter may require additional clinical data and/or additional clinical trial(s), and/or other significant, expensive and time-consuming
requirements related to clinical trials, pre-clinical studies or manufacturing. Even if such additional information is submitted, the FDA may ultimately decide that
the NDA does not satisfy the criteria for approval. Data from clinical trials is not always conclusive and the FDA may interpret data differently than we or our
collaborators interpret data.
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Alternatively, the FDA could also approve the NDA with a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy to mitigate risks of the drug, which could include medication
guides, physician communication plans, or elements to assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries or other risk minimization tools.
Once the FDA approves a drug, the FDA may withdraw product approval if on-going regulatory requirements are not met or if safety problems occur after the
product reaches the market. In addition, the FDA may require testing, including Phase 4 clinical trials, and surveillance programs to monitor the safety effects of
approved products that have been commercialized, and the FDA has the power to prevent or limit further marketing of a product based on the results of these postmarketing programs or other information.
Post-Approval Requirements. After a drug has been approved by the FDA for sale, the FDA may require that certain post-approval requirements be satisfied,
including the conduct of additional clinical studies. In addition, certain changes to an approved product, such as adding new indications, making certain
manufacturing changes, or making certain additional labeling claims, are subject to further FDA review and approval. Before a company can market products for
additional indications, it must obtain additional approvals from the FDA, typically a new NDA. Obtaining approval for a new indication generally requires that
additional clinical studies be conducted. A company cannot be sure that any additional approval for new indications for any product candidate will be approved on
a timely basis, or at all.
If post-approval conditions are not satisfied, the FDA may withdraw its approval of the drug. In addition, holders of an approved NDA are required to
(i) report certain adverse reactions to the FDA and maintain pharmacovigilance programs to proactively look for these adverse events; (ii) comply with certain
requirements concerning advertising and promotional labeling for their products; and (iii) continue to have quality control and manufacturing procedures conform
to cGMPs after approval. The FDA periodically inspects the sponsor’s records related to safety reporting and/or manufacturing facilities, which includes
assessment of on-going compliance with cGMPs. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money and effort in the area of production and quality
control to maintain cGMP compliance. We intend to use third-party manufacturers to produce our products in clinical and commercial quantities, and future FDA
inspections may identify compliance issues at the facilities of our contract manufacturers that may disrupt production or distribution, or require substantial
resources to correct. In addition, discovery of problems with a product after approval may result in restrictions on a product, manufacturer or holder of an approved
NDA, including recall of the product from the market or withdrawal of approval of the NDA for that drug.
Patent Term Restoration and Marketing Exclusivity. Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of FDA approval of the use of our drugs, some of our
U.S. patents may be eligible for limited patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Act of 1984, referred to as the HatchWaxman Amendments. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments permit a patent restoration term of up to five years as compensation for patent term lost during product
development and the FDA regulatory review process. However, patent term restoration cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years
from the product’s approval date. The patent term restoration period is generally one-half the time between the effective date of an IND and the submission date of
an NDA, plus the time between the submission date of an NDA and the approval of that application. Only one patent applicable to an approved drug is eligible for
the extension and the extension must be requested prior to expiration of the patent. The USPTO, in consultation with the FDA, reviews and approves the
application for any patent term extension or restoration. In the future, we intend to apply for restorations of patent term for some of our currently owned or licensed
patents to add patent life beyond their current expiration date, depending on the expected length of clinical trials and other factors involved in the submission of the
relevant NDA.
Data and market exclusivity provisions under the FDCA also can delay the submission or the approval of certain applications. The FDCA provides a fiveyear period of non-patent data exclusivity within the United States to the first applicant to gain approval of an NDA for a new chemical entity. A drug is a new
chemical entity if the FDA has not previously approved any other new drug containing the same active moiety, which is the molecule or ion responsible for the
action of the drug substance. During the exclusivity period, the FDA may
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not accept for review an abbreviated new drug application, or ANDA, or a 505(b)(2) NDA submitted by another company for another version of such drug where
the applicant does not own or have a legal right of reference to all the data required for approval. However, an application may be submitted after four years if it
contains a certification of patent invalidity or non-infringement. The FDCA also provides three years of marketing exclusivity for an NDA, 505(b)(2) NDA or
supplement to an existing NDA if new clinical investigations, other than bioavailability studies, conducted or sponsored by the applicant are deemed by the FDA to
be essential to the approval of the application, for example, for new indications, dosages or strengths of an existing drug. This three-year exclusivity covers only the
conditions associated with the new clinical investigations and does not prohibit the FDA from approving ANDAs or 505(b)(2) NDAs for drugs containing the
original active agent. Five-year and three-year exclusivity will not delay the submission or approval of a full NDA; however, an applicant submitting a full NDA
would be required to conduct, or obtain a right of reference to all of the pre-clinical studies, adequate and well-controlled clinical trials necessary to demonstrate
safety and effectiveness.
Foreign Regulation
In addition to regulations in the United States, we will be subject to a variety of foreign regulations governing clinical trials and commercial sales and
distribution of our products. Whether or not we obtain FDA approval for a product, we must obtain approval by the comparable regulatory authorities of foreign
countries before we can commence clinical trials and approval of foreign countries or economic areas, such as the European Union, before we may market products
in those countries or areas. The approval process and requirements governing the conduct of clinical trials, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement vary
greatly from place to place, and the time may be longer or shorter than that required for FDA approval.
Pricing and Reimbursement
In the United States and internationally, sales of products that we market in the future, and our ability to generate revenues on such sales, are dependent, in
significant part, on the availability of adequate coverage and reimbursement from third-party payors, such as state and federal governments, managed care
providers and private insurance plans. Private insurers, such as health maintenance organizations and managed care providers, have implemented cost-cutting and
reimbursement initiatives and likely will continue to do so in the future. These include establishing formularies that govern the drugs and biologics that will be
offered and the out-of-pocket obligations of member patients for such products. We may need to conduct pharmacoeconomic studies to demonstrate the costeffectiveness of our products for formulary coverage and reimbursement. Even with such studies, our products may be considered less safe, less effective or less
cost-effective than existing products, and third-party payors may not provide coverage and reimbursement for our product candidates, in whole or in part.
In addition, particularly in the United States and increasingly in other countries, we are required to provide discounts and pay rebates to state and federal
governments and agencies in connection with purchases of our products that are reimbursed by such entities. It is possible that future legislation in the United
States and other jurisdictions could be enacted to potentially impact reimbursement rates for the products we are developing and may develop in the future and
could further impact the levels of discounts and rebates paid to federal and state government entities. Any legislation that impacts these areas could impact, in a
significant way, our ability to generate revenues from sales of products that, if successfully developed, we bring to market.
Political, economic and regulatory influences are subjecting the health care industry in the United States to fundamental changes. There have been, and we
expect there will continue to be, legislative and regulatory proposals to change the health care system in ways that could significantly affect our future business. For
example, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act, or collectively, the ACA,
enacted in March 2010, substantially changes the way health care is financed by both governmental and private insurers. Among other cost containment measures,
ACA establishes:
•

an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that manufactures or imports certain branded prescription drugs and biologic agents;
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•

a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program, in which pharmaceutical manufacturers who wish to have their drugs covered under Part D
must offer discounts to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period, or the donut hole; and

•

a new formula that increases the rebates a manufacturer must pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program.

In addition, other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the ACA was enacted, which, among other things, reduce
Medicare payments to providers by up to 2% per fiscal year.
Sales and Marketing
The FDA regulates all advertising and promotion activities for products under its jurisdiction prior to and after approval, including standards and regulations
for direct-to-consumer advertising, dissemination of off-label information, industry-sponsored scientific and educational activities and promotional activities
involving the Internet. Drugs may be marketed only for the approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved label. Further, if there are
any modifications to the drug, including changes in indications, labeling, or manufacturing processes or facilities, we may be required to submit and obtain FDA
approval of a new or supplemental NDA, which may require us to collect additional data or conduct additional pre-clinical studies and clinical trials. Failure to
comply with applicable FDA requirements may subject a company to adverse publicity, enforcement action by the FDA, corrective advertising, consent decrees
and the full range of civil and criminal penalties available to the FDA.
Physicians may prescribe legally available drugs for uses that are not described in the drug’s labeling and that differ from those tested by us and approved by
the FDA. Such off-label uses are common across medical specialties, and often reflect a physician’s belief that the off-label use is the best treatment for the patient.
The FDA does not regulate the behavior of physicians in their choice of treatments, but FDA regulations do impose stringent restrictions on manufacturers’
communications regarding off-label uses. Failure to comply with applicable FDA requirements may subject a company to adverse publicity, enforcement action by
the FDA, corrective advertising, consent decrees and the full range of civil and criminal penalties available to the FDA.
Outside the United States, our ability to market a product is contingent upon obtaining marketing authorization from the appropriate regulatory authorities.
The requirements governing marketing authorization, pricing and reimbursement vary widely from country to country.
We may also be subject to various federal and state laws pertaining to health care “fraud and abuse,” including anti-kickback laws and false claims laws.
Anti-kickback laws make it illegal for a prescription drug manufacturer to solicit, offer, receive, or pay any remuneration in exchange for, or to induce, the referral
of business, including the purchase or prescription of a particular drug. Due to the breadth of the statutory provisions, the absence of guidance in the form of
regulations, and very few court decisions addressing industry practices, it is possible that our practices might be challenged under anti-kickback or similar laws.
False claims laws prohibit anyone from knowingly and willingly presenting, or causing to be presented, for payment to third-party payors (including Medicare and
Medicaid) claims for reimbursed drugs or services that are false or fraudulent, claims for items or services not provided as claimed, or claims for medically
unnecessary items or services. Our activities relating to the sale and marketing of our products may be subject to scrutiny under these laws.
Violations of fraud and abuse laws may be punishable by criminal and/or civil sanctions, including fines and civil monetary penalties, the possibility of
exclusion from federal health care programs (including Medicare and Medicaid) and corporate integrity agreements, which impose, among other things, rigorous
operational and monitoring requirements on companies. Similar sanctions and penalties also may be imposed upon executive officers and employees, including
criminal sanctions against executive officers under the so-called “responsible corporate officer” doctrine, even in situations where the executive officer did not
intend to violate the law and
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was unaware of any wrongdoing. Given the penalties that may be imposed on companies and individuals if convicted, allegations of such violations often result in
settlements even if the company or individual being investigated admits no wrongdoing. Settlements often include significant civil sanctions, including fines and
civil monetary penalties, and corporate integrity agreements. If the government was to allege or convict us or our executive officers of violating these laws, our
business could be harmed. In addition, private individuals have the ability to bring similar actions. Our activities could be subject to challenge for the reasons
discussed above and due to the broad scope of these laws and the increasing attention being given to them by law enforcement authorities. Further, there are an
increasing number of state laws that require manufacturers to make reports to states on pricing and marketing information. Many of these laws contain ambiguities
as to what is required to comply with the laws. Given the lack of clarity in laws and their implementation, our reporting actions could be subject to the penalty
provisions of the pertinent state authorities.
Description of the Merger
Pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated August 23, 2013, or the Merger Agreement, by and among Oneida Resources Corp., which we refer to
as the Company, we, our and us; ITI, Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, or Merger Sub; and Intra-Cellular Therapies,
Inc., a Delaware corporation, which we refer to as ITI; Merger Sub merged with and into ITI, with ITI remaining as the surviving entity and a wholly-owned
operating subsidiary of the Company. This transaction is referred to throughout this report as the “Merger.” The Merger was effective on August 29, 2013, upon the
filing of a Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware. In connection with the Merger, ITI changed its name to ITI, Inc. and Oneida
Resources Corp. assumed the name Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. The Merger was accounted for as a capital transaction. Upon the effectiveness of the Merger, the
Company’s business became the operation of ITI and its business.
At the effective time of the Merger, or the Effective Time, the legal existence of Merger Sub ceased and each share of ITI common stock and each share of
ITI preferred stock that was issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time was automatically exchanged for 0.5 shares of our common stock,
which we refer to as the Exchange. Immediately following the Effective Time, we completed the closing of a redemption of 5,000,000 shares of our common stock,
or the Redemption, from our then-current sole stockholder, which constituted all of the issued and outstanding shares of our capital stock, on a fully-diluted basis,
immediately prior to the Merger. Upon completion of the Merger and the Redemption, the former stockholders of ITI held 100% of the outstanding shares of our
capital stock. Unless otherwise indicated in this report, all share and per share figures reflect the exchange of each share of ITI common stock and each share of ITI
preferred stock then outstanding for 0.5 shares of our common stock at the Effective Time.
Employees
As of February 15, 2016, we employed 39 employees, 37 of whom were full-time. We consider our relations with our employees to be good. To successfully
develop our drug candidates, we must be able to attract and retain highly skilled personnel. We anticipate hiring additional employees for research and
development, clinical and regulatory affairs and general and administrative activities over the next few years. In addition, we intend to use clinical research
organizations and third parties to perform our clinical studies and manufacturing.
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Item 1A.

RISK FACTORS

Except for the historical information contained herein, this report contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. These statements
include projections about our finances, plans and objectives for the future, future operating and economic performance and other statements regarding future
performance. These statements are not guarantees of future performance or events. Our actual results could differ materially from those discussed in this report.
Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the following section, as well as those discussed in
Part II, Item 7 entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and elsewhere throughout this report.
You should consider carefully the following risk factors, together with all of the other information included or incorporated by reference in this report. If any
of the following risks, either alone or taken together, or other risks not presently known to us or that we currently believe to not be significant, develop into actual
events, then our business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects could be materially adversely affected. If that happens, the market price of our
common stock could decline, and stockholders may lose all or part of their investment.

Risks Related to Our Business
We currently do not have, and may never have, any products that generate significant revenues.
We have a limited operating history on which to evaluate our business and prospects. To date, we have not generated any product revenues from our product
candidates currently in development. We cannot guarantee that any of our product candidates currently in development will ever become marketable products.
We must demonstrate that our drug candidates satisfy rigorous standards of safety and efficacy for their intended uses before the FDA and other regulatory
authorities in the European Union and elsewhere will approve them for commercialization. Significant additional research, preclinical testing and clinical testing is
required before we can file applications with the FDA or other regulatory authorities for premarket approval of our drug candidates. In addition, to compete
effectively, our drugs must be easy to administer, cost-effective and economical to manufacture on a commercial scale. We may not achieve any of these
objectives. In September 2015, we announced top-line results from our first Phase 3 clinical trial of our most advanced drug candidate, ITI-007, in schizophrenia.
We also initiated enrollment of our second Phase 3 clinical trial of ITI-007 in schizophrenia in the second quarter of 2015 and, subject to timely enrollment, we
anticipate that top-line results from this trial will be available in mid-2016. In addition, all rights with respect to ITI-214, which has advanced into Phase 1 clinical
trials that we previously granted to Takeda were recently returned to us in connection with the termination of the Takeda License Agreement. On September 15,
2015, Takeda completed the transfer of the IND for ITI-214 to us. We intend to pursue the development of our PDE program, including ITI-214 for the treatment of
several CNS and non-CNS conditions, which may include cognition in Parkinson’s disease, cognition in Alzheimer’s disease, cognition in schizophrenia and in
other non-CNS indications. We cannot be certain that the clinical development of these or any other drug candidates in preclinical testing or clinical development
will be successful, that we will receive the regulatory approvals required to commercialize them or that any of our other research and drug discovery programs will
yield a drug candidate suitable for investigation through clinical trials. Our commercial revenues from our product candidates currently in development, if any, will
be derived from sales of drugs that will not become marketable for several years, if at all.
There is no guarantee that our planned clinical trials for ITI-007 in schizophrenia or in other indications will be successful.
In our Phase 1 and Phase 2 clinical trials, our lead product candidate, ITI-007, has demonstrated improved sleep maintenance, antipsychotic efficacy, and
clinical signals consistent with reduction in negative symptoms associated with schizophrenia, depression and anxiety, and other symptoms associated with
impaired social
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function. In September 2015, we announced top-line clinical results from our first randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 3 clinical trial in patients
with an acutely exacerbated episode of schizophrenia. In this trial, a once-daily 60 mg dose of ITI-007 met the primary endpoint and demonstrated antipsychotic
efficacy with statistically significant superiority over placebo at week 4 (study endpoint). In addition, the 60 mg dose of ITI-007 met the key secondary endpoint of
statistically significant improvement on the CGI-S. We are currently planning confirmatory later-stage clinical trials and recently initiated enrollment of our second
Phase 3 clinical trial of ITI-007 in schizophrenia in the second quarter of 2015. In addition, we initiated our bipolar depression program in the third quarter of 2015.
The historical rate of failures for product candidates in clinical development and late-stage clinical trials is high. While we plan to conduct further clinical
trials in patients with schizophrenia and other indications, there is no guarantee that we will have the same level of success in these trials as we have had in our
earlier clinical trials, or be successful at all.
In addition, although we believe that ITI-007 and follow-on compounds may also have clinical utility in indications other than schizophrenia, such as
behavioral disturbances in dementia, bipolar disorder, intermittent explosive disorder, non-motor disorders associated with Parkinson’s disease, obsessive
compulsive disorder and anxiety disorders and post-traumatic stress disorder, we have never tested ITI-007 in Phase 2 clinical trials in the patient population for
these other indications, except for ITI-007-200, a Phase 1/2 clinical trial designed to evaluate the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of low doses of ITI-007
in healthy geriatric subjects and in patients with dementia, including Alzheimer’s disease, for which we announced top-line data in the fourth quarter of 2014.
If we do not successfully complete clinical development of ITI-007, we will be unable to market and sell products derived from it and to generate product
revenues. Even if we do successfully complete clinical trials for ITI-007 in patients with schizophrenia, those results are not necessarily predictive of results of
future pivotal trials that may be needed before we may submit an NDA to the FDA for the initial or other future indications. Of the vast number of drugs in
development, only a small percentage result in the submission of an NDA to the FDA, and even less result in the NDA ultimately being approved by the FDA for
commercialization.
We have recently completed our first Phase 3 clinical trial of ITI-007 for the treatment of schizophrenia and are proceeding with our second Phase 3 clinical
trial of ITI-007 for the treatment of schizophrenia. Although we have discussed our clinical development plans with the FDA, the agency may ultimately
determine that our Phase 3 clinical trials and non-clinical studies, even if successfully completed, are not sufficient for regulatory approval. If we are required
to conduct additional clinical trials and non-clinical studies, our development of ITI-007 for schizophrenia will be more time-consuming and costly than we
presently anticipate, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
In June 2014, we held our end-of-Phase 2 meeting with the FDA to discuss our plans for initiating Phase 3 clinical trials of ITI-007 in schizophrenia.
Following this meeting, we proceeded with our Phase 3 development program, in which we recently completed the first of two randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled Phase 3 clinical trials of ITI-007 in patients with acutely exacerbated schizophrenia, with 450 patients enrolled in the first Phase 3 clinical trial and over
600 patients planned to be enrolled in the second Phase 3 clinical trial. We completed enrollment of the first Phase 3 clinical trial in schizophrenia in the second
quarter of 2015 and initiated enrollment of the second Phase 3 clinical trial in schizophrenia in the second quarter of 2015. In the first Phase 3 trial, we randomized
patients to two doses of ITI-007 (60mg or 40mg) or placebo over a 4-week treatment duration, and the primary outcome measure is change from baseline to Day 28
on the PANSS total score. In the second Phase 3 trial, we are randomizing patients to receive one of four treatments: 60 mg ITI-007, 20 mg ITI-007, 4 mg
risperidone (active control) or placebo in a 1:1:1:1 ratio. The second Phase 3 trial is being conducted for a 6-week treatment duration. We announced top-line
results of the first Phase 3 clinical trial of ITI-007 in patients with schizophrenia in September 2015 and anticipate that the results of the second Phase 3 clinical
trial will be available, subject to timely enrollment, in mid-2016. Even though we believe that our recently completed Phase 3 trial and our on-going Phase 3
clinical trial and ongoing and planned clinical and
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non-clinical studies for ITI-007 in schizophrenia, if successful, will be sufficient to support our NDA, the FDA may not agree with one or more aspects of our
clinical trial designs, including the duration of the trials, clinical endpoints, controls, dose ranges, collection of safety data, or adequacy of our non-clinical studies.
If we submit an NDA and the FDA does not agree with our clinical and non-clinical designs, our development of ITI-007 in schizophrenia and other indications
may be delayed, and we may incur additional costs and devote additional resources to address any concerns the FDA may have with our trial designs. In addition,
we may be required to conduct additional clinical trials or studies, which could result in additional delays and costs. There is no assurance that we will complete the
Phase 3 trials and other clinical and non-clinical studies within the timeframes and the costs that we currently expect, or at all, or in a manner that is acceptable to
the FDA. Any delays or unplanned costs resulting from our Phase 3 clinical trials of ITI-007 in schizophrenia may have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and financial condition. Even if we eventually complete Phase 3 clinical testing, submit an NDA and receive approval of ITI-007, the FDA
may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly additional post-approval clinical trials. The FDA may also approve ITI-007 for a more limited
indication or a narrower patient population than we originally requested, and the FDA may not approve the labeling that we believe is necessary or desirable for the
successful commercialization of ITI-007 or our other product candidates. Any delay in obtaining, or inability to obtain, applicable regulatory approval for ITI-007
would delay or prevent commercialization of ITI-007 and would materially adversely impact our business, results of operations and financial condition.
We expect our net losses to continue for at least several years and are unable to predict the extent of future losses or when we will become profitable, if ever.
We have experienced significant net losses since our inception. As of December 31, 2015, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $193.0 million.
We expect to incur net losses over the next several years as we advance our programs and incur significant clinical development costs. We have not received, and
do not expect to receive for at least the next several years, any revenues from the commercialization of our product candidates. Substantially all of our revenues to
date were from our license and collaboration agreement with Takeda and our agreements with various U.S. governmental agencies and other parties, including our
research and development grants. In October 2014, we entered into the Takeda Termination Agreement, which terminated our license and collaboration agreement
with Takeda, pursuant to which all rights with respect to ITI-214 that we previously granted to Takeda were returned to us. We will not, therefore, receive any
further milestone payments from Takeda and we cannot be certain that we will enter into additional collaboration agreements. To obtain revenues from our product
candidates, we must succeed, either alone or with others, in developing, obtaining regulatory approval for, and manufacturing and marketing drugs with significant
market potential. We may never succeed in these activities, and may never generate revenues that are significant enough to achieve profitability.
We will require substantial additional funding, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all, and, if not so available, may require us to delay,
limit, reduce or cease our operations.
We have consumed substantial amounts of capital since our inception. Our cash, cash equivalents and investment securities totaled $475.2 million at
December 31, 2015, which includes net proceeds of approximately $121.8 million from the public offering of shares of our common stock in March 2015 and
approximately $327.4 million from the public offering of shares of our common stock in September 2015. While we believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents
and investment securities, together with interest on cash balances, will be sufficient to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements through
the end of 2018, the amount and timing of our actual expenditures will depend upon numerous factors, including the ongoing status of our second Phase 3 clinical
trials of ITI-007 in patients with acute exacerbated schizophrenia and bipolar depression, the continued development of our PDE program, including ITI-214 for the
treatment of several CNS and non-CNS conditions, and our other planned clinical and non-clinical trials. Furthermore, we anticipate that we will need to secure
additional funding to obtain regulatory approval for ITI-007 in patients with dementia, including Alzheimer’s disease, for further development of ITI-007 in
patients with bipolar disorder, depressive disorders and other indications, and for development of our other product candidates.
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If the FDA requires that we perform additional preclinical studies or clinical trials, or we experience delays or other setbacks in our clinical trials, our expenses
would further increase beyond what we currently expect and the anticipated timing of any potential NDA would likely be delayed.
With the remaining proceeds from our public offerings in February 2014, March 2015 and September 2015, we intend to fund the following: the completion
of two Phase 3 clinical trials of ITI-007 in patients with acute exacerbated schizophrenia, one of which we announced top-line results in September 2015 and the
second of which we initiated enrollment in the second quarter of 2015; the initiation of other planned clinical and non-clinical trials, including manufacturing,
needed for anticipated regulatory approval of ITI-007 in patients with acute exacerbated schizophrenia and other potential additional indications; pre-launch
activities for ITI-007 for the treatment of schizophrenia and, if it receives regulatory approval, to fund our initial commercialization efforts; the completion of our
clinical trials of ITI-007 in bipolar disorder as a monotherapy and as an adjunctive therapy with lithium or valproate, a program we initiated in the third quarter of
2015; clinical trials of ITI-007 for the treatment of behavioral disturbances in dementia; pre-clinical and clinical development of our ITI-007 long acting injectable
development program; other clinical trials of ITI-007; the continued clinical development of our PDE1 program, including ITI-214; and research and preclinical
development of our other product candidates and the continuation of manufacturing activities in connection with the development of ITI-007. The remaining
proceeds, if any, will be used to fund new and ongoing research and development activities, new business opportunities, general corporate purposes, including
general and administrative expenses, capital expenditures and working capital. Accordingly, we will continue to require substantial additional capital beyond the
net proceeds from these offerings to continue our clinical development and commercialization activities. Because successful development of our product candidates
is uncertain, we are unable to estimate the actual funds we will require to complete research and development and commercialize our products under development.
Our future capital requirements will depend on, and could increase significantly as a result of, many factors, including:
•

the progress in, and the costs of, our preclinical studies and clinical trials and other research and development programs;

•

the scope, prioritization and number of our research and development programs;

•

the ability of any future collaborators and us to reach the milestones, and other events or developments, triggering payments under any future
collaboration agreements or to otherwise make payments under such agreements;

•

our ability to enter into new, and to maintain any existing, collaboration and license agreements;

•

the extent to which any future collaborators are obligated to reimburse us for clinical trial costs under any future collaboration agreements;

•

the costs involved in filing, prosecuting, enforcing and defending patent claims and other intellectual property rights;

•

the costs of securing manufacturing arrangements for clinical or commercial production;

•

the costs of preparing applications for regulatory approvals for our product candidates;

•

the costs of preparing for and establishing, or contracting for, sales and marketing capabilities if we obtain regulatory clearances to market our product
candidates; and

•

the costs associated with litigation.

Until we can generate significant continuing revenues, we expect to satisfy our future cash needs through our existing cash, cash equivalents and investment
securities, strategic collaborations, private or public sales of our securities, debt financings, grant funding, or by licensing all or a portion of our product candidates
or technology. Turmoil and volatility in the financial markets have adversely affected the market capitalizations of
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many biotechnology companies, and generally made equity and debt financing more difficult to obtain. This, coupled with other factors, may limit our access to
additional financing. This could have a material adverse effect on our ability to access sufficient funding. We cannot be certain that additional funding will be
available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we do obtain additional funding through equity offerings, the ownership of our existing stockholders and purchasers
of shares of our common stock in any such offering will be diluted, and the terms of any financing may adversely affect the rights of our stockholders. In addition,
the issuance of additional shares by us, or the possibility of such issuance, may cause the market price of our shares to decline. If funds are not available, we will be
required to delay, reduce the scope of, or eliminate one or more of our research or development programs or our commercialization efforts. We also could be
required to seek funds through arrangements with collaboration partners or otherwise that may require us to relinquish rights to some of our technologies or product
candidates or otherwise agree to terms unfavorable to us.
Our management has broad discretion over the use of our cash and we may not use our cash effectively, which could adversely affect our results of operations.
Our management has significant flexibility in applying our cash resources, including the net proceeds from our public offerings completed in February
2014, March 2015 and September 2015, and could use these resources for corporate purposes that do not increase our market value, or in ways with which our
stockholders may not agree. We may use our cash resources for corporate purposes that do not yield a significant return or any return at all for our stockholders,
which could adversely affect our future growth prospects.
Our lead product candidate, ITI-007, is only part way through the clinical trials we anticipate needing to complete before we may be able to submit an NDA to
the FDA. Clinical trials are long, expensive and unpredictable, and there is a high risk of failure.
Preclinical testing and clinical trials are long, expensive and unpredictable processes that can be subject to delays. It may take several years to complete the
preclinical testing and clinical development necessary to commercialize a drug, and delays or failure can occur at any stage. Interim results of clinical trials do not
necessarily predict final results, and success in preclinical testing and early clinical trials does not ensure that later clinical trials will be successful. A number of
companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials, even after promising results in earlier
trials.
In connection with clinical trials, we face risks that a product candidate may not prove to be efficacious; patients may die or suffer other adverse effects for
reasons that may or may not be related to the product candidate being tested; the results may not confirm the positive results of our earlier preclinical studies and
clinical trials; and the results may not meet the level of statistical significance required by the FDA or other regulatory agencies. If we do not successfully complete
preclinical and clinical development, we will be unable to market and sell products derived from our product candidates and to generate product revenues. Even if
we do successfully complete clinical trials, those results are not necessarily predictive of results of additional trials that may be needed before an NDA may be
submitted to the FDA or the FDA may approve the NDA.
Delays, suspensions and terminations in our clinical trials could result in increased costs to us, delay our ability to generate product revenues and therefore
may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and future growth prospects.
The commencement of clinical trials can be delayed for a variety of reasons, including delays in: demonstrating sufficient safety and efficacy to obtain
regulatory approval to commence a clinical trial; reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations and clinical trial sites;
manufacturing sufficient quantities of a product candidate; obtaining clearance from the FDA to commence clinical trials pursuant to an IND; obtaining
institutional review board approval to conduct a clinical trial at a prospective clinical trial site; and patient enrollment, which is a function of many factors,
including the size of the patient population, the nature of the protocol, the proximity of patients to clinical trial sites, the availability of effective treatments for the
relevant disease and the eligibility criteria for the clinical trial.
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Once a clinical trial has begun, it may be delayed, suspended or terminated due to a number of factors, including: ongoing discussions with regulatory
authorities regarding the scope or design of our clinical trials or requests by them for supplemental information with respect to our clinical trial results; failure to
conduct clinical trials in accordance with regulatory requirements; lower than anticipated screening or retention rates of patients in clinical trials; serious adverse
events or side effects experienced by participants; and insufficient supply or deficient quality of product candidates or other materials necessary for the conduct of
our clinical trials.
Many of these factors may also ultimately lead to denial of regulatory approval of a current or potential product candidate. If we experience delays,
suspensions or terminations in a clinical trial, our costs will increase, the commercial prospects for the related product candidate will be harmed, and our ability to
generate product revenues will be delayed.
Safety issues with our product candidates, or with product candidates or approved products of third parties that are similar to our product candidates, could
give rise to delays in the regulatory approval process, restrictions on labeling or product withdrawal after approval.
Problems with product candidates or approved products marketed by third parties that utilize the same therapeutic target or that belong to the same
therapeutic class as our product candidates could adversely affect the development, regulatory approval and commercialization of our product candidates. In 2012,
the FDA released draft guidance recommending that prospective suicidality assessments be performed in clinical trials of any drug being developed for a
psychiatric indication. Our development programs are focused on psychiatric indications. Our PDE program is a novel target and may have unexpected safety
effects that do not appear until late in clinical development or after commercial approval. To date, none of our product candidates have experienced any serious and
unexpected suspected adverse reactions that resulted in the submission of an IND safety report to the FDA; however, some approved products marketed by third
parties for psychiatric indications that utilize different therapeutic targets or are in a different therapeutic class have experienced significant safety issues. As we
continue the development and clinical trials of our product candidates, there can be no assurance that our product candidates will not experience significant safety
issues.
Discovery of previously unknown class effect problems may prevent or delay clinical development and commercial approval of product candidates or result
in restrictions on permissible uses after their approval, including withdrawal of the medicine from the market. Many drugs acting on the CNS include boxed
warnings and precautions related to suicidal behavior or ideation, driving impairment, somnolence/sedation and dizziness, discontinuation, weight gain, non-insulin
dependent (type II) diabetes, cardiovascular side effects, sleep disturbances, and motor disturbances. If we or others later identify undesirable side effects caused by
the mechanisms of action or classes of our product candidates or specific product candidates:
•

we may be required to conduct additional clinical trials or implement a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategies program prior to or following
approval;

•

regulatory authorities may not approve our product candidates or, as a condition of approval, require specific warnings and contraindications;

•

regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the product and require us to take our drug off the market;

•

we may have limitations on how we promote our drugs;

•

sales of products may decrease significantly;

•

we may be subject to litigation or product liability claims; and

•

our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could prevent us from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product or could substantially increase our
commercialization costs and expenses, which, in turn, could delay or prevent us from generating significant revenues from its sale.
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Finally, if the FDA determines that a drug may present a risk of substance abuse, it can recommend to the Drug Enforcement Administration that the drug be
scheduled under the Controlled Substances Act. Any failure or delay in commencing or completing clinical trials or obtaining regulatory approvals for our product
candidates would delay commercialization of our product candidates, and severely harm our business and financial condition.
If we seek to enter into strategic alliances for our drug candidates, but fail to enter into and maintain successful strategic alliances, we may have to reduce or
delay our drug candidate development or increase our expenditures.
An important element of a biotechnology company’s strategy for developing, manufacturing and commercializing its drug candidates may be to enter into
strategic alliances with pharmaceutical companies or other industry participants to advance its programs and enable it to maintain its financial and operational
capacity. We may face significant competition in seeking appropriate alliances. If we seek such alliances, we may not be able to negotiate alliances on acceptable
terms, if at all. In addition, these alliances may be unsuccessful. On October 31, 2014, we entered into the Termination Agreement with Takeda, which terminated
the Takeda License Agreement, pursuant to which all rights granted under the Takeda License Agreement were returned to us. If we seek such alliances and then
fail to create and maintain suitable alliances, we may have to limit the size or scope of, or delay, one or more of our drug development or research programs. If we
elect to fund drug development or research programs on our own, we will have to increase our expenditures and will need to obtain additional funding, which may
be unavailable or available only on unfavorable terms.
To the extent we are able to enter into collaborative arrangements or strategic alliances, we will be exposed to risks related to those collaborations and
alliances.
Biotechnology companies at our stage of development sometimes become dependent upon collaborative arrangements or strategic alliances to complete the
development and commercialization of drug candidates, particularly after the Phase 2 stage of clinical testing. If we elect to enter into collaborative arrangements or
strategic alliances, these arrangements may place the development of our drug candidates outside our control, may require us to relinquish important rights or may
otherwise be on terms unfavorable to us.
Dependence on collaborative arrangements or strategic alliances would subject us to a number of risks, including the risk that:
•

we may not be able to control the amount and timing of resources that our collaborators may devote to the drug candidates;

•

our collaborators may experience financial difficulties;

•

we may be required to relinquish important rights, such as marketing and distribution rights;

•

business combinations or significant changes in a collaborator’s business strategy may also adversely affect a collaborator’s willingness or ability to
complete its obligations under any arrangement;

•

a collaborator could independently move forward with a competing drug candidate developed either independently or in collaboration with others,
including our competitors; and

•

collaborative arrangements are often terminated or allowed to expire, which would delay the development and may increase the cost of developing our
drug candidates.

Preliminary and interim data from our clinical studies that we may announce or publish from time to time may change as more patient data become available.
From time to time, we may announce or publish preliminary or interim data from our clinical studies. Preliminary and interim results of a clinical trial are not
necessarily predictive of final results. Preliminary and interim data are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as patient
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enrollment continues and more patient data become available. As a result, preliminary and interim data should be viewed with caution until the final data are
available. Material adverse changes in the final data compared to the interim data could significantly harm our business prospects.
We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials and perform data collection and analysis, which may result in costs and delays that prevent us from
successfully commercializing our product candidates.
Although we design and manage our current preclinical studies and clinical trials, we do not now have the ability to conduct clinical trials for our product
candidates on our own. In addition to our collaborators, we rely on contract research organizations, medical institutions, clinical investigators, and contract
laboratories to perform data collection and analysis and other aspects of our clinical trials. In addition, we also rely on third parties to assist with our preclinical
studies, including studies regarding biological activity, safety, absorption, metabolism, and excretion of product candidates.
Our preclinical activities or clinical trials may be delayed, suspended, or terminated if: the quality or accuracy of the data obtained by the third parties on
whom we rely is compromised due to their failure to adhere to our clinical protocols or regulatory requirements or if for other reasons, these third parties do not
successfully carry out their contractual duties or fail to meet regulatory obligations or expected deadlines, or these third parties need to be replaced.
If the third parties on whom we rely fail to perform, our development costs may increase, our ability to obtain regulatory approval, and consequently, to
commercialize our product candidates may be delayed or prevented altogether. We currently use several contract research organizations to perform services for our
preclinical studies and clinical trials. While we believe that there are numerous alternative sources to provide these services, in the event that we seek such
alternative sources, we may not be able to enter into replacement arrangements without delays or incurring additional expenses.
Even if we successfully complete the clinical trials of one or more of our product candidates, the product candidates may fail for other reasons.
Even if we successfully complete the clinical trials for one or more of our product candidates, the product candidates may fail for other reasons, including the
possibility that the product candidates will:
•

fail to receive the regulatory approvals required to market them as drugs;

•

be subject to proprietary rights held by others requiring the negotiation of a license agreement prior to marketing;

•

be difficult or expensive to manufacture on a commercial scale;

•

have adverse side effects that make their use less desirable; or

•

fail to compete with product candidates or other treatments commercialized by our competitors.

If we are unable to receive the required regulatory approvals, secure our intellectual property rights, minimize the incidence of any adverse side effects or fail
to compete with our competitors’ products, our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
Following regulatory approval of any of our drug candidates, we will be subject to ongoing regulatory obligations and restrictions, which may result in
significant expense and limit our ability to commercialize our potential products.
With regard to our drug candidates, if any, approved by the FDA or by another regulatory authority, we are held to extensive regulatory requirements over
product manufacturing, labeling, packaging, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising, promotion and record keeping. Regulatory approvals may also be subject
to
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significant limitations on the indicated uses or marketing of the drug candidates. Potentially costly follow-up or post-marketing clinical studies may be required as a
condition of approval to further substantiate safety or efficacy, or to investigate specific issues of interest to the regulatory authority. Previously unknown problems
with the drug candidate, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, may result in restrictions on the marketing of the drug, and could include
withdrawal of the drug from the market.
In addition, the law or regulatory policies governing pharmaceuticals may change. New statutory requirements may be enacted or additional regulations may
be enacted that could prevent or delay regulatory approval of our drug candidates. We cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of adverse government
regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative action, either in the United States or elsewhere. If we are not able to maintain regulatory
compliance, we might not be permitted to market our drugs and our business could suffer.
Our product candidates may not gain acceptance among physicians, patients, or the medical community, thereby limiting our potential to generate revenues,
which will undermine our future growth prospects.
Even if our product candidates are approved for commercial sale by the FDA or other regulatory authorities, the degree of market acceptance of any
approved product candidate by physicians, health care professionals and third-party payors, and our profitability and growth will depend on a number of factors,
including:
•

our ability to provide acceptable evidence of safety and efficacy;

•

pricing and cost effectiveness, which may be subject to regulatory control;

•

our ability to obtain sufficient third-party insurance coverage or reimbursement;

•

effectiveness of our or our collaborators’ sales and marketing strategy;

•

relative convenience and ease of administration;

•

prevalence and severity of any adverse side effects; and

•

availability of alternative treatments.

If any product candidate that we develop does not provide a treatment regimen that is at least as beneficial as the current standard of care or otherwise does
not provide some additional patient benefit over the current standard of care, that product will not achieve market acceptance and we will not generate sufficient
revenues to achieve profitability.
The failure to attract and retain skilled personnel and key relationships could impair our drug development and commercialization efforts.
We are highly dependent on our senior management and key clinical development, scientific and technical personnel. Competition for these types of
personnel is intense. The loss of the services of any member of our senior management, clinical development, scientific or technical staff may significantly delay or
prevent the achievement of drug development and other business objectives and could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and
financial condition. We also rely on consultants and advisors to assist us in formulating our strategy. All of our consultants and advisors are either self-employed or
employed by other organizations, and they may have conflicts of interest or other commitments, such as consulting or advisory contracts with other organizations,
that may affect their ability to contribute to us. We intend to expand and develop new drug candidates, and will need additional funding to grow our business. We
will need to hire additional employees in order to continue our research and clinical trials and to market our drugs when approved. This strategy will require us to
recruit additional executive management and clinical development, regulatory, scientific, technical and sales and marketing personnel. There is currently intense
competition for skilled executives and employees with relevant clinical development, scientific, technical and sales and marketing expertise, and this competition is
likely to continue. The inability to attract and retain sufficient clinical development, scientific, technical and managerial personnel, due to intense competition and
our limited
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resources, would limit or delay our product development efforts, which would adversely affect the development of our drug candidates and commercialization of
our potential drugs and growth of our business.
We may not be able to continue or fully exploit our partnerships with outside scientific and clinical advisors, which could impair the progress of our clinical
trials and our research and development efforts.
We work with scientific and clinical advisors at academic and other institutions who are experts in the field of CNS disorders. They advise us with respect to
our clinical trials. These advisors are not our employees and may have other commitments that would limit their future availability to us. If a conflict of interest
arises between their work for us and their work for another entity, we may lose their services, which may impair our reputation in the industry and delay the
development or commercialization of our product candidates.
Our product candidates have never been manufactured on a commercial scale, and there are risks associated with scaling up manufacturing to commercial
scale. In particular, we will need to develop a larger scale manufacturing process that is more efficient and cost-effective to commercialize ITI-007 and other
product candidates, which may not be successful, and which may require us to transfer our production to one or more other third-party manufacturers,
potentially delaying regulatory approval and commercialization.
Our product candidates have never been manufactured on a commercial scale, and there are risks associated with scaling up manufacturing to commercial
scale including, among others, cost overruns, potential problems with process scale-up, process reproducibility, stability issues, lot consistency and timely
availability of raw materials. There is no assurance that our manufacturers will be successful in establishing a larger-scale commercial manufacturing process for
ITI-007 which achieves our objectives for manufacturing capacity and cost of goods. Even if we could otherwise obtain regulatory approval for any product
candidate, there is no assurance that our manufacturers will be able to manufacture the approved product to specifications acceptable to the FDA or other regulatory
authorities, to produce it in sufficient quantities to meet the requirements for the potential launch of the product or to meet potential future demand. If our
manufacturers are unable to produce sufficient quantities of the approved product for commercialization, our commercialization efforts would be impaired, which
would have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects.
We rely on third-party manufacturers to manufacture and supply our product candidates for us. If one of our suppliers or manufacturers fails to perform
adequately or fulfill our needs, we may be required to incur significant costs and devote significant efforts to find new suppliers or manufacturers. We may also
face significant delays in our clinical trials, regulatory approvals and product introductions and commercialization.
We have no manufacturing facilities and have limited experience in the manufacturing of drugs or in designing drug-manufacturing processes. We have
contracted with third-party manufacturers to produce, in collaboration with us, our product candidates, including ITI-007, for clinical trials. If any of our product
candidates are approved by the FDA or other regulatory agencies for commercial sale, we may need to amend our contracts with our current manufacturers or
contract with other third parties to manufacture them in larger quantities at commercial scale. While we believe that there are alternative sources available to
manufacture our product candidates, in the event that we seek such alternative sources, we may not be able to enter into replacement arrangements without delays
or additional expenditures. We cannot estimate these delays or costs with certainty but, if they were to occur, they could cause a delay in our development and
commercialization efforts. We have not entered into a long-term agreement with our current third-party manufacturers or with any alternate suppliers. Although we
intend to do so prior to any commercial launch of a product that is approved by the FDA in order to ensure that we maintain adequate supplies of commercial drug
product, we may be unable to enter into such agreements or do so on commercially reasonable terms, which could delay a product launch or subject our
commercialization efforts to significant supply risk.
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Manufacturers of our product candidates are obliged to operate in accordance with FDA-mandated current good manufacturing practices, or cGMPs. The
manufacture of pharmaceutical products in compliance with the cGMPs requires significant expertise and capital investment, including the development of
advanced manufacturing techniques and process controls. Manufacturers of pharmaceutical products often encounter difficulties in production, including
difficulties with production costs and yields, quality control, including stability of the product candidate and quality assurance testing, shortages of qualified
personnel, as well as compliance with strictly enforced cGMP requirements, other federal and state regulatory requirements and foreign regulations. If our
manufacturers were to encounter any of these difficulties or otherwise fail to comply with their obligations to us or under applicable regulations, our ability to
provide product candidates in our clinical trials would be jeopardized. Any delay or interruption in the supply of clinical trial materials could delay the completion
of our clinical trials, increase the costs associated with maintaining our clinical trial programs and, depending upon the period of delay, require us to commence
new clinical trials at significant additional expense or terminate the clinical trials completely.
In addition, the facilities used by our contract manufacturers or other third party manufacturers to manufacture our product candidates must be approved by
the FDA pursuant to inspections that will be conducted after we request regulatory approval from the FDA. These requirements include, among other things,
quality control, quality assurance and the maintenance of records and documentation. Manufacturers of our product candidates may be unable to comply with these
cGMP requirements and with other FDA, state and foreign regulatory requirements. The FDA or similar foreign regulatory agencies may also implement new
standards at any time, or change their interpretation and enforcement of existing standards for manufacture, packaging or testing of products. We have little control
over our manufacturers’ compliance with these regulations and standards. A failure of any of our current or future contract manufacturers to establish and follow
cGMPs and to document their adherence to such practices may lead to significant delays in clinical trials or in obtaining regulatory approval of product candidates
or the ultimate launch of products based on our product candidates into the market. Failure by our current or future third-party manufacturers or us to comply with
applicable regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on us, including fines, injunctions, civil penalties, failure of the government to grant pre-market
approval of drugs, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, seizures or recalls of products, operating restrictions, and criminal prosecutions. If the safety of
any product supplied is compromised due to our manufacturers’ failure to adhere to applicable laws or for other reasons, we may not be able to obtain regulatory
approval for or successfully commercialize our products and we may be held liable for any injuries sustained as a result. Any of these factors could cause a delay of
clinical studies, regulatory submissions, approvals or commercialization of our product candidates, entail higher costs or impair our reputation.
We will need to continue to manage our organization and we may encounter difficulties with our staffing and any future transitions, which could adversely
affect our results of operations.
We will need to manage our operations and facilities effectively in order to advance our drug development programs (including ITI-007 and ITI-214),
facilitate any future collaborations, and pursue other development activities. It is possible that our infrastructure may be inadequate to support our future efforts and
growth. In particular, we may have to develop internal sales, marketing, and distribution capabilities if we decide to market any drug that we may successfully
develop. We may not successfully manage our operations and, accordingly, may not achieve our research, development, and commercialization goals.
Our ability to generate product revenues will be diminished if our products do not receive coverage from payors or sell for inadequate prices, or if patients are
unable to obtain adequate levels of reimbursement.
Patients who are prescribed medicine for the treatment of their conditions generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse all or part of the costs associated
with their prescription drugs. Adequate coverage and reimbursement from governmental health care programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and commercial
payors is critical to new product acceptance. Coverage decisions may depend upon clinical and economic standards that disfavor new drug products when more
established or lower cost therapeutic alternatives are
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already available or subsequently become available. Even if we obtain coverage for any approved products, the resulting reimbursement payment rates might not be
adequate or may require co-payments that patients find unacceptably high. Patients are unlikely to use any products we may market unless coverage is provided and
reimbursement is adequate to cover a significant portion of the cost of those products.
In addition, the market for any products for which we may receive regulatory approval will depend significantly on access to third-party payors’ drug
formularies, or lists of medications for which third-party payors provide coverage and reimbursement. The industry competition to be included in such formularies
often leads to downward pricing pressures on pharmaceutical companies. Also, third-party payors may refuse to include a particular branded drug in their
formularies or otherwise restrict patient access to a branded drug when a less costly generic equivalent or other alternative is available.
Third-party payors, whether foreign or domestic, governmental or commercial, are developing increasingly sophisticated methods of controlling health care
costs. In addition, in the United States, no uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement for drug products exists among third-party payors. Therefore, coverage
and reimbursement for drug products can differ significantly from payor to payor. As a result, the coverage determination process is often a time-consuming and
costly process that will require us to provide scientific and clinical support for the use of our product candidates to each payor separately, with no assurance that
coverage will be obtained. If we are unable to obtain coverage of, and adequate payment levels for, our products from third-party payors, physicians may limit how
much or under what circumstances they will prescribe or administer them and patients may decline to purchase them. This in turn could affect our ability to
successfully commercialize any approved products and thereby adversely impact our profitability, results of operations, financial condition, and future success.
In the future, if we have products that are approved, health care legislation may make it more difficult to receive revenues from those products.
In both the United States and certain foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory proposals in recent years to change the
health care system in ways that could impact our ability to sell our products profitably. In March 2010, the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended
by the Health Care and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act, or collectively, ACA, became law in the United States. The ACA substantially changed the
way health care is financed by both governmental and private insurers and significantly affects the health care industry. Among the provisions of ACA of
importance to our potential product candidates are the following:
•

imposition of an annual, nondeductible fee on any entity that manufactures or imports certain branded prescription drugs and biologic agents,
apportioned among these entities according to their market share in certain government health care programs;

•

an increase in the statutory minimum rebates a manufacturer must pay under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program, retroactive to January 1, 2010, to
23% and 13% of the average manufacturer price for most branded and generic drugs, respectively;

•

expansion of health care fraud and abuse laws, including the False Claims Act and the Anti-Kickback Statute, new government investigative powers,
and enhanced penalties for noncompliance;

•

a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program, in which manufacturers must agree to offer 50% point-of-sale discounts off negotiated prices
of applicable brand drugs to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period, as a condition for the manufacturer’s outpatient drugs to be
covered under Medicare Part D;

•

extension of manufacturers’ Medicaid rebate liability to covered drugs dispensed to individuals who are enrolled in Medicaid managed care
organizations;

•

expansion of eligibility criteria for Medicaid programs;
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•

expansion of the entities eligible for discounts under the Public Health Service pharmaceutical pricing program;

•

requirements to report certain financial arrangements with physicians and teaching hospitals, including reporting any “payments or transfers of value”
made or distributed to prescribers, teaching hospitals and other health care providers and reporting any ownership and investment interests held by
physicians and their immediate family members and applicable group purchasing organizations during the preceding calendar year;

•

a requirement to annually report drug samples that manufacturers and distributors provide to physicians; and

•

a Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to oversee, identify priorities in, and conduct comparative clinical effectiveness research, along with
funding for such research.

Many of the details regarding the implementation of the ACA are yet to be determined and, at this time, it remains unclear what the full effect that the ACA
will have on our business. At this time, it remains unclear whether there will be any further changes made to the ACA, whether in part or in its entirety.
In addition, in many foreign countries, particularly the countries of the European Union, the pricing of prescription drugs is subject to government control. In
some non-U.S. jurisdictions, the proposed pricing for a drug must be approved before it may be lawfully marketed. The requirements governing drug pricing vary
widely from country to country. For example, the European Union provides options for its member states to restrict the range of medicinal products for which their
national health insurance systems provide reimbursement and to control the prices of medicinal products for human use. A member state may approve a specific
price for the medicinal product or it may instead adopt a system of direct or indirect controls on the profitability of the company placing the medicinal product on
the market. We may face competition from lower-priced products in foreign countries that have placed price controls on pharmaceutical products. In addition, there
may be importation of foreign products that compete with any products we may market, which could negatively impact our profitability.
We expect that the ACA, as well as other health care reform measures that may be adopted in the future, may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and in
additional downward pressure on the price that we may receive for any approved product. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government
programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors. The implementation of cost containment measures or other health care reforms may
prevent us from being able to generate revenue, attain profitability, or commercialize any products for which we receive regulatory approval.
If we are unable to establish sales and marketing capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties to sell and market any products we may develop, we
may not be able to generate product revenue.
We do not currently have an organization for the sales, marketing or distribution of pharmaceutical products. In order to market any products that may be
approved by the FDA, we must build our sales, marketing, managerial, and related capabilities or make arrangements with third parties to perform these critical
commercial services. There are risks involved with both establishing our own sales, marketing, managerial and related capabilities and entering into arrangements
with third parties to perform these services. For example, recruiting and training a sales force is expensive and time-consuming and could delay any product launch.
If the commercial launch of a product candidate for which we recruit a sales force and establish marketing capabilities is delayed or does not occur for any reason,
we would have prematurely or unnecessarily incurred these commercialization expenses. This may be costly, and our investment would be lost if we cannot retain
or reposition our sales and marketing personnel.
We also may not be successful entering into arrangements with third parties to sell and market our product candidates or may be unable to do so on terms
that are favorable to us. We likely will have little control over such third parties, and any of them may fail to devote the necessary resources and attention to sell
and market our
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products effectively, which could damage our reputation. If we do not establish adequate sales, marketing, and distribution capabilities, whether independently or in
collaboration with third parties, we will not be successful in commercializing our product candidates, may not be able to generate product revenue and may not
become profitable.
There are possible limitations on our use of net operating losses.
As of December 31, 2015, we had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $174.8 million to reduce any future federal and state taxable income
through 2035. Since we had net operating loss carryforwards as of December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, no excess tax benefits for the tax deductions related to
share-based awards were recognized in the statements of operations. The net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $174.8 million as of December 31,
2015 will begin to expire in the year 2030 if unused. The use of our net operating loss carryforwards may be restricted due to changes in our ownership, including
as a result of our public offerings in March 2015 and September 2015.
Under Section 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, substantial changes in our ownership may limit the amount of
net operating loss carryforwards, or NOL’s, and tax credit carryforwards that could be utilized annually in the future to offset taxable income.
For the year ended December 31, 2015 we performed a Section 382 ownership analysis and determined that an ownership change occurred (within the
meaning of Section 382 of the Code) in 2015. Based on the analysis performed, however, we do not believe that the Section 382 annual limitation will impact our
ability to utilize the tax attributes that existed as of the date of the ownership change in a material manner. If we experience an ownership change in the future, the
tax benefits related to the NOLs and tax credit carryforwards may be further limited or lost.
Security breaches, loss of data and other disruptions could compromise sensitive information related to our business, prevent us from accessing critical
information or expose us to liability, which could adversely affect our business and our reputation.
In the ordinary course of our business, we, our clinical research organizations and other third parties on which we rely collect and store sensitive data,
including legally protected patient health information, personally identifiable information about our employees, intellectual property, and proprietary business
information. We manage and maintain our applications and data utilizing on-site systems. These applications and data encompass a wide variety of business critical
information including research and development information and business and financial information.
The secure processing, storage, maintenance and transmission of this critical information is vital to our operations and business strategy, and we devote
significant resources to protecting such information. Although we take measures to protect sensitive information from unauthorized access or disclosure, our
information technology and infrastructure may be vulnerable to attacks by hackers, viruses, breaches, interruptions due to employee error, malfeasance or other
disruptions, lapses in compliance with privacy and security mandates, or damage from natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical
failures. Any such event could compromise our networks and the information stored there could be accessed by unauthorized parties, publicly disclosed, lost or
stolen. We have measures in place that are designed to detect and respond to such security incidents and breaches of privacy and security mandates. Any such
access, disclosure or other loss of information could result in legal claims or proceedings, liability under laws that protect the privacy of personal information, such
as the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, government enforcement actions and regulatory penalties. Unauthorized access, loss or
dissemination could also disrupt our operations, including our ability to conduct research and development activities, process and prepare company financial
information, manage various general and administrative aspects of our business and damage our reputation, any of which could adversely affect our business. For
example, the loss of clinical trial data from completed or
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ongoing or planned clinical trials could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. In
addition, there can be no assurance that we will promptly detect any such disruption or security breach, if at all. To the extent that any disruption or security breach
were to result in a loss of or damage to our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability and
the further development of our product candidates could be delayed.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
Our ability to compete may be undermined if we do not adequately protect our proprietary rights.
Our commercial success depends on obtaining and maintaining proprietary rights to our product candidates and technologies and their uses, as well as
successfully defending these rights against third-party challenges. We will only be able to protect our product candidates, proprietary technologies, and their uses
from unauthorized use by third parties to the extent that valid and enforceable patents, or effectively protected trade secrets, cover them. We have patent rights
under issued patents in many cases covering our ITI-007 and ITI-002 development programs. Nonetheless, the issued patents and patent applications covering our
primary technology programs remain subject to uncertainty and continuous monitoring and action by us due to a number of factors, including:
•

we may not have been the first to make the inventions covered by our pending patent applications or issued patents;

•

we may not have been the first to file patent applications for our product candidates or the technologies we rely upon;

•

others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies;

•

our disclosures in patent applications may not be sufficient to meet the statutory requirements for patentability;

•

any or all of our pending patent applications may not result in issued patents;

•

we may not seek or obtain patent protection in all countries that will eventually provide a significant business opportunity;

•

any patents issued to us or our collaborators may not provide a basis for commercially viable products, may not provide us with any competitive
advantages or may be challenged by third parties;

•

our proprietary technologies may not be patentable;

•

others may design around our patent claims to produce competitive products which fall outside of the scope of our patents;

•

others may identify prior art which could invalidate our patents; and

•

changes to patent laws may limit the exclusivity rights of patent holders.

Even if we have or obtain patents covering our product candidates or technologies, we may still be barred from making, using and selling our product
candidates or technologies because of the patent rights of others. Others have or may have filed, and in the future are likely to file, patent applications covering
compounds, assays, genes, gene products and therapeutic products that are similar or identical to ours. There are many issued U.S. and foreign patents relating to
genes, nucleic acids, polypeptides, chemical compounds or therapeutic products, and some of these may encompass reagents utilized in the identification of
candidate drug compounds or compounds that we desire to commercialize. Numerous U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent applications owned by
others exist in the area of central nervous system disorders and the other fields in which we are developing products. These could materially affect our ability to
develop our product candidates or sell our products. Because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be currently pending
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applications, unknown to us, that may later result in issued patents that our product candidates or technologies may infringe. These patent applications may have
priority over patent applications filed by us.
We regularly conduct searches to identify patents or patent applications that may prevent us from obtaining patent protection for our proprietary compounds
or that could limit the rights we have claimed in our patents and patent applications. Disputes may arise regarding the ownership or inventorship of our inventions.
It is difficult to determine how such disputes would be resolved. Others may challenge the validity of our patents. If our patents are found to be invalid, we will lose
the ability to exclude others from making, using or selling the inventions claimed in our patents.
Some of our academic institutional licensors, research collaborators and scientific advisors have rights to publish data and information to which we have
rights. If we cannot maintain the confidentiality of our technology and other confidential information in connection with our collaborations, then our ability to
receive patent protection or protect our proprietary information will be impaired. Additionally, any employee whose employment with us terminates, whether
voluntarily by the employee or by us in connection with restructurings or otherwise, may seek future employment with our competitors. Although each of our
employees is required to sign a confidentiality agreement with us at the time of hire, we cannot guarantee that the confidential nature of our proprietary information
will be maintained in the course of such future employment. In addition, technology that we may license-in may become important to some aspects of our business.
We generally will not control the patent prosecution, maintenance or enforcement of in-licensed technology.
Confidentiality agreements with employees and others may not adequately prevent disclosure of our trade secrets and other proprietary information and may
not adequately protect our intellectual property, which could limit our ability to compete.
Because we operate in the highly technical field of drug discovery and development of small molecule drugs, we rely in part on trade secret protection in
order to protect our proprietary technology and processes. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. We enter into confidentiality and intellectual property
assignment agreements with our corporate partners, employees, consultants, outside scientific collaborators, sponsored researchers, and other advisors. These
agreements generally require that the other party keep confidential and not disclose to third parties any confidential information developed by the party or made
known to the party by us during the course of the party’s relationship with us. These agreements also generally provide that inventions conceived by the party in the
course of rendering services to us will be our exclusive property. However, these agreements may not be honored and may not effectively assign intellectual
property rights to us. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally obtained and is using our trade secrets is difficult, expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is
unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United States may be less willing to protect trade secrets. The failure to obtain or maintain trade secret protection
could adversely affect our competitive position.
A dispute concerning the infringement or misappropriation of our proprietary rights or the proprietary rights of others could be time consuming and costly,
and an unfavorable outcome could harm our business.
There is significant litigation in our industry regarding patent and other intellectual property rights. While we are not currently subject to any pending
intellectual property litigation, and are not aware of any such threatened litigation, we may be exposed to future litigation by third parties based on claims that our
product candidates, technologies or activities infringe the intellectual property rights of others. If our drug development activities are found to infringe any such
patents, we may have to pay significant damages or seek licenses to such patents. We may need to resort to litigation to enforce a patent issued to us, protect our
trade secrets or determine the scope and validity of third-party proprietary rights. From time to time, we may hire scientific personnel formerly employed by other
companies involved in one or more areas similar to the activities conducted by us. Either we or these individuals may be subject to allegations of trade secret
misappropriation or other similar claims as a result of their prior affiliations. If we become involved in litigation, it could consume a substantial portion of our
managerial and financial resources, regardless of whether we win or lose. We also may not be able to afford the costs of litigation.
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The patent applications of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies involve highly complex legal and factual questions, which, if determined adversely to
us, could negatively impact our patent position.
The patent positions of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. The U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office’s, or USPTO’s, standards are uncertain and could change in the future. Consequently, the issuance and scope of patents cannot be
predicted with certainty. Patents, if issued, may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. U.S. patents and patent applications may also be subject to interference
proceedings, and U.S. patents may be subject to reexamination proceedings in the USPTO (and foreign patents may be subject to opposition or comparable
proceedings in the corresponding foreign patent office), which proceedings could result in either loss of the patent or denial of the patent application or loss or
reduction in the scope of one or more of the claims of the patent or patent application. Similarly, opposition or invalidity proceedings could result in loss of rights
or reduction in the scope of one or more claims of a patent in foreign jurisdictions. In addition, such interference, reexamination and opposition proceedings may be
costly. Accordingly, rights under any issued patents may not provide us with sufficient protection against competitive products or processes.
In addition, changes in or different interpretations of patent laws in the United States and foreign countries may permit others to use our discoveries or to
develop and commercialize our technology and products without providing any compensation to us or may limit the number of patents or claims we can obtain. In
particular, there have been proposals to shorten the exclusivity periods available under U.S. patent law that, if adopted, could substantially harm our business. The
product candidates that we are developing are protected by intellectual property rights, including patents and patent applications. If any of our product candidates
becomes a marketable product, we will rely on our exclusivity under patents to sell the compound and recoup our investments in the research and development of
the compound. If the exclusivity period for patents is shortened, then our ability to generate revenues without competition will be reduced and our business could
be materially adversely impacted. The laws of some countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as U.S. laws, and those countries may
lack adequate rules and procedures for defending our intellectual property rights. For example, some countries, including many in Europe, do not grant patent
claims directed to methods of treating humans and, in these countries, patent protection may not be available at all to protect our product candidates. In addition,
U.S. patent laws may change, which could prevent or limit us from filing patent applications or patent claims to protect our products and/or technologies or limit
the exclusivity periods that are available to patent holders. For example, the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, was recently signed into
law and includes a number of significant changes to U.S. patent law. These include changes to transition from a “first-to-invent” system to a “first-to-file” system
and to the way issued patents are challenged. These changes may favor larger and more established companies that have more resources to devote to patent
application filing and prosecution. The USPTO has been in the process of implementing regulations and procedures to administer the Leahy-Smith Act, and many
of the substantive changes to patent law associated with the Leahy-Smith Act may affect our ability to obtain, enforce or defend our patents. Accordingly, it is not
clear what, if any, impact the Leahy-Smith Act will ultimately have on the cost of prosecuting our patent applications, our ability to obtain patents based on our
discoveries and our ability to enforce or defend our issued patents.
If we fail to obtain and maintain patent protection and trade secret protection of our product candidates, proprietary technologies and their uses, we could
lose our competitive advantage and competition we face would increase, reducing our potential revenues and adversely affecting our ability to attain or maintain
profitability.

Risks Related to Our Industry
We will be subject to stringent regulation in connection with the marketing of any products derived from our product candidates, which could delay the
development and commercialization of our products.
The pharmaceutical industry is subject to stringent regulation by the FDA and other regulatory agencies in the United States and by comparable authorities in
other countries. Neither we nor our collaborators can market a pharmaceutical product in the United States until it has completed rigorous preclinical testing and
clinical trials
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and an extensive regulatory clearance process implemented by the FDA. Satisfaction of regulatory requirements typically takes many years, depends upon the type,
complexity and novelty of the product, and requires substantial resources. Even if regulatory approval is obtained, it may impose significant restrictions on the
indicated uses, conditions for use, labeling, advertising, promotion, and/or marketing of such products, and requirements for post-approval studies, including
additional research and development and clinical trials. These limitations may limit the size of the market for the product or result in the incurrence of additional
costs. Any delay or failure in obtaining required approvals could have a material adverse effect on our ability to generate revenues and continue our business.
Outside the United States, the ability to market a product is contingent upon receiving approval from the appropriate regulatory authorities. The requirements
governing the conduct of clinical trials, marketing authorization, pricing, and reimbursement vary widely from country to country. Only after the appropriate
regulatory authority is satisfied that adequate evidence of safety, quality, and efficacy has been presented will it grant a marketing authorization. Approval by the
FDA does not automatically lead to the approval by regulatory authorities outside the United States and, similarly, approval by regulatory authorities outside the
United States will not automatically lead to FDA approval.
Many of our competitors have greater resources and capital than us, putting us at a competitive disadvantage. If our competitors develop and market products
that are more effective than our product candidates, they may reduce or eliminate our commercial opportunity.
Competition in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries is intense and increasing. We face competition from pharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies, as well as numerous academic and research institutions and governmental agencies, both in the United States and abroad. Some of these competitors
have products or are pursuing the development of drugs that target the same diseases and conditions that are the focus of our drug development programs.
For example, our potential products for the treatment of schizophrenia would compete with, among other branded products, Abilify ® , marketed jointly by
Bristol-Myers Squibb and Otsuka Pharmaceutical, Fanapt ® , marketed by Novartis Pharmaceuticals, Seroquel XR ® , marketed by AstraZeneca, Invega ® ,
marketed by Janssen, VRAYLAR ® , marketed by Allergan, Rexulti ® marketed by Otsuka Pharmaceutical and Latuda ® , marketed by Sunovion. In addition, our
product candidates, if approved, will compete with, among other generic antipsychotic drugs, haloperidol, risperidone, quetiapine, olanzapine and clozapine.
Many of our competitors and their collaborators have significantly greater experience than we do in the following:
•

identifying and validating targets;

•

screening compounds against targets;

•

preclinical studies and clinical trials of potential pharmaceutical products; and

•

obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals.

In addition, many of our competitors and their collaborators have substantially greater capital and research and development resources, manufacturing, sales
and marketing capabilities, and production facilities. Smaller companies also may prove to be significant competitors, particularly through proprietary research
discoveries and collaboration arrangements with large pharmaceutical and established biotechnology companies. Many of our competitors have products that have
been approved or are in advanced development and may develop superior technologies or methods to identify and validate drug targets and to discover novel small
molecule drugs. Our competitors, either alone or with their collaborators, may succeed in developing drugs that are more effective, safer, more affordable, or more
easily administered than ours and may achieve patent protection or
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commercialize drugs sooner than us. Our competitors may also develop alternative therapies that could further limit the market for any drugs that we may develop.
Our failure to compete effectively could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Any claims relating to improper handling, storage, or disposal of biological, hazardous, and radioactive materials used in our business could be costly and
delay our research and development efforts.
Our research and development activities involve the controlled use of potentially harmful hazardous materials, including volatile solvents, biological
materials such as blood from patients that have the potential to transmit disease, chemicals that cause cancer, and various radioactive compounds. Our operations
also produce hazardous waste products. We face the risk of contamination or injury from the use, storage, handling or disposal of these materials. We are subject to
federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, storage, handling, and disposal of these materials and specified waste products. The cost of
compliance with these laws and regulations could be significant, and current or future environmental regulations may impair our research, development, or
production efforts. If one of our employees were accidentally injured from the use, storage, handling, or disposal of these materials, the medical costs related to his
or her treatment would be covered by our workers’ compensation insurance policy. However, we do not carry specific biological or hazardous waste insurance
coverage and our general liability insurance policy specifically excludes coverage for damages and fines arising from biological or hazardous waste exposure or
contamination. Accordingly, in the event of contamination or injury, we could be subject to criminal sanctions or fines or be held liable for damages, our operating
licenses could be revoked, and we could be required to suspend or modify our operations and our research and development efforts.
Consumers may sue us for product liability, which could result in substantial liabilities that exceed our available resources and damage our reputation.
Researching, developing, and commercializing drug products entail significant product liability risks. Liability claims may arise from our and our
collaborators’ use of products in clinical trials and the commercial sale of those products. Consumers may make these claims directly and our collaborators or
others selling these products may seek contribution from us if they receive claims from consumers. We have obtained limited product liability insurance coverage
for our clinical trials. Our product liability insurance coverage for clinical trials is currently limited to an aggregate of $30 million. As such, our insurance coverage
may not reimburse us or may not be sufficient to reimburse us for any expenses or losses we may suffer. Although we currently have product liability insurance
that covers our clinical trials, we will need to increase and expand this coverage as we commence larger scale trials and if our product candidates are approved for
commercial sale. This insurance may be prohibitively expensive or may not fully cover our potential liabilities. Inability to obtain sufficient insurance coverage at
an acceptable cost or otherwise to protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization of products that we or our
collaborators develop. Product liability claims could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. Our liability could exceed our total
assets if we do not prevail in a lawsuit from any injury caused by our drug products.

Risks Related to Owning Our Common Stock
Numerous factors could result in substantial volatility in the trading price of our stock.
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the price per share of our common stock on the NASDAQ Global Select Market has ranged from a high of
$60.79 to a low of $16.29. We have several stockholders, including affiliated stockholders, who hold substantial blocks of our stock. Sales of large numbers of
shares by any of our large stockholders could adversely affect our trading price. If stockholders holding shares of our common stock sell, indicate an intention to
sell, or if it is perceived that they will sell, substantial amounts of their common stock in the public market, the trading price of our common stock could decline.
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In addition, the trading price of our common stock may be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of
which are beyond our control. These factors include:
•

timing and announcement of regulatory developments and approvals or preliminary, interim or final results of clinical trials;

•

actual or anticipated quarterly variation in our results of operations or the results of our competitors;

•

announcements of medical innovations or new products by our competitors;

•

issuance of new or changed securities analysts’ reports or recommendations for our stock;

•

developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;

•

commencement of, or our involvement in, litigation;

•

market conditions in the biopharmaceutical industry;

•

any future sales of our common stock or other securities in connection with raising additional capital or otherwise;

•

any major change to the composition of our board of directors or management; and

•

general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of our markets.

The stock market in general, and market prices for the securities of biotechnology companies like ours in particular, have from time to time experienced
volatility that often has been unrelated to the operating performance of the underlying companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely
affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating performance. In several recent situations where the market price of a stock has been
volatile, holders of that stock have instituted securities class action litigation against the company that issued the stock. If any of our stockholders were to bring a
lawsuit against us, the defense and disposition of the lawsuit could be costly and divert the time and attention of our management and harm our operating results.
Raising additional capital may cause dilution to existing stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights.
We will need to satisfy our future cash needs through public or private sales of our equity securities, sales of debt securities, the incurrence of debt from
commercial lenders, strategic collaborations, licensing a portion or all of our product candidates and technology and, to a lesser extent, grant funding. To the extent
that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the ownership interest of our existing stockholders will be diluted, and the
terms may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our stockholders. Debt financing, if available, may involve agreements that
include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. If we raise
additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies or grant licenses
on terms that are not favorable to us.
The price of our common stock could be subject to volatility related or unrelated to our operations.
The market price of our common stock could fluctuate substantially due to a variety of factors, including market perception of our ability to meet our growth
projections and expectations, quarterly operating results of other companies in the same industry, trading volume in our common stock, changes in general
conditions in the economy and the financial markets or other developments affecting our business and the business of others in our industry. In addition, the stock
market itself is subject to extreme price and volume fluctuations. This volatility has had a significant effect on the market price of securities issued by many
companies for reasons related and unrelated to their operating performance and could have the same effect on our common stock.
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We will incur increased costs and demands upon management as a result of complying with the laws and regulations affecting public companies, which could
harm our operating results.
As a public company, we have incurred and will incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses, including costs associated with public company
reporting requirements. We also have incurred and will incur costs associated with current corporate governance requirements, including requirements under
Section 404 and other provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well as rules implemented by the SEC or the NASDAQ Global Select Market or any other stock
exchange or inter-dealer quotations system on which our common stock may be listed in the future. The expenses incurred by public companies for reporting and
corporate governance purposes have increased dramatically in recent years.
If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal controls, our ability to produce accurate and timely financial statements could be impaired, which could
harm our operating results, our ability to operate our business and investors’ views of us.
We are required to comply with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires public companies to maintain
effective internal control over financial reporting. In particular, we must perform system and process evaluation and testing of our internal control over financial
reporting to allow management to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. In addition, we are required to have our independent
registered public accounting firm attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting beginning with this annual report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2015. Ensuring that we have adequate internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place so that we can produce
accurate financial statements on a timely basis is a costly and time-consuming effort that will need to be evaluated frequently. We currently do not have an internal
audit group, and we may need to hire additional accounting and financial staff with appropriate public company experience and technical accounting knowledge. If
we fail to maintain the effectiveness of our internal controls or fail to comply in a timely manner with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or if we or our
independent registered public accounting firm identify deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses, this
could have a material adverse effect on our business. We could lose investor confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports, which could
have an adverse effect on the price of our common stock and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by NASDAQ, the SEC or other regulatory
authorities, which would require additional financial and management resources. In addition, if our efforts to comply with new or changed laws, regulations, and
standards differ from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to practice, regulatory authorities may initiate legal
proceedings against us and our business may be harmed.
Our ability to successfully implement our business plan and comply with Section 404 requires us to be able to prepare timely and accurate financial
statements. We expect that we will need to continue to improve existing, and implement new operational and financial systems, procedures and controls to manage
our business effectively. Any delay in the implementation of, or disruption in the transition to, new or enhanced systems, procedures or controls, may cause our
operations to suffer and we may be unable to conclude that our internal control over financial reporting is effective and to obtain an unqualified report on internal
controls from our independent registered public accounting firm as required under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. This, in turn, could have an adverse
impact on trading prices for our common stock, and could adversely affect our ability to access the capital markets.
We are no longer an emerging growth company and are not able to take advantage of the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth
companies.
We were an emerging growth company under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, or JOBS Act, until December 31, 2015. As an emerging growth
company, we took advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies. On December 31, 2015, we
became a large
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accelerated filer and the reduced disclosure obligations of emerging growth companies are no longer available to us. As a result, we will need to comply with the
independent auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act beginning with this annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2015, will be required to hold a say-on-pay vote and a say-on-frequency vote at our 2016 annual meeting of stockholders, and will no longer be
entitled to provide the reduced executive compensation disclosures permitted by emerging growth companies beginning with this annual report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2015 and the proxy statement for our 2016 annual meeting of stockholders. We expect that our transition from “emerging growth
company” to “large accelerated filer” will require additional attention from management and will result in increased costs to us, which could include higher legal
fees, accounting and related fees and fees associated with investor relations activities, among others.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish, or cease publishing, research or reports about us, our business or our market, or if they change their
recommendations regarding our stock adversely, our stock price and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock is and will be influenced by whether industry or securities analysts publish or continue to publish research and
reports about us, our business, our market or our competitors and, to the extent analysts do publish such reports, what they publish in those reports. We may not
continue to have or to obtain analyst coverage in the future. Any analysts that do cover us may make adverse recommendations regarding our stock, adversely
change their recommendations from time to time, and/or provide more favorable relative recommendations about our competitors. If any analyst who covers us or
may cover us in the future were to cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly publish reports on us, or if analysts fail to cover us or publish reports about us
at all, we could lose, or never gain, visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline.
Provisions of the Delaware law, our restated certificate of incorporation and our restated bylaws may delay or prevent a takeover which may not be in the best
interests of our stockholders.
The provisions of Delaware law and our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws could discourage or make it more difficult to accomplish a
proxy contest or other change in our management or the acquisition of control by a holder of a substantial amount of our voting stock. It is possible that these
provisions could make it more difficult to accomplish, or could deter, transactions that stockholders may otherwise consider to be in their best interests or in our
best interests. These provisions are intended to enhance the likelihood of continuity and stability in the composition of our board of directors and in the policies
formulated by the board of directors and to discourage certain types of transactions that may involve an actual or threatened change of our control. These provisions
are designed to reduce our vulnerability to an unsolicited acquisition proposal and to discourage certain tactics that may be used in proxy fights. Such provisions
also may have the effect of preventing changes in our management.
We do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
We currently intend to retain any future earnings for funding growth. We do not anticipate paying any dividends in the foreseeable future. As a result, you
should not rely on an investment in our securities if you require dividend income. Capital appreciation, if any, of our shares may be your sole source of gain for the
foreseeable future. Moreover, you may not be able to re-sell your shares at or above the price you paid for them.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This report includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act that relate to
future events or our future financial performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, levels of
activity,
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performance or achievements to differ materially from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forwardlooking statements. Words such as, but not limited to, “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,”
“targets,” “likely,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “continue,” and similar expressions or phrases, or the negative of those expressions or phrases, are intended
to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. Although we believe that we have a reasonable
basis for each forward-looking statement contained in this report, we caution you that these statements are based on our projections of the future that are subject to
known and unknown risks and uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, level of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied
by these forward-looking statements, to differ. The description of our Business set forth in Item 1, the Risk Factors set forth in this Item 1A and our Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations set forth in Item 7 as well as other sections in this report, discuss some of the factors that
could contribute to these differences. These forward-looking statements include, among other things, statements about:
•

the accuracy of our estimates regarding expenses, future revenues, uses of cash, capital requirements and the need for additional financing;

•

the initiation, cost, timing, progress and results of our development activities, preclinical studies and clinical trials;

•

the timing of and our ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approval of our existing product candidates, any product candidates that we may
develop, and any related restrictions, limitations, and/or warnings in the label of any approved product candidates;

•

our plans to research, develop and commercialize our current and future product candidates;

•

our collaborators’ election to pursue research, development and commercialization activities;

•

our ability to obtain future reimbursement and/or milestone payments from our collaborators;

•

our ability to attract collaborators with development, regulatory and commercialization expertise;

•

our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our product candidates;

•

our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates;

•

the size and growth of the markets for our product candidates and our ability to serve those markets;

•

the rate and degree of market acceptance of any future products;

•

the success of competing drugs that are or become available;

•

regulatory developments in the United States and other countries;

•

the performance of our third-party suppliers and manufacturers and our ability to obtain alternative sources of raw materials;

•

our ability to obtain additional financing;

•

our use of the proceeds from our securities offerings;

•

any restrictions on our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards;

•

our exposure to investment risk, interest rate risk and capital market risk;

•

our expectations regarding the additional management attention and costs that will be required as we transition from an “emerging growth company”
to a “large accelerated filer;” and

•

our ability to attract and retain key scientific or management personnel.

We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should not place undue reliance on
our forward-looking statements. Actual results or events could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations disclosed in the forward-looking
statements
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we make. We have included important cautionary statements in this report, particularly in the Risk Factors set forth in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10K, that we believe could cause actual results or events to differ materially from the forward-looking statements that we make. Our forward-looking statements do
not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures or investments we may make.
You should read this report and the documents that we reference in this report and have filed as exhibits to this report completely and with the understanding
that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect. The forward-looking statements contained in this report are made as of the date of
this report, and we do not assume, and specifically disclaim, any obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise.
Item 1B.

UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
Item 2.

PROPERTIES

Our headquarters are located at 430 East 29th Street, New York, New York 10016, where we occupy approximately 16,753 square feet of useable office and
laboratory space. The term of the lease, as amended, expires January 31, 2027. We also lease office space in Towson, Maryland on a month to month basis.
Item 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings.
Item 4.

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II
Item 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information
From December 20, 2013 through January 30, 2014, our common stock was quoted on the OTC Markets—OTCQB tier, or OTCQB, under the symbol
“ITCI.” On January 31, 2014, our common stock commenced trading on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “ITCI” and ceased being quoted on
the OTCQB. The high and low bid quotations per share of our common stock as reported by the OTCQB and the high and low sales prices per share of our
common stock as reported by NASDAQ for the applicable periods when the common stock was quoted on the OTCBB or listed on the NASDAQ Global Select
Market, as applicable, since the common stock commenced public trading are set forth below:
Year Ended December 31, 2015

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
Year Ended December 31, 2014

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

High

Low

$30.72
$35.45
$60.79
$59.96

$16.29
$19.86
$21.19
$37.75

High

Low

$21.26
$19.60
$19.77
$19.00

$10.00
$14.53
$12.67
$13.37

Stockholders
As of February 25, 2016, we had 43,202,709 outstanding shares of common stock and no outstanding shares of preferred stock. As of February 25, 2016,
there were approximately 125 holders of record of our outstanding shares of common stock.
Dividends
We have never paid cash dividends on any of our capital stock and we currently intend to retain our future earnings, if any, to fund the development and
growth of our business. We do not intend to pay cash dividends to holders of our common stock in the foreseeable future.
Unregistered Sales of Securities
Not applicable.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Not applicable.
Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities
On February 5, 2014, we completed our initial public offering of 7,063,300 shares of our common stock at a price of $17.50 per share for aggregate gross
proceeds of approximately $123.6 million. The offer and sale of all of the shares in the offering were registered under the Securities Act pursuant to a registration
statement on Form S-1, which was declared effective on January 30, 2014 (File No. 333-193313), and a registration statement on Form S-1 filed pursuant to Rule
462(b) promulgated under the Securities Act (File No. 333-193676). Leerink
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Partners LLC and Cowen and Company, LLC acted as joint book-running managers for the offering and as representatives of the underwriters. Guggenheim
Securities, LLC and JMP Securities LLC acted as co-managers for the offering. The offering commenced on January 24, 2014 and did not terminate until the sale
of all of the shares offered.
We received aggregate net proceeds from the offering of approximately $115.4 million, after deducting approximately $7.4 million of underwriting discounts
and commissions, and approximately $0.8 million of offering expenses payable by us. None of the underwriting discounts and commissions or other offering
expenses were incurred or paid to our directors or officers or their associates or to persons owning 10 percent or more of our common stock or to any of our
affiliates.
As of December 31, 2015, we have used the net proceeds of the offering primarily for working capital purposes, including recurring expenses and preclinical
and clinical trial costs related to the development of ITI-007.
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Item 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table sets forth consolidated financial data with respect to the Company for each of the five years in the period ended December 31, 2015. The
selected financial data for each of the five years in the period ended December 31, 2015 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements. The
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015, and the report thereon, are included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
The information below should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements (and notes thereon) and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” included in Item 7.
2015

Statements of Operations:
Revenues:
License and collaboration revenue
Grant revenue
Total Revenues
Costs and expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total costs and expenses
(Loss) Income from operations
Interest expense
Interest income
Income taxes
Net (Loss) Income
Net (Loss) Income per common share:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of common shares:
Basic
Diluted

$

2014

30,659
60,705
91,364

$

2013

547,546
29,755
577,301

$

2012

2,737,002
—
2,737,002

$

2011

3,117,991
—
3,117,991

$

87,718,074
18,187,286
105,905,360
(105,813,996)
—
1,022,455
(1,600)
$ (104,793,141)

21,226,345
10,337,679
31,564,024
(30,698,223)
(7,073)
303,936
(1,600)
$ (30,691,460)

23,027,578
5,976,276
29,003,854
(26,266,852)
(612,963)
29,617
(18,000)
$ (26,868,198)

15,486,476
4,034,925
19,521,401
(16,403,410)
(193,498)
39,002
(32,921)
$ (16,590,827)

$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

(2.91)
(2.91)
36,069,237
36,069,237

(1.07)
(1.07)
28,650,067
28,650,067

(1.56)
(1.56)

(2.96)
(2.96)

17,260,768
17,260,768

22,327,464
1,034,495
23,361,959
7,654,546
4,612,450
12,266,996
11,094,963
(15)
62,315
(64,834)
11,092,429
1.98
1.47

5,607,539
5,607,539

5,601,495
7,558,150

2012

2011

December 31,
2015

Balance Sheet data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Total liabilities
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity

$

47,159,303
484,103,528
7,860,617
(193,049,098)
476,242,911

2014

$
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61,325,044
131,111,769
10,557,064
(88,255,957)
120,554,705

2013

$ 35,150,924
38,449,312
6,834,037
(57,564,497)
31,615,275

$

15,645,528
19,823,680
2,839,595
(30,696,299)
16,984,085

$

13,693,215
23,594,725
5,702,422
(14,105,472)
17,892,303

Table of Contents

Item 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of the financial condition and results of our operations and our wholly-owned subsidiary should be read in conjunction with the
financial statements and the notes to those statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Some of the information contained in this
discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this report, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forwardlooking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should read the Risk Factors set forth in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion
of important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the
following discussion and analysis.
Overview
We are a biopharmaceutical company focused on the discovery and clinical development of innovative, small molecule drugs that address underserved
medical needs in neuropsychiatric and neurological disorders by targeting intracellular signaling mechanisms within the central nervous system, or CNS. ITI-007 is
our lead drug development candidate with mechanisms of action that, we believe, may represent an effective treatment across multiple therapeutic indications. In
our pre-clinical and clinical trials to date, ITI-007 combines potent serotonin 5-HT2A receptor antagonism, dopamine receptor phosphoprotein modulation, or
DPPM, glutamatergic modulation, and serotonin reuptake inhibition into a single drug candidate for the treatment of acute and residual schizophrenia and for the
treatment of bipolar disorder, including bipolar depression. At dopamine D2 receptors, ITI-007 has been demonstrated to have dual properties and to act as both a
pre-synaptic partial agonist and a post-synaptic antagonist. ITI-007 has also been demonstrated to have affinity for dopamine D1 receptors and indirectly stimulate
phosphorylation of glutamatergic NMDA GluN2B receptors in a mesolimbic specific manner. We believe that this regional selectivity in brain areas thought to
mediate the efficacy of antipsychotic drugs, together with serotonergic, glutamatergic, and dopaminergic interactions, may result in efficacy for a broad array of
symptoms associated with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder with improved psychosocial function. The serotonin reuptake inhibition potentially allows for
antidepressant activity in the treatment of schizoaffective disorder, other disorders with co-morbid depression, and/or as a stand-alone treatment for major
depressive disorder. We believe ITI-007 may also be useful for the treatment of other psychiatric and neurodegenerative disorders, particularly behavioral
disturbances associated with dementia, autism, and other CNS diseases. ITI-007 is in Phase 3 clinical development as a novel treatment for schizophrenia and
bipolar depression.
ITI-007 for the Treatment of Schizophrenia
In September 2015, we announced top-line clinical results from our first Phase 3 clinical trial of ITI-007 for the treatment of patients with schizophrenia.
This randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled Phase 3 clinical trial was conducted at 12 sites in the United States with 450 patients randomized (1:1:1) to
receive either 60 mg of ITI-007, 40 mg of ITI-007 or placebo once daily in the morning for 28 days. The pre-specified primary efficacy measure was change from
baseline versus placebo at study endpoint (4 weeks) on the centrally rated Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale, or PANSS, total score. In this trial, the once-daily
dose of 60 mg of ITI-007 met the primary endpoint and demonstrated antipsychotic efficacy with statistically significant superiority over placebo at week 4 (study
endpoint) with additional improvements observed in social function. Moreover, the 60 mg dose of ITI-007 showed significant antipsychotic efficacy as early as
week 1, which was maintained at every time point throughout the entire study. ITI-007 showed a dose-related improvement in symptoms of schizophrenia with the
40 mg dose approximating the trajectory of improvement seen with the 60 mg dose, but the effect with 40 mg did not reach statistical significance on the primary
endpoint. In addition, the 60 mg dose of ITI-007 met the key secondary endpoint of statistically significant improvement on the Clinical Global Impression Scale
for Severity of Illness, or CGI-S. The 40 mg dose of ITI-007 also demonstrated a statistically significant improvement versus placebo on the CGI-S, though not
formally tested against placebo as a key
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secondary endpoint since it did not separate on the primary endpoint. Consistent with previous studies, ITI-007 had a favorable safety and tolerability profile as
evidenced by motoric, metabolic, and cardiovascular characteristics similar to placebo, and no clinically significant changes in akathisia, extrapyramidal symptoms,
prolactin, body weight, glucose, insulin, or lipids.
In September 2015, we also announced top-line data from an open-label positron emission tomography, or PET, study of ITI-007 examining brain occupancy
of striatal D2 receptors. This study was conducted in patients diagnosed with schizophrenia who were otherwise healthy and stable with respect to their psychosis.
After washout from their previous antipsychotic medication for at least two weeks, PET was used to determine target occupancy in brain regions at baseline (drugfree) and again after two weeks of once daily ITI-007 oral administration. In this trial, the 60 mg dose of ITI-007 was associated with a mean of approximately 40%
striatal dopamine D 2 receptor occupancy. As predicted by preclinical and earlier clinical data, ITI-007 demonstrated antipsychotic effect at relatively low striatal D
2 receptor occupancy, lower than the occupancy range required by most other antipsychotic drugs. Unlike any existing schizophrenia treatment, this dopamine
receptor phosphoprotein modulator, or DPPM, acts as a pre-synaptic partial agonist and post-synaptic antagonist at D 2 receptors. We believe this mechanism likely
contributes to the favorable safety profile of ITI-007, with reduced risk for hyperprolactinemia, akathisia, extrapyramidal symptoms, and other motoric side effects.
The top-line results from our first Phase 3 clinical trial of ITI-007 confirm the earlier Phase 2 results that we announced in December 2013, in which ITI-007
exhibited antipsychotic efficacy in a randomized, double-blind, placebo and active controlled clinical trial in patients with an acutely exacerbated episode of
schizophrenia. In this Phase 2 trial, 335 patients were randomized to receive one of four treatments: 60 mg of ITI-007, 120 mg of ITI-007, 4 mg of risperidone
(active control) or placebo in a 1:1:1:1 ratio, orally once daily for 28 days. The primary endpoint for this clinical trial was change from baseline to Day 28 on the
PANSS total score. In this study, ITI-007 met the trial’s pre-specified primary endpoint, improving symptoms associated with schizophrenia as measured by a
statistically significant and clinically meaningful decrease in the PANSS total score. The trial also met key secondary outcome measures related to efficacy on
PANSS subscales and safety. We are also conducting a second Phase 3 clinical trial in schizophrenia that we initiated in the second quarter of 2015, with over 600
patients planned to be enrolled in the trial. In this trial, we are randomizing patients to two doses of ITI-007 (60 mg or 20 mg), risperidone (active control) or
placebo over a 6-week treatment duration, and the primary outcome measure is change from baseline to Day 42 on the PANSS total score. We expect patient
enrollment will be completed in the second quarter of 2016. Subject to timely enrollment, we anticipate top-line results from the second Phase 3 clinical trial will
be available in mid-2016.
In addition to our two Phase 3 clinical trials, we will need to complete other clinical and non-clinical trials and manufacturing and pre-commercialization
activities necessary to support the submission of a planned NDA for ITI-007 in schizophrenia, which we currently expect could occur in the first half of 2017.
ITI-007 for the Treatment of Depressive Episodes Associated with Bipolar Disorder (Bipolar Depression)
Our bipolar depression program consists of two Phase 3 multi-center, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trials: one to evaluate ITI-007 as
a monotherapy and the other to evaluate ITI-007 as an adjunctive therapy with lithium or valproate. In each trial, approximately 550 patients with a clinical
diagnosis of Bipolar I or Bipolar II disorder and who are experiencing a current major depressive episode will be randomized to receive one of three treatments: 60
mg ITI-007, 40 mg ITI-007, or placebo in a 1:1:1 ratio orally once daily for 6 weeks. In the ITI-007-401 trial, patients will receive ITI-007 or placebo as a
monotherapy. In the ITI-007-402 trial, patients will receive ITI-007 or placebo adjunctive to their existing mood stabilizer lithium or valproate. We initiated our
bipolar depression program in the third quarter of 2015.
The primary endpoint for both clinical trials is change from baseline at Day 42 on the Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale, orMADRS, total score
versus placebo. The MADRS is a well-validated 10-item checklist that measures the ability of a drug to reduce overall severity of depressive symptoms. Individual
items
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are rated by an expert clinician on a scale of 0 to 6 in which a score of 6 represents the most depressed evaluation for each item assessed. The total score ranges
from 0 to 60. Secondary endpoints include measures of social function and quality of life that may illustrate the differentiated clinical profile of ITI-007. Safety and
tolerability are also assessed in both clinical trials.
Other Indications for ITI-007
In the fourth quarter of 2014, we announced the top-line data from ITI-007-200, a Phase 1/2 clinical trial designed to evaluate the safety, tolerability and
pharmacokinetics of low doses of ITI-007 in healthy geriatric subjects and in patients with dementia, including Alzheimer’s disease. The completion of this study
marks an important milestone in our strategy to develop low doses of ITI-007 for the treatment of behavioral disturbances associated with dementia and related
disorders. The ITI-007-200 trial results to date indicate that ITI-007 is safe and well-tolerated across a range of low doses, has linear- and dose-related
pharmacokinetics and improves cognition in the elderly. The most frequent adverse event was mild sedation at the higher doses. We believe these results further
position ITI-007 as a development candidate for the treatment of behavioral disturbances in patients with dementia and other neuropsychiatric and neurological
conditions. We plan to initiate additional late phase clinical programs evaluating ITI-007 in patients with behavioral disturbances associated with dementia and
related disorders, including Alzheimer’s disease, in the first half of 2016.
We are also pursuing clinical development of ITI-007 for the treatment of additional CNS diseases and disorders. At the lowest doses, ITI-007 has been
demonstrated to act primarily as a potent 5-HT2A serotonin receptor antagonist. As the dose is increased, additional benefits are derived from the engagement of
additional drug targets, including modest dopamine receptor modulation and modest inhibition of serotonin transporters. We believe that combined interactions at
these receptors may provide additional benefits above and beyond selective 5-HT2A antagonism for treating agitation, aggression and sleep disturbances in
diseases that include dementia, Alzheimer’s disease, Huntington’s disease and autism spectrum disorders, while avoiding many of the side effects associated with
more robust dopamine receptor antagonism. As the dose of ITI-007 is further increased, leading to moderate dopamine receptor modulation, inhibition of serotonin
transporters, and indirect glutamate modulation, these actions complement the complete blockade of 5-HT2A serotonin receptors. At a dose of 60 mg, ITI-007 has
been shown effective in treating the symptoms associated with schizophrenia, and we believe this higher dose range will be useful for the treatment of bipolar
disorder, depressive disorders and other neuropsychiatric diseases.
Given the potential utility for ITI-007 and follow-on compounds to treat these additional indications, we may investigate, either on our own or with a partner,
agitation, aggression and sleep disturbances in additional diseases that include autism spectrum disorders; depressive disorder; intermittent explosive disorder; nonmotor symptoms and motor complications associated with Parkinson’s disease; and post-traumatic stress disorder. We hold exclusive, worldwide
commercialization rights to ITI-007 and a family of compounds from Bristol-Myers Squibb Company pursuant to an exclusive license.
Other Product Candidates
We have a second major program called ITI-002 that has yielded a portfolio of compounds that selectively inhibits the enzyme phosphodiesterase type 1, or
PDE1. We believe PDE1 helps regulate brain activity related to cognition, memory processes and movement/coordination. On February 25, 2011, we (through our
wholly owned operating subsidiary, ITI) and Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited, or Takeda, entered into a license and collaboration agreement, or the
Takeda License Agreement, under which we agreed to collaborate to research, develop and commercialize our proprietary compound ITI-214 and other selected
compounds that selectively inhibit PDE1 for use in the prevention and treatment of human diseases. On October 31, 2014, we entered into an agreement with
Takeda terminating the Takeda License Agreement, or the Termination Agreement, pursuant to which all rights granted under the Takeda License Agreement were
returned to us. On September 15, 2015, Takeda completed the transfer of the Investigational New Drug application, or IND, for ITI-214 to us. ITI-214 is
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the first compound in its class to successfully advance into Phase 1 clinical trials. We intend to pursue the development of our PDE program, including ITI-214 for
the treatment of several CNS and non-CNS conditions, which may include cognition in Parkinson’s disease, cognition in Alzheimer’s disease, cognition in
schizophrenia and in other non-CNS indications. Other compounds in the PDE portfolio are also being advanced for the treatment of various indications.
Our pipeline also includes pre-clinical programs that are focused on advancing drugs for the treatment of schizophrenia, Parkinson’s disease, Alzheimer’s
disease and other neuropsychiatric and neurodegenerative disorders. We are also investigating the development of treatments for disease modification of
neurodegenerative disorders and non-CNS diseases.
We have assembled a management team with significant industry experience to lead the discovery and development of our product candidates. We
complement our management team with a group of scientific and clinical advisors that includes recognized experts in the fields of schizophrenia and other CNS
disorders, including Nobel laureate, Dr. Paul Greengard, one of our co-founders.
Since inception, we have devoted substantially all of our efforts and resources to our research and development activities. We have incurred significant net
losses since inception. As of December 31, 2015, our accumulated deficit was $193.0 million. We expect to continue incurring substantial losses for the next
several years as we continue to develop our clinical and pre-clinical drug candidates and programs. Our operating expenses are comprised of research and
development expenses and general and administrative expenses.
Our corporate headquarters and laboratory are located in New York, New York.
Public Offerings in March 2015 and September 2015
On March 11, 2015, we completed a public offering of 5,411,481 shares of our common stock at a price of $24.00 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of
approximately $129.9 million, and net proceeds of approximately $121.8 million. On September 28, 2015, we completed a public offering of 7,935,000 shares of
our common stock at a price of $43.50 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $345.2 million and net proceeds of approximately $327.4 million.
Results of Operations
Revenues
The following discussion summarizes the key factors our management believes are necessary for an understanding of our financial statements.
We have not generated any revenue from product sales to date and we do not expect to generate revenues from product sales for at least the next several
years. Our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2015 have been from a government grant and the residual reimbursement of expenses from the terminated
Takeda License Agreement. Our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2014 have been from the terminated Takeda License Agreement and to a much lesser
extent from a government grant. We will not receive any further revenue under the Takeda License Agreement, which was terminated on October 31, 2014. We
have received and may continue to receive grants from U.S. government agencies and foundations.
We do not expect any revenues that we may generate in the next several years to be significant enough to fund our operations.
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Expenses
The process of researching and developing drugs for human use is lengthy, unpredictable and subject to many risks. We are unable with any certainty to
estimate either the costs or the timelines in which those costs will be incurred. The clinical development of ITI-007 for the treatment of schizophrenia and for the
treatment of bipolar depression consumes and will continue to consume a large portion of our current, as well as projected, resources. We intend to pursue other
disease indications that ITI-007 may address, but there are significant costs associated with pursuing FDA approval for those indications, which would include the
cost of additional clinical trials.
Our ITI-002 program has a compound, ITI-214, in Phase 1 development. We intend to pursue the development of our PDE program, including ITI-214 for
the treatment of several CNS and non-CNS conditions, which may include cognition in Parkinson’s disease, cognition in Alzheimer’s disease, cognition in
schizophrenia and in other non-CNS indications. Our other projects are still in the pre-clinical stages, and will require extensive funding not only to complete preclinical testing, but to enter into and complete clinical trials. Expenditures that we incur on these projects will be subject to availability of funding in addition to the
funding required for the advancement of ITI-007. Any failure or delay in the advancement of ITI-007 could require us to re-allocate resources from our other
projects to the advancement of ITI-007, which could have a significant material adverse impact on the advancement of these other projects and on our results of
operations. Our operating expenses are comprised of (i) research and development expenses and (ii) general and administrative expenses. Our research and
development costs are comprised of:
•

internal recurring costs, such as labor and fringe benefits, materials and supplies, facilities and maintenance costs; and

•

fees paid to external parties who provide us with contract services, such as pre-clinical testing, manufacturing and related testing, clinical trial
activities and license milestone payments.

General and administrative expenses are incurred in three major categories:
•

salaries and related benefit costs;

•

patent, legal and professional costs; and

•

office and facilities overhead.

We expect that research and development expenses will increase substantially as we proceed with our Phase 3 clinical trials for ITI-007 in patients with
exacerbated schizophrenia and our Phase 3 clinical trials for ITI-007 in patients with bipolar disorder. We also expect that our general and administrative costs will
increase substantially from prior periods primarily due to costs to perform pre-product commercialization activities and the increased costs associated with being a
public reporting entity, which could include adding additional personnel. We granted options to purchase 884,703 shares of our common stock in 2015 and have
granted options to purchase an additional 347,137 shares of our common stock in January 2016. We also granted restricted stock units for 5,272 and 78,806 shares
of our common stock in December 2015 and January 2016, respectively. We will recognize expense associated with these restricted stock units and options over the
next three years in both research and development expenses and general and administrative expenses. We expect this non-cash expense to be material and affect
quarter to quarter and year to date comparisons in the upcoming year. We expect to continue to grant stock options and other stock-based awards in the future,
which will increase our stock-based compensation expense in future periods.
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The following table sets forth our revenues, operating expenses, interest income (expense) and income taxes expenses for the years ended December 31,
2015, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):
For the Year Ended December 31,
2015
2014
2013

Revenues
Expenses
Research and Development
General and Administrative

$

91

87,718
18,187
105,905
1,022
(1)
$(104,793)

Interest Income (Expense)
Income Taxes
Net Loss

$

577

21,226
10,338
31,564
298
(2)
$ (30,691)

$ 2,737
23,028
5,976
29,004
(583)
(18)
$ (26,868)

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014
Revenues
Revenues decreased for the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2014 by approximately $485.9 thousand, or 84%,
primarily due to reimbursable costs paid to us by Takeda in 2014 under the Takeda License Agreement which terminated on October 31, 2014 with limited
reimbursements in 2015, offset by slightly higher revenue in 2015 from a government grant.
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses increased for the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2014 by approximately
$66.5 million, or 313%. This change is due primarily to an increase of approximately $47.1 million of costs associated with outside clinical testing and an increase
of approximately $14.9 million from nonclinical testing in the year ended December 31, 2015 over the year ended December 31, 2014. The vast majority of the
increase is due to costs associated with conducting our ITI-007 Phase 3 clinical program in schizophrenia. In late 2014, we began a clinical trial of ITI-007 in
patients with schizophrenia and incurred the majority of the costs for this trial in 2015. In addition, we started our second Phase 3 clinical trial of ITI-007 in patients
with schizophrenia in June 2015 and incurred significant costs for this trial in the second half of 2015. In December 2015, we commenced our Phase 3 clinical trials
in bipolar disorder and have incurred approximately $3.6 million in costs through December 31, 2015. In 2014, we did not incur significant costs related to clinical
trials. Amounts paid to external parties comprise a large portion of our research and development costs. In the year ended December 31, 2015, we incurred
approximately $76.8 million of costs to external parties who manufactured, tested and performed clinical trial related activities as compared to $16.3 million in the
year ended December 31, 2014. Of these external costs, approximately $76.1 million in the year ended December 30, 2015 and $16.0 million in the year ended
December 31, 2014 were for ITI-007 related projects. The remaining amounts for each of these periods were spent on other projects. Internal costs are comprised
primarily of labor, fringe benefits, materials, supplies and facilities and maintenance costs and were approximately $10.9 million and $5.0 million for the years
ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The increase in these internal costs is due primarily to hiring additional research and development employees in
2015 in addition to increased stock based compensation expense.
As development of ITI-007 for the treatment of schizophrenia progresses, we anticipate costs for that program to increase considerably in the next several
years as we continue to conduct Phase 3 and other clinical trials. We are also required to complete non-clinical testing to obtain FDA approval and manufacture
material needed for clinical trial use, which includes non-clinical testing of the drug product and the creation of an inventory of drug product in anticipation of
possible FDA approval. In addition we plan to spend increasing amounts to further our development of ITI-007 for other indications, including but not limited to,
the treatment of
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depressive episodes associated with bipolar disorder (bipolar depression), for treatment of behavioral disturbances associated with dementia and related disorders,
and for treating agitation, aggression and sleep disturbances in diseases that include dementia, Alzheimer’s disease, Huntington’s disease and autism spectrum
disorders, among other indications.
As of December 31, 2015, we employed 24 full time personnel in our research and development group as compared to 16 full time personnel at
December 31, 2014. We expect to hire additional staff as we increase our development efforts and grow our business in the upcoming years.
We currently have several projects, in addition to ITI-007, that are in the research and development stages, including in the areas of cognitive dysfunction
and the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases, including Alzheimer’s disease, among others. We have used internal resources and incurred expenses not only in
relation to the development of ITI-007, but also in connection with these additional projects as well. We have not, however, reported these costs on a project by
project basis, as these costs are broadly spread among these projects. The external costs for these projects have been minimal and are reflected in the amounts
discussed in this section “—Research and Development Expenses.”
During previous years, we also incurred costs that were both reimbursable and non-reimbursable under the Takeda License Agreement. For the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, we incurred $30,700 and $14,000, respectively, of costs that were billable to Takeda pursuant to ongoing obligations under the
termination agreement. We do not expect to incur material costs going forward under this agreement.
The research and development process necessary to develop a pharmaceutical product for commercialization is subject to extensive regulation by numerous
governmental authorities in the United States and other countries. This process typically takes years to complete and requires the expenditure of substantial
resources. The steps required before a drug may be marketed in the United States generally include the following:
•

completion of extensive pre-clinical laboratory tests, animal studies, and formulation studies in accordance with the FDA’s Good Laboratory Practice,
or GLP, regulations;

•

submission to the FDA of an Investigational New Drug application, or IND, for human clinical testing, which must become effective before human
clinical trials may begin;

•

performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the drug for each proposed indication;

•

submission to the FDA of a New Drug Application, or NDA, after completion of all clinical trials;

•

satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facility or facilities at which the active pharmaceutical ingredient, or
API, and finished drug product are produced and tested to assess compliance with current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMPs;

•

satisfactory completion of FDA inspections of clinical trial sites to assure that data supporting the safety and effectiveness of product candidates has
been generated in compliance with Good Clinical Practices; and

•

FDA review and approval of the NDA prior to any commercial marketing or sale of the drug in the United States.

The successful development of our product candidates and the approval process requires substantial time, effort and financial resources, and is uncertain and
subject to a number of risks. We cannot be certain that any of our product candidates will prove to be safe and effective, will meet all of the applicable regulatory
requirements needed to receive and maintain marketing approval, or will be granted marketing approval on a timely basis, if at all. Data from pre-clinical studies
and clinical trials are susceptible to varying interpretations that could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval or could result in label warnings related to or
recalls of approved products.
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We, the FDA, or other regulatory authorities may suspend clinical trials at any time if we or they believe that the subjects participating in such trials are being
exposed to unacceptable risks or if such regulatory agencies find deficiencies in the conduct of the trials or other problems with our product candidates. Other risks
associated with our product candidates are described in the section entitled “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses increased for the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2014 by approximately
$7.8 million, or 76%, primarily due to approximately $4.1 million of higher stock option expense and to a much lesser extent to increased bonus and labor costs and
state and local franchise and capital taxes. Salaries, bonuses and related benefit costs for our executive, finance and administrative functions for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014 were approximately 59% and 49%, respectively, of our total general and administrative costs. Our other general and administrative
expenses include patent costs, legal, accounting and other professional fees and, to a lesser extent, facilities and general office-related overhead.
We expect general and administrative costs to increase significantly as we hire additional staff, expand our operations, including initial preparation for
potential commercial activities, and incur additional costs associated with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 in addition to being a
public company and complying with exchange listing and SEC requirements, including the additional complexities and related costs of our transition at the end of
2015 from an “emerging growth company” to a “large accelerated filer” under the rules of the SEC. These increases could include higher legal fees, accounting
fees and fees associated with investor relations activities, among others.
Interest Income
Interest income has increased to approximately $1.0 million from $304,000 for the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2014. This increase is primarily a result of higher than average cash balances in 2015 as compared to 2014 which is due to the net offering proceeds
of $121.8 million that we received in March 2015 and $327.4 million that we received in September 2015.
Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013
Revenues
Revenue decreased for the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 by approximately $2.2 million, or 79%, due
primarily to the recognition in 2013 of previously deferred revenue relating to the Takeda License Agreement and lower reimbursable costs payable to us by
Takeda in 2014 under the Takeda License Agreement, offset to a much lesser extent by revenue from a government grant in 2014.
Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses decreased for the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 by approximately
$1.8 million, or 8%. This decrease is due primarily to costs associated with outside clinical testing for our ITI-007 Phase 2 clinical trial that was completed in late
2013 as compared to costs incurred in conducting our ITI-007 Phase 3 clinical trial, which began in the fourth quarter of 2014. Partially offsetting this decrease
were expenses of approximately $6.6 million incurred in 2014 as compared to $1.9 million in 2013 related to the manufacturing and other clinical and non-clinical
testing of our ITI-007 product candidate and expenses of approximately $1.9 million related to our ITI-007-200 Phase 1/2 clinical trial in healthy geriatric and
dementia patients incurred only in 2014. In addition, stock option expense increased by $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 due primarily to stock
options granted in 2014.
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The research and development expenses incurred for amounts payable to external parties comprised a significant portion of our research and development
expenses during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013. We incurred expenses of approximately $14.8 million and $18.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, for amounts payable to external parties who manufactured, tested and performed clinical trial activities for all of our
projects. We spent approximately $14.4 million and $18.3 million on external costs for the development of ITI-007 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and
2013, respectively. During the same periods, our internal research and development expenses for all projects were approximately $5.0 million and $3.0 million,
respectively. The clinical development work related to ITI-007 requires the largest portion of our resources and, consequently, comprises the majority of our
spending. For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, we incurred total expenses of $18.8 million and $20.8 million, respectively, for all ITI-007 related
projects and $2.4 million and $2.2 million, respectively, for all of our other projects. Total research and development expenses were approximately $21.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to $23.0 million for 2013.
During 2014 and in previous years, we also incurred costs that were both reimbursable and non-reimbursable under the Takeda License Agreement. For the
year ended December 31, 2014, we incurred approximately $14,000 on direct costs that were billable to Takeda as compared to $97,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2013.
General and Administrative Expenses
General and administrative expenses increased for the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 by approximately
$4.4 million, or 73%. This increase was primarily due to increased stock option expense of $1.7 million in 2014 related to options granted in 2014, and increased
labor and related benefit costs of approximately $0.6 million, with the remainder comprised of higher professional fees, directors’ and officers’ insurance costs, and
board of directors compensation fees, which are due to the activities associated with being a public company. We expect these costs to increase significantly as we
expand our operations, including hiring of additional personnel, continue to be subject to the reporting requirements of being a public company and issue additional
equity incentive awards.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Through December 31, 2015, we provided funds for our operations by obtaining approximately $716.3 million of cash primarily through public and private
offerings of our common stock and other securities, grants from government agencies and foundations and payments received under the terminated Takeda License
Agreement. We do not believe that grant revenue will be a significant source of funding in the near future, and Takeda has limited ongoing funding obligations
following the termination of the Takeda License Agreement on October 31, 2014. On March 11, 2015, we completed a public offering of 5,411,481 shares of our
common stock for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $129.9 million and net proceeds of approximately $121.8 million. On September 28, 2015, we
completed an additional public offering of 7,935,000 shares of our common stock for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $345.2 million and net proceeds
of approximately $327.4 million.
As of December 31, 2015, we had a total of approximately $475.2 million in cash and cash equivalents and available-for-sale investment securities, and
approximately $6.3 million of short-term liabilities consisting entirely of liabilities from operations. Excluding the increase in net cash of approximately $121.8
million and $327.4 million from the public offerings in March 2015 and September 2015, respectively, we spent approximately $103.1 million in cash for
operations and equipment and we reduced working capital by approximately $92.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. This use of cash was primarily
for conducting clinical trials and non-clinical testing, including manufacturing related activities and funding recurring operating expenses.
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For the year 2016, we expect to spend between approximately $130 million and $160 million. We expect these expenditures to be due primarily to the
development of ITI-007 in patients with schizophrenia, behavioral disturbances in dementia, bipolar disorder and depressive disorders, our ITI-007 long acting
injectable development program through pre-clinical and early clinical development, research and preclinical development of our other product candidates, the
continuation of manufacturing activities in connection with the development of ITI-007, recurring expenses and costs to produce, develop and validate materials to
be used in clinical and non-clinical studies related to ITI-007, and expenses associated with our other development programs and general operations. We expect that
cash expenditures will continue to increase after 2016 as we further expand the ITI-007 clinical stage programs, the ITI-007 long acting injectable development
program through pre-clinical and early clinical development; research and preclinical development of our other product candidates; the continuation of
manufacturing, pre-commercial activities in connection with the development of ITI-007 and the early stage pre-commercial launch activities for ITI-007. We
believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents and investments will be sufficient to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements through
the end of 2018.
We will require significant additional financing in the future to continue to fund our operations. We believe that we have the funding in place to complete the
additional clinical and non-clinical trials, manufacturing and pre-commercialization activities needed for potential regulatory approval and commercialization of
ITI-007 in patients with schizophrenia. With the remaining proceeds from our public offerings in March 2015 and September 2015, we believe that we have the
funds to complete our proposed clinical trials of ITI-007 in bipolar disorder as a monotherapy and as an adjunctive therapy with lithium or valproate. We will also
be funding clinical trials of ITI-007 for the treatment of behavioral disturbances in dementia; preclinical and clinical development of ITI-007 long acting injectable
development program; additional clinical trials of ITI-007; continued clinical development of our PDE program, including ITI-214; research and preclinical
development of our other product candidates; and the continuation of manufacturing activities in connection with the development of ITI-007. We anticipate
requiring additional funds to obtain regulatory approval for ITI-007 in patients with dementia, including Alzheimer’s disease, for further development of ITI-007 in
patients with bipolar disorder, depressive disorders and other indications, and for development of our other product candidates. We have incurred losses in every
year since inception with the exception of 2011, when we received an up-front fee and a milestone payment related to the Takeda License Agreement. These losses
have resulted in significant cash used in operations. For the year ended December 31, 2015, we used net cash in operating activities and purchases of equipment of
approximately $103.1 million and expect to use additional cash of between approximately $130 and $160 million through the end of 2016. While we have several
research and development programs underway, the ITI-007 program has advanced the furthest and will continue to consume increasing amounts of cash for
conducting clinical trials and the testing and manufacturing of product material. As we continue to conduct the activities necessary to pursue FDA approval of ITI007 and our other product candidates, we expect the amount of cash needed to fund operations to increase significantly over the next several years.
With the termination of the Takeda License Agreement in October 2014, we will not receive milestone payments and only limited expense reimbursements,
including patent filing costs, from Takeda and will be responsible for the costs of developing ITI-214. On September 15, 2015, Takeda completed the transfer of
the IND for ITI-214 to us. We intend to pursue the development of our PDE1 program, including ITI-214 for the treatment of several CNS and non-CNS
conditions, but we do not anticipate a significant increase in our operating expenses related to our PDE development programs through at least the first half of
2016.
We seek to balance the level of cash, cash equivalents and investments on hand with our projected needs and to allow us to withstand periods of uncertainty
relative to the availability of funding on favorable terms. Until we can generate significant revenues from operations, we will need to satisfy our future cash needs
through public or private sales of our equity securities, sales of debt securities, the incurrence of debt from commercial lenders, strategic collaborations, licensing a
portion or all of our product candidates and technology and, to a lesser extent, grant funding.
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We cannot be sure that future funding will be available to us when we need it on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. We sell securities and incur debt
when the terms of such transactions are deemed favorable to us and as necessary to fund our current and projected cash needs. The amount of funding we raise
through sales of our common stock or other securities depends on many factors, including, but not limited to, the status and progress of our product development
programs, projected cash needs, availability of funding from other sources, our stock price and the status of the capital markets. Due to the volatile nature of the
financial markets, equity and debt financing may be difficult to obtain. In addition, any unfavorable development or delay in the progress of our ITI-007 program
could have a material adverse impact on our ability to raise additional capital.
To the extent that we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the ownership interest of our existing stockholders will
be diluted, and the terms may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our stockholders. Debt financing, if available, may involve
agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring debt, making capital expenditures or declaring
dividends. If we raise additional funds through government or other third-party funding, marketing and distribution arrangements or other collaborations, strategic
alliances or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or
product candidates or to grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us.
If adequate funds are not available to us on a timely basis, we may be required to: (1) delay, limit, reduce or terminate pre-clinical studies, clinical trials or
other clinical development activities for one or more of our product candidates, including our lead product candidate ITI-007, ITI-214, and our other pre-clinical
stage product candidates; (2) delay, limit, reduce or terminate our discovery research or pre-clinical development activities; or (3) enter into licenses or other
arrangements with third parties on terms that may be unfavorable to us or sell, license or relinquish rights to develop or commercialize our product candidates,
technologies or intellectual property at an earlier stage of development and on less favorable terms than we would otherwise agree.
Our cash is maintained in checking accounts, money market accounts, money market mutual funds, U.S. government agency securities, certificates of
deposit, commercial paper, corporate notes and corporate bonds at major financial institutions. Due to the current low interest rates available for these instruments,
we are earning limited interest income. We do not expect interest income to be a significant source of funding over the next several quarters. Our investment
portfolio has not been adversely impacted by the problems in the credit markets that have existed over the last several years, but there can be no assurance that our
investment portfolio will not be adversely affected in the future.
In 2014, we entered into a long-term lease, which was amended in December 2015, for 16,753 square feet of useable laboratory and office space located at
430 East 29th Street, New York, New York 10016. Due to the amortization of total lease payments, we have recognized $1.6 million of deferred rent in the year
ended December 31, 2015. The deferred rent balance will incrementally increase over approximately the next year. We occupied these facilities as our headquarters
in March 2015, replacing our previous laboratories and offices. The lease, as amended, has a term of 12 years. We expect that our facility related costs will increase
moderately as a result of leasing this facility.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments
Total contractual obligations as of December 31, 2015 are summarized in the following table (in thousands):

Total

Operating Lease Obligations

$16,256

Payments Due By Period
Less than
1-3
4-5
1 Year
Years
Years

More than
5 Years

$

$

0

$4,257

$3,138

8,861

The table of Contractual Obligations and Commitments does not reflect that, under the License Agreement with BMS, we may be obligated to make future
milestone payments to BMS totaling $12 million; to make other future milestone payments to BMS for each licensed product of up to an aggregate of
approximately $14.75 million; to make tiered single digit percentage royalty payments on sales of licensed products; and to pay BMS a percentage of non-royalty
payments made in consideration of any sublicense.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the balance sheet and reported amounts of revenues and
expenses for the periods presented. Judgments must also be made about the disclosure of contingent liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience and
on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. These estimates and assumptions form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Management makes estimates and exercises judgment in revenue
recognition and stock-based compensation. Actual results may differ from those estimates and under different assumptions or conditions.
We believe that the following critical accounting policies affect management’s more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our
financial statements:
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized when all terms and conditions of the agreements have been met, including that persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery
has occurred or services have been rendered, the price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. We are reimbursed for certain costs incurred
on specified research projects under the terms and conditions of grants, collaboration agreements, and awards. We record the amount of reimbursement as revenues
on a gross basis in accordance with ASC Topic 605-45, Revenue Recognition/Principal Agent Considerations . We are the primary obligor with respect to
purchasing goods and services from third-party suppliers, are obligated to compensate the service provider for the work performed, and have discretion in selecting
the supplier. Provisions for estimated losses on research grant projects and any other contracts are made in the period such losses are determined.
We have entered into arrangements involving the delivery of more than one element. Each required deliverable is evaluated to determine whether it qualifies
as a separate unit of accounting. For us, this determination is generally based on whether the deliverable has “stand-alone value” to the customer. We adopted this
accounting standard on a prospective basis for all Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements, or MDRAs, entered into on or after January 1, 2011, and for any
MDRAs that were entered into prior to January 1, 2011, but materially modified on or after that date.
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The adoption of this accounting standard did not have a material impact on our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013,
or on our financial positions as of those dates.
We have adopted ASC Topic 605-28, Milestone Method . Under this guidance, we recognize revenue contingent upon the achievement of a substantive
milestone in its entirety in the period the milestone is achieved. Substantive milestone payments are recognized upon achievement of the milestone only if all of the
following conditions are met:
•

the milestone payments are non-refundable;

•

achievement of the milestone involves a degree of risk and was not reasonably assured at the inception of the arrangement;

•

substantive effort on our part is involved in achieving the milestone;

•

the amount of the milestone payment is reasonable in relation to the effort expended or the risk associated with achievement of the milestone; and

•

a reasonable amount of time passes between the up-front license payment and the first milestone payment, as well as between each subsequent
milestone payment.

Determination as to whether a payment meets the aforementioned conditions involves management’s judgment. If any of these conditions are not met, the
resulting payment would not be considered a substantive milestone, and therefore, the resulting payment would be considered part of the consideration for the
single unit of accounting and be recognized as revenue as such performance obligations are performed under either the proportional performance or straight-line
methods, as applicable. In addition, the determination that one such payment was not a substantive milestone could prevent us from concluding that subsequent
milestone payments were substantive milestones and, as a result, any additional milestone payments could also be considered part of the consideration for the single
unit of accounting and would be recognized as revenue as such performance obligations are performed under either the proportional performance or straight-line
methods, as applicable.
Research and Development
Except for payments made in advance of services, the Company expenses its research and development costs as incurred. For payments made in advance, the
Company recognizes research and development expense as the services are rendered. Research and development costs primarily consist of salaries and related
expenses for personnel and resources and the costs of clinical trials. Other research and development expenses include preclinical analytical testing, outside
services, providers, materials and consulting fees.
Costs for certain development activities, such as clinical trials, are recognized based on an evaluation of the progress to completion of specific tasks using
data such as subject enrollment, clinical site activations or information provided to the Company by its vendors with respect to their actual costs incurred. Payments
for these activities are based on the terms of the individual arrangements, which may differ from the pattern of costs incurred, and are reflected in the financial
statements as prepaid or accrued research and development expense, as the case may be.
As part of the process of preparing its financial statements, the Company is required to estimate its expenses resulting from its obligations under contracts
with vendors, clinical research organizations and consultants and under clinical site agreements in connection with conducting clinical trials. The financial terms of
these contracts are subject to negotiations, which vary from contract to contract and may result in payment flows that do not match the periods over which materials
or services are provided under such contracts. The Company’s objective is to reflect the appropriate trial expenses in its financial statements by matching those
expenses with the period in which services are performed and efforts are expended. The Company accounts for these expenses according to the progress of the trial
as measured by subject progression and the timing of various aspects of the trial. The
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Company determines accrual estimates through financial models taking into account discussion with applicable personnel and outside service providers as to the
progress or state of consummation of trials, or the services completed. During the course of a clinical trial, the Company adjusts its clinical expense recognition if
actual results differ from its estimates. The Company makes estimates of its accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date based on the facts and circumstances
known to it at that time. The Company’s clinical trial accruals are dependent upon the timely and accurate reporting of contract research organizations and other
third-party vendors. Although the Company does not expect its estimates to be materially different from amounts actually incurred, its understanding of the status
and timing of services performed relative to the actual status and timing of services performed may vary and may result in it reporting amounts that are too high or
too low for any particular period.
Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based payments in the form of options are accounted for in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation .
The fair value of share-based payments is estimated, on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model, or the Black-Scholes model. The
resulting fair value is recognized ratably over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the option. Restricted stock units are valued at
the fair market value on the date of grant as determined by the closing stock price.
For all awards granted with time-based vesting conditions, expense is amortized using the straight-line attribution method. For awards that contain a
performance-based vesting condition, expense is amortized using the accelerated attribution method. Share-based compensation expense recognized in the
statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 is based on share-based awards ultimately expected to vest, and this amount has
therefore been reduced for estimated forfeitures. ASC Topic 718 requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent
periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Pre-vesting forfeitures for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 were estimated based
on our historical experience and have not been material.
We utilize the Black-Scholes model for estimating fair value of our stock options granted. Option valuation models, including the Black-Scholes model,
require the input of subjective assumptions, and changes in the assumptions used can materially affect the grant date fair value of an award. These assumptions
include the risk-free rate of interest, expected dividend yield, expected volatility and the expected life of the award. Restricted stock units are valued at the fair
market value on the date of grant as determined by the closing stock price.
Expected volatility rates are based on historical volatility of the common stock of comparable publicly traded entities and other factors due to the limited
historical information about our common stock. The expected life of stock options is the period of time for which the stock options are expected to be outstanding.
Given the limited historical exercise data, the expected life is determined using the “simplified method,” which is defined as the midpoint between the vesting date
and the end of the contractual term.
The risk-free interest rates are based on the U.S. Treasury yield for a period consistent with the expected term of the option in effect at the time of the grant.
We have not paid dividends to our stockholders since our inception and do not plan to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Therefore, we have assumed an
expected dividend rate of zero.
Prior to January 1, 2014, given that there was no active market for our common stock, the exercise price of the stock options on the date of grant was
determined and approved by the board of directors using several factors, including progress and milestones achieved in our business development and performance,
the price per share of our convertible preferred stock offerings and general industry and economic trends. In establishing the estimated fair value of our common
stock, we considered the guidance set forth in American Institute of Certified
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Public Accountants Practice Guide, “ Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation .” For stock options granted in 2014 and
2015, the exercise price was determined by using the closing market price of our common stock on the date of grant.
Under ASC Topic 718, the cumulative amount of compensation cost recognized for instruments classified as equity that ordinarily would result in a future
tax deduction under existing tax law shall be considered to be a deductible difference in applying ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes . The deductible temporary
difference is based on the compensation cost recognized for financial reporting purposes. However, these provisions currently do not impact us, as all the deferred
tax assets have a full valuation allowance.
Since we had net operating loss carryforwards as of December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, no excess tax benefits for the tax deductions related to share-based
awards were recognized in the statements of operations.
Equity instruments issued to non-employees are accounted for under the provisions of ASC Topic 718 and ASC Topic 505-50, Equity/Equity-Based
Payments to Non-Employees . Accordingly, the estimated fair value of the equity instrument is recorded on the earlier of the performance commitment date or the
date the services required are completed and are marked to market during the service period.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
We review new accounting standards to determine the expected financial impact, if any, that the adoption of each such standard will have.
In November 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred
Taxes. Current GAAP requires an entity to separate deferred income tax liabilities and assets into current and noncurrent amounts in a classified statement of
financial position. To simplify the presentation of deferred income taxes, ASU 2015-17 requires that deferred tax liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in
a classified statement of financial position. The current requirement that deferred tax liabilities and assets of a tax-paying component of an entity be offset and
presented as a single amount is not affected by the amendments in this Update. The amendments in this Update are effective for financial statements issued for
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods. Earlier application is permitted for all entities as of the
beginning of an interim or annual reporting period. We have elected to adopt this update as of the fourth quarter of 2015, retrospectively. The adoption of this
standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09 (ASU 2014-09), Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. ASU 2014-09 will eliminate transaction-specific and industry-specific revenue recognition guidance under current GAAP and replace it
with a principle-based approach for determining revenue recognition. ASU 2014-09 will require that companies recognize revenue based on the value of transferred
goods or services as they occur in the contract. ASU 2014-09 also will require additional disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue
and cash flows arising from customer contracts, including significant judgments and changes in judgments and assets recognized from costs incurred to obtain or
fulfill a contract. In July 2015, the FASB decided to defer the effective date of the standard from January 1, 2017, to January 1, 2018, with an option that permits
companies to adopt the standard as early as the original effective date. Early application prior to the original effective date is not permitted. The standard permits
the use of either the retrospective or cumulative effect transition method. Presently, we are assessing what effect the adoption of this standard will have on our
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
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Item 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate Sensitivity. As of December 31, 2015, we had cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of $475.2 million consisting of cash deposited
in a highly rated financial institution in the United States and in a short-term U.S. Treasury money market fund, as well as high-grade corporate bonds and
commercial paper. The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve our capital for the purpose of funding operations and we do not enter into
investments for trading or speculative purposes. We believe that we do not have material exposure to high-risk investments such as mortgage-backed securities,
auction rate securities or other special investment vehicles within our money-market fund investments. We believe that we do not have any material exposure to
changes in fair value as a result of changes in interest rates, although the recent rise in interest rates has resulted in our unrealized loss on investments for the year
ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 totaling approximately $0.5 million and $0.1 million, respectively. Since we plan on holding those investments to maturity, no
recognition of impairment is required. Declines in interest rates, however, would reduce future investment income.
Capital Market Risk. We currently have no product revenues and depend on funds raised through other sources. One possible source of funding is through
further equity offerings. Our ability to raise funds in this manner depends upon capital market forces affecting our stock price.
Item 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

INTRA-CELLULAR THERAPIES, INC.
Index to Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules

Number

Independent Auditors’ Report
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2015 and 2014
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the Years Ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Item 9.

F-1
F-2
F-3
F-4
F-5
F-6
F-7

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
Item 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, after evaluating the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of the end of the period covered by this Form 10-K, have concluded that, based on such evaluation, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.
71

Table of Contents

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial
reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act, as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s principal
executive and principal financial officers and effected by the Company’s board of directors, management and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:
•

pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
Company;

•

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the Company; and

•

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that
could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework (2013).
Based on our assessment, management believes that, as of December 31, 2015, the company’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based on
those criteria .
Our independent registered public accounting firm has issued an audit report on our assessment of our internal control over financial reporting. This report
appears further below in this Item 9A.
Changes in Internal Controls
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting, identified in connection with the evaluation of such internal control that occurred
during the fourth quarter of our last fiscal year that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting other than our continued improvement of documentation and other existing internal controls. This improvement included but was not limited to hiring
additional personnel, hiring an independent outside firm to aid in the controls testing and reassigning tasks to allow for greater segregation of duties.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
We have audited Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the
COSO criteria). Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. and subsidiaries’ management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
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reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2015, based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets
of Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015 and our report dated February 25, 2016 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Baltimore, MD
February 25, 2016
Item 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
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PART III
Item 10.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the captions “Management and Corporate Governance,”
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” and “Code of Conduct and Ethics” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2016 Annual Meeting
of Stockholders.
Item 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the captions “Executive Officer and Director
Compensation,” “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Management and Corporate Governance – Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider
Participation,” “Compensation Committee Report” and “Compensation Practices and Policies Relating to Risk Management” in the Company’s Proxy Statement
for the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the captions “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the captions “Certain Relationships and Related Person
Transactions” and “Management and Corporate Governance” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
Item 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The response to this item is incorporated by reference from the discussion responsive thereto under the caption “Proposal 2: Ratification of Selection of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV
Item 15.

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Item 15(a).

The following documents are filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K:

Item 15(a)(1) and (2)

See “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules” at Item 8 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Other financial statement schedules have not been included because they are not applicable or the information is included in the
financial statements or notes thereto.

Item 15(a)(3)

Exhibits
The following is a list of exhibits filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Exhibit
Number

Filed
Herewith

Exhibit Description

Incorporated
by Reference
herein from
Form or
Schedule

Filing Date

SEC File/
Reg. Number

2.1

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of August 23, 2013, by and
among the Registrant, ITI, Inc. and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.

8-K
(Exhibit 2.1)

8/29/2013

000-54896

2.2

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of August 29, 2013, by and
between the Registrant and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc., relating to
the name change of the Registrant.

8-K
(Exhibit 2.2)

9/5/2013

000-54896

3.1

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, filed with the
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on November 7, 2013.

S-1/A
(Exhibit 3.1)

11/26/13

333-191238

3.2

Certificate of Merger relating to the Merger of ITI, Inc. with and
into Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc., filed with the Secretary of State
of the State of Delaware on August 29, 2013.

8-K
(Exhibit 3.3)

9/5/2013

000-54896

3.3

Certificate of Ownership and Merger relating to the Merger of IntraCellular Therapies, Inc. with and into the Registrant, filed with the
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on August 29, 2013,
relating to the name change of the Registrant.

8-K
(Exhibit 3.4)

9/5/2013

000-54896

3.4

Restated Bylaws of the Registrant.

8-K
(Exhibit 3.5)

9/5/2013

000-54896

4.1

Form of common stock certificate.

8-K
(Exhibit 4.1)

9/5/2013

000-54896

8-K
(Exhibit 4.2.1)

9/5/2013

000-54896

4.2

.1

Warrant to Purchase Common Stock dated April 19, 2013 issued to
Alzheimer Drug Discovery Foundation, Inc.
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Exhibit
Number

10.1

10.2

Filed
Herewith

Exhibit Description

Incorporated
by Reference
herein from
Form or
Schedule

Filing Date

SEC File/
Reg. Number

.2

Amendment dated August 29, 2013 to Warrant to Purchase Common
Stock dated April 19, 2013 issued to Alzheimer Drug Discovery
Foundation, Inc.

8-K
(Exhibit 4.2.2)

9/5/2013

000-54896

.1

License Agreement dated as of May 31, 2005 by and between BristolMeyers Squibb Company and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.**

8-K/A
(Exhibit 10.1.1)

10/31/2013

000-54896

.2

Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement dated as of November 3, 2010
by and between Bristol-Meyers Squibb Company and Intra-Cellular
Therapies, Inc.

8-K
(Exhibit 10.1.2)

9/5/2013

000-54896

.1

License and Collaboration Agreement dated as of February 25, 2011 by
and between Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited and IntraCellular Therapies, Inc.**

8-K/A
(Exhibit 10.2)

10/31/2013

000-54896

.2

Termination Agreement dated as of October 31, 2014 by and between
Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited and Intra-Cellular Therapies,
Inc.†

10-K
(Exhibit 10.2.2)

3/12/2015

001-36274

10.3

Employment Agreement effective as of February 26, 2008 by and
between Sharon Mates, Ph.D. and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.*

8-K
(Exhibit 10.3)

9/5/2013

000-54896

10.4

Employment Agreement effective as of August 3, 2015 by and between
Michael I. Halstead and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc..*

10-Q
(Exhibit 10.1)

11/5/2015

001-36274

10.5

Employment Agreement effective as of February 26, 2008 by and
between Lawrence J. Hineline and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.*

8-K
(Exhibit 10.4)

9/5/2013

000-54896

10.6

Employment Agreement effective as of November 4, 2015 by and
between Robert Davis, Ph.D. and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.*

X

10.7

Employment Agreement effective as of November 5, 2015 by and
between Kimberly Vanover, Ph.D. and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.*

X
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Exhibit
Number

Filed
Herewith

Exhibit Description

Incorporated
by Reference
herein from
Form or
Schedule

Filing Date

SEC File/
Reg. Number

10.8

Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, and Non-Competition
Agreement effective as of September 1, 2003 by and between Sharon
Mates, Ph.D. and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.*

8-K
(Exhibit 10.8)

9/5/2013

000-54896

10.9

Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, and Non-Competition
Agreement effective as of July 29, 2014 by and between Michael Halstead
and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.*

10-K
(Exhibit 10.11)

3/12/2015

001-36274

10.10

Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, and Non-Competition
Agreement effective as of December 1, 2003 by and between Lawrence J.
Hineline and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.*

8-K
(Exhibit 10.9)

10.11

Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, and Non-Competition
Agreement effective as of November 4, 2015 by and between Robert
Davis, Ph.D. and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.*

9/5/2013

000-54896

X

10.12

Employee Proprietary Information, Inventions, and Non-Competition
Agreement effective as of March 5, 2007 by and between Kimberly E.
Vanover, Ph.D. and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.*

8-K
(Exhibit 10.12)

10.13

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between the Company and its
directors and executive officers.*

8-K
(Exhibit 10.13)

10.14

2003 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.*

8-K
(Exhibit 10.14)

9/5/2013

000-54896

10.15

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, as
amended.*

8-K
(Exhibit 10.15)

9/5/2013

000-54896

10.16

Amended and Restated 2013 Equity Incentive Plan.*

8-K
(Exhibit 10.1)

6/18/2015

001-36274

10.17

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan.*

10-K
(Exhibit 10.19)

3/25/2014

001-36274

10.18

Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy.*

10-Q
(Exhibit 10.1)

8/12/2014

001-36274
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Exhibit
Number

Filed
Herewith

Exhibit Description

Incorporated
by Reference
herein from
Form or
Schedule

Filing Date

10.19

Redemption Agreement dated as of August 29, 2013 by and between
the Registrant and NLBDIT 2010 Services, LLC.

8-K
(Exhibit 10.17)

10.20

Indemnity Agreement dated as of August 29, 2013 by and among the
Registrant, Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. and Samir N. Masri.

8-K
(Exhibit 10.18)

9/5/2013

000-54896

10.21

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of August 29, 2013 by and
among Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc., the stockholders named therein
and the Registrant.

8-K
(Exhibit 10.19)

9/5/2013

000-54896

14.1

Corporate Code of Conduct and Ethics and Whistleblower Policy.

21.1

Subsidiaries.

S-1
(Exhibit 21.1)

9/18/13

333-191238

23.1

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

X

31.1

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer.

X

31.2

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer.

X

32.1

Certification pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

X

.INS

XBRL Instance Document.

X

.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

X

.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.

X

.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition.

X

.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.

X

.PRE

XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document.

X

101

*
**
†

9/5/2013

SEC File/
Reg. Number

000-54896

X

Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
Confidential treatment has been granted for portions of this Exhibit. Redacted portions filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment is being requested for portions of this Exhibit. Redacted portions filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
INTRA-CELLULAR THERAPIES, INC.
Date: February 25, 2016

By:

/s/ Sharon Mates, Ph.D.
Sharon Mates, Ph.D.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities indicated below and on the dates indicated.
Signatures

Title

Date

By:

/s/

Sharon Mates, Ph.D.
Sharon Mates, Ph.D.

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer (principal
executive officer)

February 25, 2016

By:

/s/

Lawrence J. Hineline
Lawrence J. Hineline

Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer (principal
financial officer and principal accounting officer)

February 25, 2016

Christopher Alafi, Ph.D.
Christopher Alafi, Ph.D.

Director

February 25, 2016

Richard Lerner, M.D.
Richard Lerner, M.D.

Director

February 25, 2016

By:

By:

/s/

/s/

By:

/s/

Joel S. Marcus
Joel S. Marcus

Director

February 25, 2016

By:

/s/

Rory B. Riggs
Rory B. Riggs

Director
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2015. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
and subsidiaries at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2015, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated February 25, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Baltimore, MD
February 25, 2016
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Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
2015

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investment securities, available-for-sale
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued and other current liabilities
Accrued employee benefits
Total current liabilities
Long-term deferred rent
Total liabilities

$

Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $.0001 par value: 100,000,000 shares authorized; 43,155,875 and 29,499,059 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

47,159,303
428,041,021
30,660
8,025,147
483,256,131
775,522
71,875
484,103,528

$

1,632,905
3,423,464
1,207,143
6,263,512
1,597,105
7,860,617

$

4,316
669,878,103
(193,049,098)
(590,410)
476,242,911
$ 484,103,528

2014

61,325,044
68,320,672
51,603
1,288,953
130,986,272
54,553
70,944
$ 131,111,769

2,052,765
7,529,241
975,058
10,557,064
—
10,557,064

2,950
208,912,345
(88,255,957)
(104,633)
120,554,705
$ 131,111,769
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Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Years Ended December 31,
2014

2015

Revenues:
License and collaboration revenue
Grant Revenue
Total revenues

$

Costs and expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Total costs and expenses

30,659
60,705
91,364

$

87,718,074
18,187,286
105,905,360

Loss from operations
Interest income
Interest expense
Income tax expense
Net loss
Net loss per common share:
Basic & Diluted
Weighted average number of common shares:
Basic & Diluted
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$

21,226,345
10,337,679
31,564,024

2,737,002
—
2,737,002
23,027,578
5,976,276
29,003,854

(105,813,996)
1,022,455
—
(1,600)
$ (104,793,141)

(30,986,723)
303,936
(7,073)
(1,600)
$ (30,691,460)

(26,266,852)
29,617
(612,963)
(18,000)
$ (26,868,198)

$

$

$

(2.91)
36,069,237

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

547,546
29,755
577,301

2013

(1.07)
28,650,067

(1.56)
17,260,768
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Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
2015

Net loss
Other comprehensive loss:
Unrealized loss on investment securities
Comprehensive loss
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31,
2014

2013

$ (104,793,141)

$ (30,691,460)

$ (26,868,198)

(485,777)
$ (105,278,918)

(104,633)
$ (30,796,093)

—
$ (26,868,198)
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Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock

Balance at December 31, 2012
Conversion of convertible notes
Private placement of common stock
Exercise of stock options
Stock subscription
Share-based compensation
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2013
Common shares issued February 5, 2014
Exercise of stock options
Stock issued for services
Stock subscription
Share-based compensation
Net loss
Other comprehensive loss
Balance at December 31, 2014
Common shares issued March 11, 2015
Common shares issued September 28, 2015
Exercise of stock options
Stock issued for services
Share-based compensation
Net loss
Other comprehensive loss
Balance at December 31, 2015

Shares

Amount

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

14,599,612
110,446
6,916,697
514,466
18,225
—
—
22,159,446
7,063,300
247,165
10,923
18,225
—
—

1,460
11
692
51
2
—
—
$ 2,216
706
25
1
2
—
—

$ 47,678,924
701,712
39,962,808
332,887
109,832
391,393
—
$ 89,177,556
115,442,041
162,955
176,084
109,831
3,843,878
—

$ (30,696,299)
—
—
—
—
—
(26,868,198)
$ (57,564,497)
—
—

29,499,059
5,411,481
7,935,000
305,005
5,330
—
—

$ 2,950
541
793
31
1
—
—

$208,912,345
121,803,828
327,435,412
653,015
182,598
10,890,905
—

$ (88,255,957)
—
—
—

43,155,875

$ 4,316

$669,878,103

$ (193,049,098)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
(30,691,460)
$

(104,633)
(104,633)

$

(485,777)
(590,410)

—
(104,793,141)

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

$

16,984,085
701,723
39,963,500
332,938
109,834
391,393
(26,868,198)
$ 31,615,275
115,442,747
162,980
176,085
109,833
3,843,878
(30,691,460)
(104,633)
$ 120,554,705
121,804,369
327,436,205
653,046
182,599
10,890,905
(104,793,141)
(485,777)
$ 476,242,911
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Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31,
2014

2015

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation expense
Share-based compensation expense
Issuance of stock for services
Amortization of premiums on investment activities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities and employee benefits
Deferred revenue
Deferred rent
Net cash used in operating activities

$ (104,793,141)

$

(30,691,460)

2013

$ (26,868,198)

139,626
10,890,905
182,599
712,675

25,481
3,843,878
176,085
297,223

20,943
(6,737,125)
(419,860)
(3,873,692)
—
1,597,105
(102,279,965)

284,715
(466,099)
(1,342,302)
5,065,329
—
—
(22,807,150)

(35,889)
(574,341)
3,353,459
2,785,736
(1,666,674)
—
(22,591,265)

(514,308,249)
153,389,448
(860,595)
(361,779,396)

(103,601,836)
36,879,308
(11,762)
(66,734,290)

—
1,500,000
(33,255)
1,466,745

Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of convertible promissory notes, net
Proceeds from stock option exercises
Proceeds from stock subscription
Proceeds of public offerings
Payment of costs of public offerings
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

—
653,046
—
449,996,887
(756,313)
449,893,620
(14,165,741)
61,325,044
$ 47,159,303

—
162,980
109,833
116,191,285
(748,538)
115,715,560
26,174,120
35,150,924
$ 61,325,044

100,000
332,938
109,834
43,841,850
(3,754,706)
40,629,916
19,505,396
15,645,528
$ 35,150,924

Cash paid for interest

$

$

$

Investing activities
Purchases of investments
Maturities of investments
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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—

7,073

23,249
391,393
—
—

11,320
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Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2015
1. Organization
Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. (the “Company”), through its wholly-owned operating subsidiary, ITI, Inc. (“ITI”), is a biopharmaceutical company focused on the
discovery and clinical development of innovative, small molecule drugs that address underserved medical needs in neuropsychiatric and neurological disorders by
targeting intracellular signaling mechanisms within the central nervous system (“CNS”). The Company’s lead product candidate, ITI-007, is in Phase 3 clinical
development as a novel treatment for schizophrenia and bipolar depression.
ITI was incorporated in the State of Delaware on May 22, 2001 under the name “Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.” and commenced operations in June 2002. ITI was
founded to discover and develop drugs for the treatment of neurological and psychiatric disorders.
On August 29, 2013, ITI completed a reverse merger (the “Merger”) with a public shell company named Oneida Resources Corp. (“Oneida”). Oneida was formed
in August 2012 as a vehicle to investigate and, if such investigation warranted, acquire a target company or business seeking the perceived advantages of being a
publicly held corporation. In the Merger, each outstanding share of capital stock of ITI was exchanged for 0.5 shares of common stock of Oneida, and each
outstanding option to purchase one share of ITI common stock and each outstanding warrant to purchase one share of ITI common stock was assumed by Oneida
and became exercisable for 0.5 shares of Oneida common stock. As a result of the Merger and related transactions, ITI survived as a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Oneida, Oneida changed its fiscal year end from March 31 to December 31, and Oneida changed its name to Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. (the “Company”). In
addition, the Company began operating ITI and its business, and therefore ceased being a shell company. Following the Merger and the redemption of all then
outstanding shares of Oneida at the closing of the Merger, the former stockholders of ITI owned 100% of the shares of the Company’s outstanding capital stock.
In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 805, Business Combinations , ITI is
considered the acquirer for accounting purposes, and has accounted for the transaction as a capital transaction, because ITI’s former stockholders received 100% of
the voting rights in the combined entity and ITI’s senior management represented all of the senior management of the combined entity. Consequently, the assets
and liabilities and the historical operations that are reflected in the Company’s consolidated financial statements are those of ITI and have been recorded at the
historical cost basis of the Company. All share and per share amounts in the consolidated financial statements and related notes have been retrospectively adjusted
to reflect the one-for-0.5 shares of capital stock exchange as well as the conversion of the Notes (defined below) and the Series A, B, and C redeemable convertible
preferred stock of ITI.
Immediately prior to the Merger, on August 29, 2013, ITI sold to accredited investors approximately $60.0 million of its shares of common stock, or 18,889,307
shares at a price of $3.1764 per share (the “Private Placement”), which included $15.3 million in principal and $0.8 million in accrued interest from the conversion
of ITI’s then outstanding convertible promissory notes (the “Notes”).
On February 5, 2014, the Company completed a public offering of common stock in which the Company sold 7,063,300 shares of common stock, which included
the exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase an additional 921,300 shares, at an offering price of $17.50 per share. After deducting underwriting discounts,
commissions and offering expenses, the net proceeds to the Company were approximately $115.4 million.
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1. Organization (continued)
On October 31, 2014, the Company entered into a termination agreement with Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited (“Takeda”) terminating the worldwide
license and collaboration agreement under which the Company and Takeda were jointly developing the Company’s proprietary compound ITI-214 and other
selected compounds that selectively inhibit phosphodiesterase type 1 (“PDE1”) for use in the prevention and treatment of human diseases. Through December 31,
2015, the Company had received $29.0 million in total payments under the agreement and was eligible to receive milestone payments and royalties based on net
sales. On September 15, 2015, Takeda completed the transfer of the Investigational New Drug application (“IND”) for ITI-214 to the Company. The Company
intends to explore the development of its PDE program, including ITI-214 for the treatment of several CNS and non-CNS conditions.
On March 11, 2015, the Company completed a public offering of common stock in which the Company sold 5,411,481 shares of common stock, which included
the exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase an additional 661,481 shares, at an offering price of $24.00 per share. After deducting underwriting discounts,
commissions and offering expenses, the net proceeds to the Company were approximately $121.8 million.
On September 28, 2015, the Company completed a public offering of common stock in which the Company sold 7,935,000 shares of common stock, which
included the exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase an additional 1,035,000 shares, at an offering price of $43.50 per share. After deducting underwriting
discounts, commissions and offering expenses, the net proceeds to the Company were approximately $327.4 million.
In order to further its research projects and support its collaborations, the Company will require additional financing until such time, if ever, that revenue streams
are sufficient to generate consistent positive cash flow from operations. Possible sources of funds include public or private sales of the Company’s equity securities,
sales of debt securities, the incurrence of debt from commercial lenders, strategic collaborations, licensing a portion or all of the Company’s product candidates and
technology and, to a lesser extent, grant funding.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”). Any reference in these notes to applicable guidance is meant to refer to the authoritative United States generally accepted accounting principles as
found in the Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) and Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”).
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the
financial statements and accompanying notes. Although actual results could differ from those estimates, management does not believe that such differences would
be material.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less from the date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash
equivalents consist of checking accounts, money market accounts, money market mutual funds, and certificates of deposit with a maturity date of three months or
less. Their carrying values approximate the fair market value. Certificates of deposit, commercial paper, corporate notes and corporate bonds with a maturity date
of more than three months are classified separately on the balance sheet.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Investment Securities
Investment securities may consist of investments in U.S. Treasuries, various U.S. governmental agency debt securities, corporate bonds, certificates of deposit, and
other fixed income securities with an average maturity of twelve months or less. Management classifies the Company’s investments as available-for-sale. Such
securities are carried at estimated fair value, with any unrealized holding gains or losses reported, net of any tax effects reported, as accumulated other
comprehensive income, which is a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses, and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary,
if any, are included in consolidated results of operations. A decline in the market value of any available-for-sale security below cost that is deemed to be other-thantemporary results in a reduction in fair value, which is charged to earnings in that period, and a new cost basis for the security is established. Dividend and interest
income is recognized as interest income when earned. The cost of securities sold is calculated using the specific identification method.
Investment securities consisted of the following (in thousands):
December 31, 2015

U.S. government agency securities
FDIC certificates of deposit (1)
Certificates of deposit
Commercial paper
Corporate bonds/notes

Amortized
Cost

Unrealized
Gains

Unrealized
(Losses)

$ 61,510
41,343
219,500
30,122
76,157
$ 428,632

$

$

—
1
—
—
—

$

1

$

(271)
(11)
—
(48)
(262)
(592)

December 31, 2014

U.S. government agency securities
FDIC certificates of deposit (1)
Certificates of deposit
Commercial paper
Corporate bonds/notes

(1)

Estimated
Fair
Value

$ 61,239
41,333
219,500
30,074
75,895
$ 428,041

Amortized
Cost

Unrealized
Gains

Unrealized
(Losses)

Estimated
Fair
Value

$

$

$

$

4,316
16,374
2,000
9,743
35,992
$ 68,425

—
—
—
1
—

$

1

$

(3)
(14)
—
—
(89)
(106)

4,313
16,360
2,000
9,744
35,904
$ 68,321

“FDIC certificates of deposit” consist of deposits that are less than $250,000.

The Company has classified all of its investment securities available-for-sale, including those with maturities beyond one year, as current assets on the consolidated
balance sheets based on the highly liquid nature of the investment securities and because these investment securities are considered available for use in current
operations. As of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Company held $142.4 million and $31.8 million, respectively, of available-for-sale investment
securities with contractual maturity dates more than one year and less than two years.
The Company monitors its investment portfolio for impairment quarterly or more frequently if circumstances warrant. In the event that the carrying value of an
investment exceeds its fair value and the decline in value is determined to be other-than-temporary, the Company records an impairment charge within earnings
attributable to the estimated credit loss. In determining whether a decline in the value of an investment is other-than-temporary, the Company evaluates currently
available factors that may include, among others: (1) general market conditions; (2) the duration and extent to which fair value has been less than the carrying
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—(Continued)
value; (3) the investment issuer’s financial condition and business outlook; and (4) our assessment as to whether it is more likely than not that we will be required
to sell a security prior to recovery of its amortized cost basis.
As of December 31, 2015 the Company had approximately $9.2 million of investments that have been held for greater than one year which had a temporary
impairment of approximately $19,000. As of December 31, 2014 the Company had no investments that had been held for greater than one year.
The Company attributes the unrealized losses on the available-for-sale securities as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, to the variability in related market interest
rates. The Company does not intend to sell these securities, nor is it more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell them prior to the end of their
contractual terms. Furthermore, the Company does not believe that these securities expose us to undue market risk or counterparty credit risk. As such, the
Company does not consider these securities to be other-than-temporarily impaired.
Fair Value Measurements
The Company applies the fair value method under ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures . ASC Topic 820 defines fair value, establishes a fair
value hierarchy for assets and liabilities measured at fair value and requires expanded disclosures about fair value measurements. The ASC Topic 820 hierarchy
ranks the quality and reliability of inputs, or assumptions, used in the determination of fair value and requires assets and liabilities carried at fair value to be
classified and disclosed in one of the following categories based on the lowest level input used that is significant to a particular fair value measurement:
•

Level 1—Fair value is determined by using unadjusted quoted prices that are available in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

•

Level 2—Fair value is determined by using inputs other than Level 1 quoted prices that are directly or indirectly observable. Inputs can include quoted
prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in inactive markets. Related inputs can also
include those used in valuation or other pricing models, such as interest rates and yield curves that can be corroborated by observable market data.

•

Level 3—Fair value is determined by inputs that are unobservable and not corroborated by market data. Use of these inputs involves significant and
subjective judgments to be made by a reporting entity—e.g., determining an appropriate adjustment to a discount factor for illiquidity associated with a
given security.

The Company evaluates financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurements on a recurring basis to determine the appropriate level at which to classify
them each reporting period. This determination requires the Company to make subjective judgments as to the significance of inputs used in determining fair value
and where such inputs lie within the ASC Topic 820 hierarchy.
The Company has no assets or liabilities that were measured using quoted prices for significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 assets and liabilities) as of
December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014. The carrying value of cash held in money market funds of approximately $31.1 million as of December 31, 2015 and
$8.5 million as of December 31, 2014, is included in cash and cash equivalents and approximates market value based on quoted market price or Level 1 inputs.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
The fair value measurements of the Company’s cash equivalents and available-for-sale investment securities are identified in the following tables (in thousands):

Money market funds
U.S. government agency securities
FDIC certificates of deposit
Certificates of deposit
Commercial paper
Corporate bonds/notes

December 31,
2015

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical
Assets
(Level 1)

$

$

$

Money market funds
U.S. government agency securities
FDIC certificates of deposit
Certificates of deposit
Commercial paper
Corporate bonds/notes

31,114
61,239
41,333
219,500
30,074
75,895
459,155

$

31,114
—
—
—
—
—
31,114

December 31,
2014

Quoted Prices
in Active
Markets for
Identical
Assets
(Level 1)

$

$

$

8,495
4,313
16,360
41,000
9,744
35,903
115,815

$

8,495
—
—
—
—
—
8,495

Fair Value Measurements at
Reporting Date Using
Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

$

$

—
61,239
41,333
219,500
30,074
75,895
$ 428,041

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Fair Value Measurements at
Reporting Date Using
Significant
Other
Observable
Inputs
(Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

$

$

—
4,313
16,360
41,000
9,744
35,903
$ 107,320

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Financial Instruments
The Company considers the recorded costs of its financial assets and liabilities, which consist of cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and
accrued liabilities, to approximate their fair value because of their relatively short maturities at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014. Management believes
that the risks associated with its financial instruments are minimal as the counterparties are various corporations, financial institutions and government agencies of
high credit standing.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Cash equivalents are held with major financial institutions in the United States. Certificates of deposit, cash and cash equivalents held with banks may exceed the
amount of insurance provided on such deposits. Generally, these deposits may be redeemed upon demand and, therefore, bear minimal risk.
Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable that management has the intent and ability to collect are reported in the balance sheets at outstanding amounts, less an allowance for doubtful
accounts. The Company writes off uncollectible receivables when the likelihood of collection is remote.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
The Company evaluates the collectability of accounts receivable on a regular basis. The allowance, if any, is based upon various factors including the financial
condition and payment history of customers, an overall review of collections experience on other accounts and economic factors or events expected to affect future
collections experience. No allowance was recorded as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, as the Company has a history of collecting on all its accounts including
government agencies and collaborations funding its research.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is stated at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives ranging from three to five years. Leasehold
improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the assets or the term of the related lease. Expenditures
for maintenance and repairs are charged to operations as incurred.
When indicators of possible impairment are identified, the Company evaluates the recoverability of the carrying value of its long-lived assets based on the criteria
established in ASC 360, Property, Plant and Equipment . The Company considers historical performance and anticipated future results in its evaluation of potential
impairment. The Company evaluates the carrying value of those assets in relation to the operating performance of the business and undiscounted cash flows
expected to result from the use of those assets. Impairment losses are recognized when carrying value exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, in which case
management must determine the fair value of the underlying asset. No such impairment losses have been recognized to date.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized when all terms and conditions of the agreements have been met, including persuasive evidence of an arrangement, delivery has occurred or
services have been rendered, price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. The Company is reimbursed for certain costs incurred on
specified research projects under the terms and conditions of grants, collaboration agreements, and awards. The Company records the amount of reimbursement as
revenues on a gross basis in accordance with ASC Topic 605-45, Revenue Recognition/Principal Agent Considerations . The Company is the primary obligor with
respect to purchasing goods and services from third-party suppliers, is obligated to compensate the service provider for the work performed, and has discretion in
selecting the supplier. Provisions for estimated losses on research grant projects and any other contracts are made in the period such losses are determined.
The Company has entered into arrangements involving the delivery of more than one element. Each required deliverable is evaluated to determine whether it
qualifies as a separate unit of accounting. For the Company, this determination is generally based on whether the deliverable has “stand-alone value” to the
customer. The Company adopted this accounting standard on a prospective basis for all Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangements (“MDRAs”) entered into on
or after January 1, 2011, and for any MDRAs that were entered into prior to January 1, 2011, but materially modified on or after that date.
The Company has adopted ASC Topic 605-28, Milestone Method . Under this guidance, the Company recognizes revenue contingent upon the achievement of a
substantive milestone in its entirety in the period the milestone is achieved. Substantive milestone payments are recognized upon achievement of the milestone only
if all of the following conditions are met:
•

The milestone payments are non-refundable;

•

Achievement of the milestone involves a degree of risk and was not reasonably assured at the inception of the arrangement;

•

Substantive effort on the Company’s part is involved in achieving the milestone;

•

The amount of the milestone payment is reasonable in relation to the effort expended or the risk associated with achievement of the milestone; and
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
•

A reasonable amount of time passes between the up-front license payment and the first milestone payment, as well as between each subsequent
milestone payment.

Determination as to whether a payment meets the aforementioned conditions involves management’s judgment. If any of these conditions are not met, the resulting
payment would not be considered a substantive milestone, and therefore, the resulting payment would be considered part of the consideration for the single unit of
accounting and be recognized as revenue in accordance with the revenue models described above. In addition, the determination that one such payment was not a
substantive milestone could prevent the Company from concluding that subsequent milestone payments were substantive milestones and, as a result, any additional
milestone payments could also be considered part of the consideration for the single unit of accounting and would be recognized as revenue as such performance
obligations are performed under either the proportional performance or straight-line methods, as applicable .
Research and Development
Except for payments made in advance of services, the Company expenses its research and development costs as incurred. For payments made in advance, the
Company recognizes research and development expense as the services are rendered. Research and development costs primarily consist of salaries and related
expenses for personnel and resources and the costs of clinical trials. Other research and development expenses include preclinical analytical testing, outside
services, providers, materials and consulting fees.
Costs for certain development activities, such as clinical trials, are recognized based on an evaluation of the progress to completion of specific tasks using data such
as subject enrollment, clinical site activations or information provided to the Company by its vendors with respect to their actual costs incurred. Payments for these
activities are based on the terms of the individual arrangements, which may differ from the pattern of costs incurred, and are reflected in the financial statements as
prepaid or accrued research and development expense, as the case may be.
As part of the process of preparing its financial statements, the Company is required to estimate its expenses resulting from its obligations under contracts with
vendors, clinical research organizations and consultants and under clinical site agreements in connection with conducting clinical trials. The financial terms of these
contracts are subject to negotiations, which vary from contract to contract and may result in payment flows that do not match the periods over which materials or
services are provided under such contracts. The Company’s objective is to reflect the appropriate trial expenses in its financial statements by matching those
expenses with the period in which services are performed and efforts are expended. The Company accounts for these expenses according to the progress of the trial
as measured by subject progression and the timing of various aspects of the trial. The Company determines accrual estimates through financial models taking into
account discussion with applicable personnel and outside service providers as to the progress or state of consummation of trials, or the services completed. During
the course of a clinical trial, the Company adjusts its clinical expense recognition if actual results differ from its estimates. The Company makes estimates of its
accrued expenses as of each balance sheet date based on the facts and circumstances known to it at that time. The Company’s clinical trial accruals are dependent
upon the timely and accurate reporting of contract research organizations and other third-party vendors. Although the Company does not expect its estimates to be
materially different from amounts actually incurred, its understanding of the status and timing of services performed relative to the actual status and timing of
services performed may vary and may result in it reporting amounts that are too high or too low for any particular period. For the years ended December 31, 2015
and 2014, there were no material adjustments to the Company’s prior period estimates of accrued expenses for clinical trials.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances
are established when necessary to reduce net deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. Income tax expense is the tax payable for the period and the
change during the period in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions pursuant to ASC Topic 740 (previously included in FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in
Income Taxes—an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 ). Financial statement recognition of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return is
determined based on a more-likely-than-not threshold of that position being sustained. If the tax position meets this threshold, the benefit to be recognized is
measured as the tax benefit having the highest likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the taxing authority. The Company recognizes interest
accrued related to unrecognized tax benefits and penalties in the provision for income taxes.
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
All components of comprehensive income (loss), including net income (loss), are reported in the financial statements in the period in which they are incurred.
Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and circumstances from
non-owner sources. In accordance with accounting guidance, the Company presents the impact of any unrealized gains or (losses) on its investment securities in a
separate statement of comprehensive income (loss) for each period.
Share-Based Compensation
Share-based payments are accounted for in accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation . The fair value of share-based
payments is estimated, on the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model (the “Black-Scholes model”). The resulting fair value is
recognized ratably over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the option.
For all awards granted with time-based vesting conditions, expense is amortized using the straight-line attribution method. For awards that contain a performancebased vesting condition, expense is amortized using the accelerated attribution method. Share-based compensation expense recognized in the statements of
operations for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 is based on share-based awards ultimately expected to vest, and this amount has therefore been
reduced for estimated forfeitures. ASC Topic 718 requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. Pre-vesting forfeitures were estimated based on the Company’s historical experience and have not been material.
The Company utilizes the Black-Scholes model for estimating fair value of its stock options granted. Option valuation models, including the Black-Scholes model,
require the input of subjective assumptions, and changes in the assumptions used can materially affect the grant date fair value of an award. These assumptions
include the risk-free rate of interest, expected dividend yield, expected volatility and the expected life of the award. Restricted stock units are valued at the fair
market value on the date of grant as determined by the closing stock price.
Expected volatility rates are based on historical volatility of the common stock of comparable publicly traded entities and other factors due to the limited historical
information about the Company’s common stock. The expected life of stock options is the period of time for which the stock options are expected to be
outstanding.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Given the limited historical exercise data, the expected life is determined using the “simplified method,” which is defined as the midpoint between the vesting date
and the end of the contractual term.
The risk-free interest rates are based on the U.S. Treasury yield for a period consistent with the expected term of the option in effect at the time of the grant. The
Company has not paid dividends to its stockholders since its inception and does not plan to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Therefore, the Company
has assumed an expected dividend rate of zero.
Prior to January 1, 2014, given that there was no active market for the Company’s common stock, the exercise price of the stock options on the date of grant was
determined and approved by the board of directors using several factors, including progress and milestones achieved in the Company’s business development and
performance, the price per share of its convertible preferred stock offerings and general industry and economic trends. In establishing the estimated fair value of the
common stock, the Company considered the guidance set forth in American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practice Guide, Valuation of Privately-HeldCompany Equity Securities Issued as Compensation . For stock options granted in 2014 and 2015, the exercise price was determined by using the closing market
price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.
Under ASC Topic 718, the cumulative amount of compensation cost recognized for instruments classified as equity that ordinarily would result in a future tax
deduction under existing tax law shall be considered to be a deductible temporary difference in applying ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes . The deductible temporary
difference is based on the compensation cost recognized for financial reporting purposes; however, these provisions currently do not impact the Company, as all the
deferred tax assets have a full valuation allowance.
Since the Company had net operating loss carryforwards as of December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, no excess tax benefits for the tax deductions related to sharebased awards were recognized in the statements of operations.
Equity instruments issued to consultants are accounted for under the provisions of ASC Topic 718 and ASC Topic 505-50, Equity/Equity-Based Payments to NonEmployees . Accordingly, the estimated fair value of the equity instrument is recorded on the earlier of the performance commitment date or the date the services
required are completed and are marked to market during the service period.
Loss Per Share
Basic net loss per common share is determined by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, without
consideration of common stock equivalents. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of common stock
equivalents outstanding for the period. The treasury stock method is used to determine the dilutive effect of the Company’s stock option grants.
The following common stock equivalents were excluded in the calculation of diluted loss per share because their effect would be anti-dilutive as applied to the loss
from operations for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013:
2015

Stock Equivalents

Years Ended December 31,
2014
2013

1,322,311

958,712

898,982

Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In November 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes.
Current GAAP requires an entity to separate deferred income tax liabilities and assets into current and noncurrent amounts in a classified statement of financial
position. To simplify the presentation of deferred income taxes, ASU 2015-17 requires that deferred tax
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
liabilities and assets be classified as noncurrent in a classified statement of financial position. The current requirement that deferred tax liabilities and assets of a
tax-paying component of an entity be offset and presented as a single amount is not affected by the amendments in this Update. The amendments in this Update are
effective for financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods. Earlier application
is permitted for all entities as of the beginning of an interim or annual reporting period. The Company has elected to adopt this update as of the fourth quarter of
2015, retrospectively. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-09 (ASU 2014-09), Revenue from Contracts with Customers. ASU 2014-09 will eliminate
transaction-specific and industry-specific revenue recognition guidance under current GAAP and replace it with a principle-based approach for determining
revenue recognition. ASU 2014-09 will require that companies recognize revenue based on the value of transferred goods or services as they occur in the contract.
ASU 2014-09 also will require additional disclosure about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts,
including significant judgments and changes in judgments and assets recognized from costs incurred to obtain or fulfill a contract. In July 2015, the FASB decided
to defer the effective date of the standard from January 1, 2017, to January 1, 2018, with an option that permits companies to adopt the standard as early as the
original effective date. Early application prior to the original effective date is not permitted. The standard permits the use of either the retrospective or cumulative
effect transition method. Presently, the Company is assessing what effect the adoption of this standard will have on our consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes.
3. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the following:
2015

Computer equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Scientific equipment

$

December 31,

42,064
266,695
2,823,601
3,132,360
(2,356,838)
$ 775,522

Less accumulated depreciation

2014

$

39,160
35,958
2,207,848
2,282,966
(2,228,413)
$
54,553

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 was $139,626, $25,481 and $23,249, respectively. During 2015, the Company retired
$11,201 of fully depreciated property and equipment. During 2014, in conjunction with its move in February 2015 to its new headquarters, the Company retired
$319,553 of fully depreciated leasehold improvements and disposed of $709,518 of fully depreciated property and equipment.
4. Share-Based Compensation
The Company sponsors the Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2013 Plan”) to provide for the granting of stock-based awards, such as
stock options, restricted common stock, restricted stock units and stock appreciation rights to employees, directors and consultants as determined by the Board of
Directors. In August 2013, the Company assumed in the Merger the ITI 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (the “2003 Plan”), which expired by its terms in
July 2013. As of December 31, 2015, there were options to
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4. Share-Based Compensation (continued)
purchase 2,737,657 shares of common stock outstanding under the 2013 Plan. Effective in November 2013, the Company adopted the 2013 Plan. The Company
initially reserved 2,850,000 shares of common stock for issuance under the 2013 Plan. In both January 2015 and 2014, the number of shares of common stock
reserved for issuance under the 2013 Plan automatically increased by 800,000 pursuant to the evergreen provisions of the 2013 Plan. On June 16, 2015, the
stockholders of the Company approved, at the Company’s 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, an amendment to the 2013 Plan to increase the number of shares
of common stock available for issuance under the plan by 3,100,000 shares, to increase by 100,000 shares the maximum number of shares available for the issuance
of options, stock appreciation rights and other similar awards to any one participant in any calendar year for purposes of meeting the requirements for qualified
performance-based compensation under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and to eliminate the evergreen provisions
of the 2013 Plan under which 800,000 shares were automatically added to the plan on each of January 1, 2014 and 2015.
Stock options granted under the 2013 Plan may be either incentive stock options (“ISOs”) as defined by the Code, or non-qualified stock options. The Board of
Directors determines who will receive options, the vesting periods (which are generally two to three years) and the exercise prices of such options. Options have a
maximum term of 10 years. The exercise price of ISOs granted under the 2013 Plan must be at least equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date
of grant.
Total stock-based compensation expense related to all of the Company’s share-based awards, including stock options and restricted stock units to employees,
directors and consultants recognized during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, was comprised of the following:
2015

Research and development
General and administrative
Total share-based compensation expense

Years Ended December 31,
2014

$ 4,768,131
6,122,774
$ 10,890,905

$ 1,842,828
2,001,050
$ 3,843,878

2013

$ 132,543
258,850
$ 391,393

The following table describes the weighted-average assumptions used for calculating the value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014
and 2013:
Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Weighted-average risk-free interest rate
Expected term (in years)

2015

2014

2013

0%
80.0%
1.8%
5.9

0%
80.0%
2.0%
6.3

0%
80.0%
2.2%
6.2

Information regarding the stock options activity, including with respect to grants to employees, directors and consultants as of December 31, 2015, and changes
during the period then ended, are summarized as follows:

Outstanding at December 31, 2014
Options granted
Options exercised
Options canceled or expired
Outstanding at December 31, 2015
Vested or expected to vest at December 31, 2015
Exercisable at December 31, 2015
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Number of
Shares

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

2,233,460
884,703
(305,005)
(75,501)
2,737,657

$
$
$
$
$

9.20
21.00
2.14
12.33
13.72

$
—
$
—
$
—
$
—
$109,778,658

2,737,657

$

13.72

$

1,485,918

$

8.75

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

WeightedAverage
Contractual
Life

7.3 years
9.1 years
2.2 years
8.0 years
7.6 years

—

$ 66,920,372

6.7 years
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4. Share-Based Compensation (continued)
The weighted-average grant date fair value for awards granted during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, was $21.00, $16.50, and $3.26 per
share, respectively. Total intrinsic value of the options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 was approximately $10,951,057,
$3,696,775 and $580,623, respectively. The total fair value of shares vested in the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, was approximately $5,207,073,
$3,703,000 and $278,000, respectively.
During 2015, 2014 and 2013, the Company granted options to certain scientific advisory board members of the Company to purchase 45,571, 95,000 and 19,000
shares of common stock at an average exercise price per share of $17.57, $16.86, and $3.26, respectively. The options vest ratably over a period of 12 to 24 months.
Stock compensation related to these grants will fluctuate with any changes in the underlying value of the Company’s common stock, as the performance period is
not fixed.
The unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to stock option awards at December 31, 2015, is $12,733,859 and will be recognized over a weightedaverage period of 1.6 years.
5. Income Taxes
Total income tax expense for the years ended December 31 is allocated as follows:
2015

Current
Deferred
Valuation allowance
Provision for income taxes

$

1,600
(51,165,859)
51,165,859
$
1,600

December 31,
2014

2013

$

1,600
(14,655,320)
14,655,320
$
1,600

$

18,000
(13,229,355)
13,229,355
$
18,000

A reconciliation of the difference between the statutory federal income tax rate and the effective income tax rate for the years ended December 31 is as follows:
2015

Income tax benefit at statutory federal rate
Permanent differences
Return-to-provision—R&D Credit
R&D Credit—current year
Reserve for uncertain tax positions
Change in effective state tax rates
State income tax expense
Change in valuation allowance
Provision for income taxes

35.00%
(0.56)
0.00
4.19
0.00
(0.05)
10.24
(48.82)
(0.00)%

December 31,
2014

35.00%
0.12
(0.05)
2.32
(0.01)
(0.14)
10.50
(47.75)
(0.01)%

2013

35.00%
(1.20)
2.61
3.72
(6.53)
6.58
10.12
(50.37)
(0.07)%

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences that exist between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes, using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. As of
December 31, 2015, the Company had $174.8 million of federal net operating loss carryforwards, which expire at various dates through 2035. The gross amount of
the state net operating loss carryforwards is equal to or less than the federal net operating loss carryforwards and expires over various periods based on individual
state tax law. In general, businesses with U.S. net operating losses (“NOLs”) are considered loss corporations for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Pursuant to
Section 382 of the Code, loss corporations that undergo an ownership change, as defined under the Code, may be subject to an annual limitation on the amount of
NOLs (and certain other tax attributes)
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5. Income Taxes (continued)
available to offset taxable income earned after such ownership change. For the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company performed a Section 382 ownership
analysis and determined that an ownership change occurred (within the meaning of Section 382 of the Code) in 2015. Based on the analysis performed, however,
the Company does not believe that the Section 382 annual limitation will impact the Company’s ability to utilize the tax attributes that existed as of the date of the
ownership change in a material manner. If the Company experiences an ownership change in the future, the tax benefits related to the NOLs and tax credit
carryforwards may be further limited or lost.
At December 31, 2015, the Company had $5.7 million in excess tax benefits related to stock-based compensation deductions, the benefit of which will be recorded
to additional paid-in-capital once the benefit is realized through a reduction of income taxes payable. The following summarizes the significant components of the
Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively:
December 31,

2015

2014

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards
Accrued employee benefits
Research and development credit
Stock compensation
Deferred rent

$ 76,741,198
543,466
6,962,731
5,641,993
725,195

$ 34,870,169
443,371
2,570,540
1,563,785
—

Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation
Net deferred tax asset
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax asset

(6,062)
90,608,521
(90,608,521)
$
—

(5,204)
39,442,661
(39,442,661)
$
—

Based upon the Company’s historical operating performance and the reported cumulative net losses to date, the Company presently does not have sufficient
objective evidence to support the recovery of its net deferred tax assets. Accordingly, the Company has established a valuation allowance against its net deferred
tax assets for financial reporting purposes because it is not more likely than not that these deferred tax assets will be realized.
The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 were $1.72 million and $1.72 million respectively. If recognized
none of these tax benefits would affect the effective tax rate due to valuation allowances.
The following summarizes the significant components of gross unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively:
2015

Balance at January1,
Current Year Uncertain Tax Positions:
Gross Increases
Prior Year Uncertain Tax Positions:
Balance at December 31,
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December 31,

2014

$ 1,717,635

$ 1,715,904

3,277

1,731

$ 1,720,912

$ 1,717,635
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6. Collaborations and License Agreements
The Bristol-Myers Squibb License Agreement
On May 31, 2005, the Company entered into a worldwide, exclusive License Agreement with Bristol-Myers Squibb Company (“BMS”), pursuant to which the
Company holds a license to certain patents and know-how of BMS relating to ITI-007 and other specified compounds. The agreement was amended on
November 3, 2010. The licensed rights are exclusive, except BMS retains rights in specified compounds in the fields of obesity, diabetes, metabolic syndrome and
cardiovascular disease. However, BMS has no right to use, develop or commercialize ITI-007 and other specified compounds in any field of use. The Company has
the right to grant sublicenses of the rights conveyed by BMS. The Company is obliged under the license to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and
commercialize the licensed technology. The Company is also prohibited from engaging in the clinical development or commercialization of specified competitive
compounds.
Under the agreement, the Company made an upfront payment of $1.0 million to BMS, a milestone payment of $1.25 million in December 2013, and a milestone
payment of $1.5 million in December 2014 following the initiation of the Company’s first Phase 3 clinical trial for ITI-007 for patients with exacerbated
schizophrenia. Possible milestone payments remaining total $12.0 million. Under the agreement, the Company may be obliged to make other milestone payments
to BMS for each licensed product of up to an aggregate of approximately $14.75 million. The Company is also obliged to make tiered single digit percentage
royalty payments on sales of licensed products. The Company is obliged to pay to BMS a percentage of non-royalty payments made in consideration of any
sublicense.
The agreement extends, and royalties are payable, on a country-by-country and product-by-product basis, through the later of ten years after first commercial sale
of a licensed product in such country, expiration of the last licensed patent covering a licensed product, its method of manufacture or use, or the expiration of other
government grants providing market exclusivity, subject to certain rights of the parties to terminate the agreement on the occurrence of certain events. On
termination of the agreement, the Company may be obliged to convey to BMS rights in developments relating to a licensed compound or licensed product,
including regulatory filings, research results and other intellectual property rights.
The Takeda Pharmaceutical License and Collaboration Agreement and Termination Agreement
On February 25, 2011, the Company entered into a license and collaboration agreement with Takeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited under which the Company
agreed to collaborate to research, develop and commercialize its proprietary compound ITI-214 and other selected compounds that selectively inhibit PDE1 for use
in the prevention and treatment of human diseases. As part of the agreement, the Company assigned to Takeda certain patents owned by the Company that claim
ITI-214 and granted Takeda an exclusive license to develop and commercialize compounds identified in the conduct of the research program that satisfy specified
criteria. However, the Company retained rights to all compounds that do not meet the specified criteria and the Company continues to develop PDE1 inhibitors
outside the scope of the agreement.
Under the terms of the agreement, the Company conducted a research program with an initial term of three years to identify and characterize compounds that meet
certain specified criteria sufficient for further development by Takeda. This research program ended in February 2014. The Company was responsible for its
expenses incurred in the conduct of certain research activities specified in the research plan. Takeda agreed to reimburse the Company for expenses the Company
incurred in conducting additional research activities.
Upon execution of the agreement, Takeda made a nonrefundable payment to the Company. The Company was eligible to receive payments of approximately $500
million in the aggregate upon achievement of certain development milestones and up to an additional $250 million in the aggregate upon achievement of certain
sales-based milestones, along with tiered royalty payments ranging from the high single digits to the low teens in percent based on net sales by Takeda.
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6. Collaborations and License Agreements (continued)
On October 31, 2014, the Company entered into an agreement with Takeda terminating the Takeda License Agreement, pursuant to which all rights granted under
the Takeda License Agreement were returned to the Company. On September 15, 2015, Takeda completed the transfer of the IND for ITI-214 to the Company. ITI214 is the first compound in its class to successfully advance into Phase 1 clinical trials. The Company intends to explore the development of its PDE program,
including ITI-214 for the treatment of several CNS and non-CNS conditions, which may include cognition in Parkinson’s disease, cognition in Alzheimer’s disease,
cognition in schizophrenia and in other non-CNS indications. Other compounds in the PDE portfolio are also being advanced for the treatment of various
indications.
Other License Agreement
In May 2002, ITI entered into a license agreement (the “License”) and research agreement with a university. Under the provisions of the License, ITI is entitled to
use this organization’s patented technology and other intellectual property relating to diagnosis and treatment of central nervous system disorders.
The License expires upon expiration of the patent rights or 15 years subsequent to the first sale of products developed through this License. ITI is required to make
future milestone payments for initiation of clinical trials and approval of a New Drug Application (“NDA”). Should ITI commercialize the technology related to
this License, ITI would be required to make royalty payments, and would also be required to pay fees under any sublicense agreements with third parties.
In addition, ITI is required to use at least $1.0 million annually of its resources for the development and commercialization of the technology until ITI submits an
NDA. ITI met its spending requirements in 2015. There were no other payments made or required under the License for the years ended December 31, 2015 and
2014.
7. Commitments and Contingencies
The Company currently has operating lease agreements with commitments for $16,255,927 for laboratory and office facilities through 2027.
At December 31, 2015, future minimum lease payments under leases having an initial or remaining non-cancellable lease term in excess of one year are set forth in
the table below:
Year

2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
Thereafter

$

0
1,299,845
1,457,008
1,500,718
1,545,740
10,452,616
$ 16,255,927

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 was $1,385,207, $853,504 and $827,479, respectively.
8. Employee Benefit Plan
The Company sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) plan covering all full-time employees. Participants may elect to contribute their annual pre-tax earnings up to
the federally allowed maximum limits. The Company makes a matching contribution of 50% on the first 6% of contributions made by participants. Participant and
Company contributions vest immediately. During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, the Company recorded matching contribution expense of
$109,963, $84,757 and $77,138, respectively.
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9. Related Parties
In the first quarter of 2015, the Company moved its headquarters to 430 East 29th Street, New York, New York 10016. The Company has entered into a long-term
lease for approximately 16,753 square feet of useable laboratory and office space . The lease has a term of 12 years. Due to the amortization of total lease
payments, the Company has recognized $1.6 million of deferred rent in the 12 months ended December 31, 2015. The deferred rent balance will incrementally
increase over the next two years. A member of the Company’s board of directors is the Chairman of the board of directors, Chief Executive Officer and President
of the parent company to the landlord under this lease.
10. Unaudited Quarterly Financial Information
The tables herein set forth the Company’s unaudited condensed consolidated 2015 and 2014 quarterly statements of operations.
The following table sets for the Company’s unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations for the 2015 quarters ended:
2015 Quarter Ended

December 31,

September 30,

Revenue
Net loss
Basic and diluted net loss per share

$

$

30,659
(28,834,516)
$
(0.67)

—
(32,160,483)
$
(0.91)

June 30,

$

57,390
(21,511,318)
$
(0.61)

March 31,

$

3,315
(22,286,824)
$
(0.72)

The following table sets for the Company’s unaudited condensed consolidated statements of operations for the 2014 quarters ended:
2014 Quarter Ended

December 31,

September 30,

Revenue
Net loss
Basic and diluted net loss per share

$

$

65,862
(15,199,130)
$
(0.52)
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124,414
(6,415,507)
$
(0.22)

June 30,

$

219,238
(4,533,539)
$
(0.15)

March 31,

$

167,787
(4,543,284)
$
(0.17)

Exhibit 10.6
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), is effective this 4th day of November, 2015 (the “Effective Date”) between Robert Davis
(“Executive”) and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. (the “Company”).
1. Title; Capacity . Subject to terms set forth herein, the Company agrees to employ Executive in the position of Senior Vice President, Chief Scientific
Officer. Executive shall serve in an executive capacity and shall perform such duties as are assigned to Executive from time to time, consistent with the Bylaws of
the Company and as required by the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”). During the term of his employment with the Company, Executive will devote his
best efforts and substantially all of his business time and attention to the business of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, or any other provision of this
Agreement, it shall not be a breach or violation of this Agreement for the Executive to (i) serve on civic or charitable boards or committees, (ii) with the express
written permission of the Company serve on corporate boards of companies that do not present a conflict of interest or compete directly or indirectly with the
Company, (iii) deliver lectures, fulfill speaking engagements or teach at educational institutions, or (iv) manage personal investments, so long as such activities do
not significantly interfere with or significantly detract from the performance of the Executive’s responsibilities to the Company in accordance with this Agreement.
The Board has approved the Executive’s participation in the activities listed on Schedule A to this Agreement.
2. Term . The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date, and shall continue for three (3) years from that date, unless terminated prior
thereto by either the Company or the Executive as provided in Section 4. If either the Company or the Executive does not wish to renew this Agreement when it
expires at the end of the initial or any renewal term hereof, as hereinafter provided, or if either the Company or the Executive wishes to renew this Agreement on
different terms than those contained herein, it or he shall give written notice in accordance with Section 13 below of such intent to the other party at least sixty
(60) days prior to the expiration date. In the absence of such notice, this Agreement shall be renewed on the same terms and conditions contained herein for a term
of one year from the date of expiration. The parties expressly agree that designation of a term and renewal provisions in this Agreement does not in any way limit
the right of the parties to terminate this Agreement at any time as hereinafter provided. Reference herein to the term of this Agreement shall refer both to the initial
term and any successive term as the context requires. Should the Company elect not to renew this Agreement for reasons other than death or Disability (as defined
in Section 4.3 below), or Cause (as defined in Section 4.1 below), the Executive shall be eligible for the same severance payments and benefits as Executive would
receive under Section 5.2 and on the same conditions as if Executive had been terminated by the Company without Cause, provided that Executive executes a
Release of claims in favor of the Company as defined in Section 5.2(a). Provided however , Executive shall not receive any such severance payments and benefits
unless he executes the Release within the consideration period specified therein and until the Release becomes effective and can no longer be revoked by Executive
under its terms. Executive’s ability to receive such payment and benefits is further conditioned upon his: returning all Company property; complying with his post
termination obligations under this Agreement and
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the Proprietary Information, Inventions, and Non-Competition Agreement between the Executive and the Company; and complying with the Release including
without limitation any non-disparagement and confidentiality provisions contained therein. Executive shall not be eligible for any severance payments and benefits
if either the Executive or the Company wishes to renew this Agreement on different terms than those contained herein.
3. Compensation and Benefits .
3.1 Salary . Executive will receive for Executive’s services to be rendered under this Agreement an initial annualized base salary at the rate of
$400,000 per year, subject to annual review and adjustment by the Company in the discretion of the Board, payable subject to standard federal and state payroll
withholding requirements in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll practices (“ Base Salary ”).
3.2 Incentive Compensation . In addition to Executive’s Base Salary, the Executive shall be eligible during the term of this Agreement for such bonus
payments and/or equity grants as awarded to the Executive by the Board.
3.3 Policies and Fringe Benefits . The employment relationship between the parties shall also be subject to the Company’s personnel policies and
procedures as they may be interpreted, adopted, revised or deleted from time to time in the Company’s sole discretion. The Executive will be eligible to participate
on the same basis as other executive level employees in the Company’s benefit plans in effect from time to time during his employment. All matters of eligibility
for coverage or benefits under any benefit plan shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of such plan. The Company reserves the right to change, alter,
or terminate any benefit plan in its sole discretion. While this Agreement is in effect, the Company will provide the Executive with life insurance, for which the
Executive may designate the beneficiary or beneficiaries in an amount of $150,000, and long-term disability insurance.
3.4 Reimbursement of Certain Expenses . The Company will reimburse Executive for reasonable business expenses in accordance with the Company’s
expense reimbursement policies.
4. Termination of Employment . Either Executive or the Company may terminate the employment relationship at any time, for any reason, in accordance
with this Section 4.
4.1 Termination for Cause . At the election of the Company, the employment relationship may be terminated for Cause upon written notice by the
Company to Executive specifying the provision or provisions of this Section 4.1 upon which the decision to terminate is based. For the purposes of this Section 4.1,
“Cause” for termination shall be deemed to exist upon the occurrence of any of the following:
(a) a good faith finding by the Company that Executive has engaged in gross negligence or gross misconduct that is materially injurious to the
Company;
(b) Executive’s conviction of a felony or crime involving fraud or embezzlement of Company property;
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(c) Executive’s material breach of this Agreement which, if curable, has not been cured by Executive within 60 days after he shall have received
written notice from the Company stating with reasonable specificity the nature of such breach;
(d) material breach of fiduciary duty; or
(e) refusal to follow or implement a clear and reasonable directive of the Board as a whole, or an officer of the Company, provided that such directive
is ethical and legal and which, if curable, has not been cured by Executive within 60 days after he shall have received written notice from the Company stating with
reasonable specificity the nature of such refusal.
4.2 Termination by the Company Without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason . At the election of the Company it may terminate Executive’s
employment for reasons other than Cause, death or Disability, at any time upon written notice by the Company to Executive. The Executive may resign from
Executive’s employment for “Good Reason” within sixty (60) days after the occurrence of one of the events specified below, by giving prior written notice,
provided that Executive has not consented in writing to one of the specified events or been notified previously of the Company’s intention to terminate Executive’s
employment. As used in this Agreement Good Reason shall mean:
(a) The assignment to Executive of any duties or responsibilities which result in the material diminution of Executive’s position;
(b) a 5% or greater reduction by the Company in Executive’s annual Base Salary;
(c) a material change in the geographic location at which the Executive is required to perform services; or
(d) material breach by the Company of any material provision of this Agreement ; provided however , that any actions taken by the Company to
accommodate a disability of the Executive or pursuant to the Family and Medical Leave Act shall not be a Good Reason for purposes of this Agreement.
Notwithstanding the occurrence of any of the events enumerated in Section 4.2 (a) through (d), such occurrence shall not be deemed to constitute Good Reason if,
within 30 days after the giving by Executive of notice of the occurrence or existence of an event or circumstance specified above, such event or circumstance has
been fully corrected (provided that such right of correction by the Company shall only apply to the first such notice given by Executive). In the absence of such
correction, Executive’s resignation shall be effective thirty (30) days following the Executive’s notice.
4.3 Death or Disability . The Executive’s employment will terminate upon the death or determination of disability of Executive. As used in this
Agreement, the determination of “disability” shall occur when the Executive is unable due to a physical or mental condition to perform the essential functions of
his position with or without reasonable accommodation for 90 consecutive days, or 180 days in the aggregate whether or not consecutive, during any 360-day
period, or based on the written certification by a licensed physician of the likely continuation of such condition for such period. A determination of disability shall
be made by a physician satisfactory to both Executive and the Company, provided that if Executive and the Company do
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not agree on a physician, Executive and the Company shall each select a physician and these two together shall select a third physician, whose determination as to
disability shall be binding on all parties. This definition shall be interpreted and applied consistent with the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Family and
Medical Leave Act, and other applicable law.
4.4 Termination by Executive without Good Reason . At the election of Executive, he may terminate employment upon not less than 30 days prior
written notice by Executive to the Company.
5. Effect of Termination .
5.1 General; Termination for Cause or by the Executive Without Good Reason . In the event that Executive’s employment is terminated for any
reason, the Company shall pay to Executive the compensation and benefits, including payment for accrued but untaken vacation days, payable to Executive through
the last day of Executive’s actual employment by the Company. If the termination is by the Company for Cause pursuant to Section 4.1 or at the election of
Executive pursuant to Section 4.4, the Company shall have no further obligations under this Agreement.
5.2 Termination by the Company Without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason .
(a) Employee shall not receive any of the benefits pursuant to this Section 5.2 unless he executes a general release in favor of the Company, in a form
acceptable to the Company and substantially similar to the form attached hereto as Schedule B ( the “Release”) within the consideration period specified therein
(the “Release Review Period”) and until the Release becomes effective and can no longer be revoked by Employee under its terms. Employee’s ability to receive
benefits pursuant to this Section 5.2 is further conditioned upon his: returning all Company property; complying with his post termination obligations under this
Agreement and the Proprietary Information, Inventions and Non-Competition Agreement; and complying with the Release including without limitation any nondisparagement and confidentiality provisions contained therein.
(b) In the event that Executive’s employment is terminated pursuant to Section 4.2 by the Company without Cause or by the Executive for Good
Reason, the Company shall pay to Executive as severance twelve months of his annual Base Salary then in effect, together with an additional amount calculated by
dividing by 365 the number of days employed in the year of termination and multiplying that number by the amount of the Executive’s previous year’s bonus (if
any), such amount to be paid in one lump sum on the date the Release becomes effective, subject to standard payroll deductions and withholdings, provided,
however, that if the Release Review Period begins in one tax year and ends in a later tax year, the payments under this Section 5.2(b) will be made following the
date that the Release is effective that occurs in the later tax year . Additionally, if Executive timely elects and remains eligible for continued coverage under
COBRA, the Company, as part of this Agreement, will pay that portion of Executive’s COBRA premiums it was paying prior to the Separation Date for twelve
(12) months.
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(c) In the event Executive’s employment is terminated pursuant to Section 4.2, and not for Cause, death or Disability, all unvested equity awards shall
become fully vested, all unvested stock options shall become fully vested and exercisable and any ISO’s issued to Executive will automatically convert to a nonqualified options on the 91 st day following termination, provided it has not been exercised, subject to the terms of the applicable stock plan and option agreement.
(d) Termination for Death or Disability . In the event that Executive’s employment is terminated by death or because of Disability pursuant to
Section 4.3, in addition to the payment of accrued salary and unused vacation provided in Section 5.1, the Company shall pay to Executive’s estate or to Executive,
as the case may be, compensation which would otherwise be payable to Executive through the end of the month in which such termination occurs, and payment for
any accrued but untaken vacation days.
5.3 Code Sections 409A and 280G .
(a) In the event that the payments or benefits set forth in Section 5.2 of this Agreement constitute “non-qualified deferred compensation” subject to
Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), then the following conditions apply to such payments or benefits:
(i) Any termination of Executive’s employment triggering payment of benefits under Section 5 must constitute a “separation from service”
under Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code and Treas. Reg. §1.409A-1(h) before distribution of such benefits can commence. To the extent that the
termination of Executive’s employment does not constitute a separation of service under Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code and Treas. Reg.
§1.409A-1(h) (as the result of further services that are reasonably anticipated to be provided by Executive to Company at the time Executive’s
employment terminates), any such payments under Section 5 that constitute deferred compensation under Section 409A of the Code shall be delayed
until after the date of a subsequent event constituting a separation of service under Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code and Treas. Reg. §1.409A1(h). For purposes of clarification, this Section 5.3(a) shall not cause any forfeiture of benefits on Executive’s part, but shall only act as a delay until
such time as a “separation from service” occurs.
(ii) Notwithstanding any other provision with respect to the timing of payments under Section 5.2 if, at the time of Executive’s termination, Executive
is deemed to be a “specified employee” of Company (within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code), then limited only to the extent
necessary to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code, any payments to which Executive may become entitled under Section 5
which are subject to Section 409A of the Code (and not otherwise exempt from its application) shall be withheld until the first (1 st ) business day of
the seventh (7 th ) month following the termination of Executive’s employment, at which time Executive shall be paid an aggregate amount equal to
the accumulated, but unpaid, payments otherwise due to Executive under the terms of Section 5.
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(b) It is intended that each installment of the payments and benefits provided under Section 5 of this Agreement shall be treated as a separate
“payment” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code. Neither Company nor Executive shall have the right to accelerate or defer the delivery of any such payments
or benefits except to the extent specifically permitted or required by Section 409A of the Code.
(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement shall be interpreted and at all times administered in a
manner that avoids the inclusion of compensation in income under Section 409A of the Code, or the payment of increased taxes, excise taxes or other penalties
under Section 409A of the Code. The parties intend this Agreement to be in compliance with Section 409A of the Code. Executive acknowledges and agrees that
Company does not guarantee the tax treatment or tax consequences associated with any payment or benefit arising under this Agreement, including but not limited
to consequences related to Section 409A of the Code.
(d) If any payment or benefit Executive would receive under Section 5.4 of this Agreement, when combined with any other payment or benefit
Executive receives pursuant to a Change of Control (for purposes of this section, a “Payment”) would: (i) constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of
Section 280G the Code; and (ii) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise Tax”), then such Payment shall
be either: (A) the full amount of such Payment; or (B) such lesser amount (with cash payments being reduced before equity compensation) as would result in no
portion of the Payment being subject to the Excise Tax, whichever of the foregoing amounts, taking into account the applicable federal, state and local
employments taxes, income taxes, and the Excise Tax, results in Executive’s receipt, on an after-tax basis, of the greater amount of the Payment notwithstanding
that all or some portion of the Payment may be subject to the Excise Tax.
5.4 Effect of a Change in Control .
(a) In the event either (i) Executive’s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company for reasons other than death or Disability (as
defined above) within three months before or 12 months following a Change in Control (as defined below) or (ii) Executive terminates his employment for Good
Reason (as defined above) within three months before or 12 months following a Change in Control (as defined below), or (iii) the Executive terminates his
employment for any reason within one (1) month following a Change in Control (as defined below), then provided that Executive executes the Release (as defined
in Section 5.2) within the consideration period specified therein and it becomes effective and can no longer be revoked by Executive under its terms, and provided
further that Executive returns all Company property’ complies with his post termination obligations under this Agreement and the Proprietary Information,
Inventions and Non-Competition Agreement, and complies with the Release including without limitation any non-disparagement and confidentiality provisions
contained therein, Executive shall be entitled to the payments, equity acceleration and benefits described in this Section 5.4 in lieu of, and not in addition to, the
benefits provided for in Section 5.2. The Company shall pay to the Executive, in lieu of the severance described in Section 5.2(a), severance equivalent to 18
months of his annual Base Salary then in effect, together with an additional amount calculated by dividing by 365 the number of days employed in the year of
termination and multiplying that number by the amount of the Executive’s previous year’s bonus
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(if any), paid in a lump sum on the eighth day following the date the Release becomes effective, subject to standard payroll deductions and withholdings, provided,
however, that if the Release Review Period begins in one tax year and ends in a later tax year, the payments under this Section 5.4(a) will be made following the
date that the Release is effective that occurs in the later tax year. On the date of termination of Executive’s employment, any unvested equity awards granted to the
Executive shall immediately vest and, in the case of stock options, become exercisable. Additionally, if Executive timely elects and remains eligible for continued
coverage under COBRA, the Company, as part of this Agreement, will pay that portion of Executive’s COBRA premiums it was paying prior to the Separation
Date for eighteen (18) months.
(b) Definition of Change in Control . For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change in Control” means the occurrence of any of the following events:
(i) a sale, lease or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company;
(ii) a consolidation or merger of the Company with or into any other corporation or other entity or person, or any other corporate reorganization,
in which the stockholders of the Company immediately prior to such consolidation, merger or reorganization, own less than fifty percent (50%) of the
outstanding voting power of the surviving entity (and its parent) following the consolidation, merger or reorganization; or
(iii) any transaction (or series of related transactions involving a person or entity, or a group of affiliated persons or entities) in which in excess
of fifty percent (50%) of the Company’s outstanding voting power is transferred.
Notwithstanding the above, a Change in Control shall not be deemed to occur on account of the sale or acquisition of the Company’s capital stock by institutional
investors or venture capital firms for the primary purpose of obtaining financing for the Company.
6. No Mitigation . Executive shall have no obligation to mitigate any amount of any payment or benefit contemplated by this agreement.
7. Cooperation . For one month following termination of the Executive’s employment for any reason, and, additionally, for the number of months for which
the Executive is receiving severance following termination, he will reasonably cooperate with the Company in all matters relating to the winding up of his pending
work including, but not limited to, any litigation in which the Company is involved, and the orderly transfer of any such pending work to such other employees as
may be designated by the Company. The Company will reimburse the Executive for any out-of-pocket expenses associated with such cooperation.
8. Insurance and Indemnification . The Company shall purchase a directors and officers insurance policy for which Executive shall receive usual and
customary coverage for all acts undertaken as an officer of the Company. In addition, the Company shall indemnify Executive to the fullest extent permitted by its
charter, bylaws and by law for all costs, charges, damages, fees including without limitation, attorneys fees or other expenses that Executive incurs or potentially
may incur in connection with Executives’ duties herewith and also enter into an indemnification agreement with Executive.
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9. Pronouns . Whenever the context may require, any pronouns used in this Agreement shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine or neuter forms,
and the singular forms of nouns and pronouns shall include the plural, and vice versa.
10. Complete Agreement . This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between Executive and the Company with regard to the subject matter hereof.
This Agreement is the complete, final, and exclusive embodiment of their agreement with regard to this subject matter and supersedes any prior oral discussions or
written communications and agreements. This Agreement is entered into without reliance on any promise or representation other than those expressly contained
herein, and it cannot be modified or amended except in writing signed by Executive and an authorized officer of the Company. The parties have entered into a
separate Proprietary Information, Inventions, and Non-Competition Agreement and have or may enter into separate equity grant agreements. These separate
agreements govern other aspects of the relationship between the parties, have or may have provisions that survive termination of the Executive’s employment under
this Agreement, may be amended or superseded by the parties without regard to this agreement and are enforceable according to their terms without regard to the
enforcement provision of this Agreement. In the event of a conflict between this Agreement and any other agreement between the Executive and the Company, this
Agreement shall control.
11. Amendment . This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument executed by both the Company and Executive.
12. Governing Law . This Agreement shall be construed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of New York and any action
arising from or relating to this Agreement shall be commenced in the Federal or State courts located in New York County.
13. Notices . Any notices required hereunder to be in writing shall be deemed effectively given: (a) upon personal delivery to the party to be notified;
(b) when sent by electronic mail, telex or confirmed facsimile if sent during normal business hours on the day sent, and, if not, then on the next business day;
(c) five (5) days after having been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or (d) one (1) day after deposit with a nationally
recognized overnight courier, specifying next day delivery, with written verification of receipt. All communications shall be sent to the Company at its primary
office location and to Employee at Employee’s address as listed on the Company payroll, or at such other address as the Company or the Employee may designate
by ten (10) days advance written notice to the other.
14. Successors and Assigns .
14.1 Assumption by Successors . The Company shall require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or
otherwise and whether or not after a Change in Control) to all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company to assume in writing prior to such
succession and to agree to perform its obligations under this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform
it if no such succession had taken place. Successions by virtue of the sale of stock shall be governed by operation of law.
8

14.2 Successor Benefits . This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of both parties and their respective successors and assigns,
including any corporation into which the Company may be merged or which may succeed to its assets or business, provided, however , that the obligations of
Executive are personal and shall not be assigned by Executive.
15. Miscellaneous .
15.1 No Waiver . No delay or omission by the Company in exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver of that or any other
right. A waiver or consent given by the Company on any one occasion shall be effective only in that instance and shall not be construed as a bar or waiver of any
right on any other occasion.
15.2 Captions . The captions of the sections of this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and in no way define, limit or affect the scope or
substance of any section of this Agreement.
15.3 Severability . In case any provision of this Agreement shall be invalid, illegal or otherwise unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability
of the remaining provisions shall in no way be affected or impaired thereby.
15.4 Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which together
shall constitute one and the same instrument.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year set forth above.
I NTRA - CELLULAR T HERAPIES , I NC .

E XECUTIVE

By: /s/ Lawrence Hineline
L AWRENCE H INELINE
C HIEF F INANCIAL OFFICER

/s/ Robert Davis
R OBERT D AVIS
S ENIOR V ICE P RESIDENT , C HIEF S CIENTIFIC O FFICER
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S CHEDULE A
P ERMITTED A CTIVITIES
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SCHEDULE B
R ELEASE OF C LAIMS
This Release of Claims ( Release ”) is made as of
Company ”) (together, the “ Parties ”).

by and between

(“ the Executive ”) and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. (the “

1. In consideration for Executive’s execution of this Release, the Company will make a severance payment to Executive in the amount set forth in the
Employment Agreement between the Executive and the Company. This amount will be paid following the Effective Date (as defined below) in accordance with the
Employment Agreement, provided the Company has received the executed Agreement from Executive on or before that date. This payment will be subject to
standard payroll deductions and withholdings. If Executive timely elects and remains eligible for continued coverage under COBRA, the Company will pay that
portion of Executive’s COBRA premiums it was paying prior to the Separation Date for the time period set forth in the Employment Agreement between the
Executive and the Company.
2. Executive hereby releases, acquits and forever discharges the Company, its parents and subsidiaries, and their officers, directors, agents, servants,
employees, stockholders, successors, assigns and affiliates, of and from any and all claims, liabilities, demands, causes of action, costs, expenses, attorneys fees,
damages, indemnities and obligations of every kind and nature, in law, equity, or otherwise, which were known or through reasonable diligence should have been
known, arising out of or in any way related to Releases, events, acts or conduct at any time prior to the date Executive executes this Settlement Release, including,
but not limited to: all such claims and demands directly or indirectly arising out of or in any way connected with Executive’s employment with the Company,
including but not limited to, claims of intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress, any and all tort claims for personal injury, claims or demands
related to salary, bonuses, commissions, stock, stock options, or any other ownership interests in the Company, vacation pay, fringe benefits, expense
reimbursements, severance pay, or any other form of compensation; claims pursuant to any federal, state or local law or cause of action including, but not limited
to, any and all claims and causes of action that the Company, its parents and subsidiaries, and its and their respective officers, directors, agents, servants,
employees, attorneys, shareholders, successors, assigns or affiliates:
•

has violated its personnel policies, handbooks, contracts of employment, or covenants of good faith and fair dealing;

•

has discriminated against him on the basis of age, race, color, sex (including sexual harassment), national origin, ancestry, disability, religion, sexual
orientation, marital status, parental status, source of income, entitlement to benefits, any union activities or other protected category in violation of any
local, state or federal law, constitution, ordinance, or regulation, including but not limited to: Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended; 42
U.S.C. § 1981, as amended; the Equal Pay Act; the Americans With Disabilities Act; the Family and Medical Leave Act; the New York State Law
Human Rights Law; the New York City Human Rights Law; the Employee Retirement Income Security Act; Section 510; and the National Labor
Relations Act;
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•

has violated any statute, public policy or common law (including but not limited to claims for retaliatory discharge; negligent hiring, retention or
supervision; defamation; intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress and/or mental anguish; intentional interference with contract;
negligence; detrimental reliance; loss of consortium to him or any member of his family and/or promissory estoppel).

Excluded from this Release are any claims which cannot be waived by law. Executive is waiving, however, his right to any monetary recovery should any
governmental agency or entity, such as the EEOC or the DOL, pursue any claims on his behalf. Executive acknowledges that he is knowingly and voluntarily
waiving and releasing any rights he may have under the ADEA, as amended. Executive also acknowledges that (i) the consideration given to his in exchange for the
waiver and release in this Release is in addition to anything of value to which he was already entitled, and (ii) that he has been paid for all time worked, have
received all the leave, leaves of absence and leave benefits and protections for which he is eligible, and have not suffered any on-the-job injury for which he has not
already filed a claim. Executive further acknowledges that he has been advised by this writing that: (a) his waiver and release do not apply to any rights or claims
that may arise after the execution date of this Release; (b) he has been advised hereby that he has the right to consult with an attorney prior to executing this
Release; (c) he has twenty-one (21) days to consider this Release (although Executive may choose to voluntarily execute this Release earlier and if he does he will
sign the Consideration Period waiver below); (d) he has seven (7) days following his execution of this Release to revoke the Release; and (e) this Release shall not
be effective until the date upon which the revocation period has expired unexercised (the “Effective Date”), which shall be the eighth day after Executive executes
this Release.
3. On or before the last day of Executive’s employment, Executive agrees to return to the Company all Company documents (and all copies thereof) and
other Company property that Executive has had in his possession at any time, including, but not limited to, Company files, notes, drawings, records, business plans
and forecasts, financial information, specifications, computer-recorded information, tangible property (including, but not limited to, computers), credit cards, entry
cards, identification badges and keys; and, any materials of any kind that contain or embody any proprietary or confidential information of the Company (and all
reproductions thereof). Executive shall coordinate the return of Company property with Allen Fienberg, Vice President of Business Development or an
appropriated officer designated by the Board of Directors.
4. Executive further agrees that both during and after Executive’s employment Executive acknowledges his continuing obligations under his Proprietary
Information, Inventions and Non-Competition Agreement not to use or disclose any confidential or proprietary information of the Company and to refrain from
certain solicitation and competitive activities.
5. It is understood that Executive shall hold the provisions of this Release in strictest confidence and shall not publicize or disclose it in any manner
whatsoever; provided, however , that: (a) Executive may disclose this Release to his immediate family; (b) Executive may disclose this Release in confidence to his
attorney, accountant, auditor, tax preparer, and financial advisor; and (c) Executive may disclose this Release insofar as such disclosure may be required by law.
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6. Executive agrees not to disparage the Company, and the Company’s attorneys, directors, managers, partners, employees, agents and affiliates, in any
manner likely to be harmful to them or their business, business reputation or personal reputation; provided that Executive may respond accurately and fully to any
question, inquiry or request for information when required by legal process.
7. This Release does not constitute an admission by the Company of any wrongful action or violation of any federal, state, or local statute, or common law
rights, including those relating to the provisions of any law or statute concerning employment actions, or of any other possible or claimed violation of law or rights.
8. Executive agrees that upon any breach of this Release Executive will forfeit all amounts paid or owing to Executive under this Release. Executive further
acknowledges that it may be impossible to assess the damages caused by violation of the terms of paragraphs 3, 4, 5 and 6 of this Release and further agree that any
threatened or actual violation or breach of those paragraphs of this Release will constitute immediate and irreparable injury to the Company. Executive therefore
agrees that any such breach of this Release is a material breach of this Release, and, in addition to any and all other damages and remedies available to the
Company upon Executive’s breach of this Release, the Company shall be entitled to an injunction to prevent Executive from violating or breaching this Release.
Executive agrees that if the Company is successful in whole or part in any legal or equitable action against Executive under this Release, Executive agree to pay all
of the costs, including reasonable attorney’s fees, incurred by the Company in enforcing the terms of this Release.
9. This Release constitutes the complete, final and exclusive embodiment of the entire Release between the Parties with regard to this subject matter. It is
entered into without reliance on any promise or representation, written or oral, other than those expressly contained herein, and it supersedes any other such
promises, warranties or representations. This Release may not be modified or amended except in a writing signed by both Executive and a duly authorized officer
of the Company. This Release will bind the heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns of the Parties, and inure to the benefit of the Parties, their heirs,
successors and assigns. If any provision of this Release is determined to be invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, this determination will not affect any other
provision of this Release and the provision in question will be modified by the court so as to be rendered enforceable. This Release will be deemed to have been
entered into and will be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of New York as applied to contracts made and to be performed entirely
within New York.
I N W ITNESS W HEREOF , the Parties have duly authorized and caused this Agreement to be executed as follows:
I NTRA -C ELLULAR T HERAPIES , I NC .

[NAME]

By:
[N AME ]

Date

Date
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Exhibit 10.7
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), is effective this 5th day of November, 2015 (the “Effective Date”) between Kimberly Vanover
(“Executive”) and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. (the “Company”).
1. Title; Capacity . Subject to terms set forth herein, the Company agrees to employ Executive in the position of Senior Vice President, Clinical
Development. Executive shall serve in an executive capacity and shall perform such duties as are assigned to Executive from time to time, consistent with the
Bylaws of the Company and as required by the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”). During the term of her employment with the Company, Executive
will devote her best efforts and substantially all of her business time and attention to the business of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, or any other
provision of this Agreement, it shall not be a breach or violation of this Agreement for the Executive to (i) serve on civic or charitable boards or committees,
(ii) with the express written permission of the Company serve on corporate boards of companies that do not present a conflict of interest or compete directly or
indirectly with the Company, (iii) deliver lectures, fulfill speaking engagements or teach at educational institutions, or (iv) manage personal investments, so long as
such activities do not significantly interfere with or significantly detract from the performance of the Executive’s responsibilities to the Company in accordance
with this Agreement. The Board has approved the Executive’s participation in the activities listed on Schedule A to this Agreement.
2. Term . The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date, and shall continue for three (3) years from that date, unless terminated prior
thereto by either the Company or the Executive as provided in Section 4. If either the Company or the Executive does not wish to renew this Agreement when it
expires at the end of the initial or any renewal term hereof, as hereinafter provided, or if either the Company or the Executive wishes to renew this Agreement on
different terms than those contained herein, it or she shall give written notice in accordance with Section 13 below of such intent to the other party at least sixty
(60) days prior to the expiration date. In the absence of such notice, this Agreement shall be renewed on the same terms and conditions contained herein for a term
of one year from the date of expiration. The parties expressly agree that designation of a term and renewal provisions in this Agreement does not in any way limit
the right of the parties to terminate this Agreement at any time as hereinafter provided. Reference herein to the term of this Agreement shall refer both to the initial
term and any successive term as the context requires. Should the Company elect not to renew this Agreement for reasons other than death or Disability (as defined
in Section 4.3 below), or Cause (as defined in Section 4.1 below), the Executive shall be eligible for the same severance payments and benefits as Executive would
receive under Section 5.2 and on the same conditions as if Executive had been terminated by the Company without Cause, provided that Executive executes a
Release of claims in favor of the Company as defined in Section 5.2(a). Provided however , Executive shall not receive any such severance payments and benefits
unless she executes the Release within the consideration period specified therein and until the Release becomes effective and can no longer be revoked by
Executive under its terms. Executive’s ability to receive such payment and benefits is further conditioned upon her: returning all Company property; complying
with her post termination obligations under this Agreement and the Proprietary Information, Inventions, and Non-Competition Agreement between the Executive
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and the Company; and complying with the Release including without limitation any non-disparagement and confidentiality provisions contained therein. Executive
shall not be eligible for any severance payments and benefits if either the Executive or the Company wishes to renew this Agreement on different terms than those
contained herein.
3. Compensation and Benefits .
3.1 Salary . Executive will receive for Executive’s services to be rendered under this Agreement an initial annualized base salary at the rate of
$340,000 per year, subject to annual review and adjustment by the Company in the discretion of the Board, payable subject to standard federal and state payroll
withholding requirements in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll practices (“ Base Salary ”).
3.2 Incentive Compensation . In addition to Executive’s Base Salary, the Executive shall be eligible during the term of this Agreement for such bonus
payments and/or equity grants as awarded to the Executive by the Board.
3.3 Policies and Fringe Benefits . The employment relationship between the parties shall also be subject to the Company’s personnel policies and
procedures as they may be interpreted, adopted, revised or deleted from time to time in the Company’s sole discretion. The Executive will be eligible to participate
on the same basis as other executive level employees in the Company’s benefit plans in effect from time to time during her employment. All matters of eligibility
for coverage or benefits under any benefit plan shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of such plan. The Company reserves the right to change, alter,
or terminate any benefit plan in its sole discretion. While this Agreement is in effect, the Company will provide the Executive with life insurance, for which the
Executive may designate the beneficiary or beneficiaries in an amount of $150,000, and long-term disability insurance.
3.4 Reimbursement of Certain Expenses . The Company will reimburse Executive for reasonable business expenses in accordance with the Company’s
expense reimbursement policies.
4. Termination of Employment . Either Executive or the Company may terminate the employment relationship at any time, for any reason, in accordance
with this Section 4.
4.1 Termination for Cause . At the election of the Company, the employment relationship may be terminated for Cause upon written notice by the
Company to Executive specifying the provision or provisions of this Section 4.1 upon which the decision to terminate is based. For the purposes of this Section 4.1,
“Cause” for termination shall be deemed to exist upon the occurrence of any of the following:
(a) a good faith finding by the Company that Executive has engaged in gross negligence or gross misconduct that is materially injurious to the
Company;
(b) Executive’s conviction of a felony or crime involving fraud or embezzlement of Company property;
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(c) Executive’s material breach of this Agreement which, if curable, has not been cured by Executive within 60 days after she shall have received
written notice from the Company stating with reasonable specificity the nature of such breach;
(d) material breach of fiduciary duty; or
(e) refusal to follow or implement a clear and reasonable directive of the Board as a whole, or an officer of the Company, provided that such directive
is ethical and legal and which, if curable, has not been cured by Executive within 60 days after she shall have received written notice from the Company stating
with reasonable specificity the nature of such refusal.
4.2 Termination by the Company Without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason . At the election of the Company it may terminate Executive’s
employment for reasons other than Cause, death or Disability, at any time upon written notice by the Company to Executive. The Executive may resign from
Executive’s employment for “Good Reason” within sixty (60) days after the occurrence of one of the events specified below, by giving prior written notice,
provided that Executive has not consented in writing to one of the specified events or been notified previously of the Company’s intention to terminate Executive’s
employment. As used in this Agreement Good Reason shall mean:
(a) The assignment to Executive of any duties or responsibilities which result in the material diminution of Executive’s position;
(b) a 5% or greater reduction by the Company in Executive’s annual Base Salary;
(c) a material change in the geographic location at which the Executive is required to perform services; or
(d) material breach by the Company of any material provision of this Agreement ; provided however , that any actions taken by the Company to
accommodate a disability of the Executive or pursuant to the Family and Medical Leave Act shall not be a Good Reason for purposes of this Agreement.
Notwithstanding the occurrence of any of the events enumerated in Section 4.2 (a) through (d), such occurrence shall not be deemed to constitute Good Reason if,
within 30 days after the giving by Executive of notice of the occurrence or existence of an event or circumstance specified above, such event or circumstance has
been fully corrected (provided that such right of correction by the Company shall only apply to the first such notice given by Executive). In the absence of such
correction, Executive’s resignation shall be effective thirty (30) days following the Executive’s notice.
4.3 Death or Disability . The Executive’s employment will terminate upon the death or determination of disability of Executive. As used in this
Agreement, the determination of “disability” shall occur when the Executive is unable due to a physical or mental condition to perform the essential functions of
her position with or without reasonable accommodation for 90 consecutive days, or 180 days in the aggregate whether or not consecutive, during any 360-day
period, or based on the written certification by a licensed physician of the likely continuation of such condition for such period. A determination of disability shall
be made by a physician satisfactory to both Executive and the Company, provided that if Executive and the Company do
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not agree on a physician, Executive and the Company shall each select a physician and these two together shall select a third physician, whose determination as to
disability shall be binding on all parties. This definition shall be interpreted and applied consistent with the Americans with Disabilities Act, the Family and
Medical Leave Act, and other applicable law.
4.4 Termination by Executive without Good Reason . At the election of Executive, she may terminate employment upon not less than 30 days prior
written notice by Executive to the Company.
5. Effect of Termination .
5.1 General; Termination for Cause or by the Executive Without Good Reason . In the event that Executive’s employment is terminated for any
reason, the Company shall pay to Executive the compensation and benefits, including payment for accrued but untaken vacation days, payable to Executive through
the last day of Executive’s actual employment by the Company. If the termination is by the Company for Cause pursuant to Section 4.1 or at the election of
Executive pursuant to Section 4.4, the Company shall have no further obligations under this Agreement.
5.2 Termination by the Company Without Cause or by the Executive for Good Reason .
(a) Employee shall not receive any of the benefits pursuant to this Section 5.2 unless she executes a general release in favor of the Company, in a form
acceptable to the Company and substantially similar to the form attached hereto as Schedule B ( the “Release”) within the consideration period specified therein
(the “Release Review Period”) and until the Release becomes effective and can no longer be revoked by Employee under its terms. Employee’s ability to receive
benefits pursuant to this Section 5.2 is further conditioned upon her: returning all Company property; complying with her post termination obligations under this
Agreement and the Proprietary Information, Inventions and Non-Competition Agreement; and complying with the Release including without limitation any nondisparagement and confidentiality provisions contained therein.
(b) In the event that Executive’s employment is terminated pursuant to Section 4.2 by the Company without Cause or by the Executive for Good
Reason, the Company shall pay to Executive as severance twelve months of her annual Base Salary then in effect, together with an additional amount calculated by
dividing by 365 the number of days employed in the year of termination and multiplying that number by the amount of the Executive’s previous year’s bonus (if
any), such amount to be paid in one lump sum on the date the Release becomes effective, subject to standard payroll deductions and withholdings, provided,
however, that if the Release Review Period begins in one tax year and ends in a later tax year, the payments under this Section 5.2(b) will be made following the
date that the Release is effective that occurs in the later tax year . Additionally, if Executive timely elects and remains eligible for continued coverage under
COBRA, the Company, as part of this Agreement, will pay that portion of Executive’s COBRA premiums it was paying prior to the Separation Date for twelve
(12) months.
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(c) In the event Executive’s employment is terminated pursuant to Section 4.2, and not for Cause, death or Disability, all unvested equity awards shall
become fully vested, all unvested stock options shall become fully vested and exercisable and any ISO’s issued to Executive will automatically convert to a nonqualified options on the 91 st day following termination, provided it has not been exercised, subject to the terms of the applicable stock plan and option agreement.
(d) Termination for Death or Disability . In the event that Executive’s employment is terminated by death or because of Disability pursuant to
Section 4.3, in addition to the payment of accrued salary and unused vacation provided in Section 5.1, the Company shall pay to Executive’s estate or to Executive,
as the case may be, compensation which would otherwise be payable to Executive through the end of the month in which such termination occurs, and payment for
any accrued but untaken vacation days.
5.3 Code Sections 409A and 280G .
(a) In the event that the payments or benefits set forth in Section 5.2 of this Agreement constitute “non-qualified deferred compensation” subject to
Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), then the following conditions apply to such payments or benefits:
(i) Any termination of Executive’s employment triggering payment of benefits under Section 5 must constitute a “separation from service”
under Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code and Treas. Reg. §1.409A-1(h) before distribution of such benefits can commence. To the extent that the
termination of Executive’s employment does not constitute a separation of service under Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code and Treas. Reg.
§1.409A-1(h) (as the result of further services that are reasonably anticipated to be provided by Executive to Company at the time Executive’s
employment terminates), any such payments under Section 5 that constitute deferred compensation under Section 409A of the Code shall be delayed
until after the date of a subsequent event constituting a separation of service under Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code and Treas. Reg. §1.409A1(h). For purposes of clarification, this Section 5.3(a) shall not cause any forfeiture of benefits on Executive’s part, but shall only act as a delay until
such time as a “separation from service” occurs.
(ii) Notwithstanding any other provision with respect to the timing of payments under Section 5.2 if, at the time of Executive’s termination, Executive
is deemed to be a “specified employee” of Company (within the meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code), then limited only to the extent
necessary to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code, any payments to which Executive may become entitled under Section 5
which are subject to Section 409A of the Code (and not otherwise exempt from its application) shall be withheld until the first (1 st ) business day of
the seventh (7 th ) month following the termination of Executive’s employment, at which time Executive shall be paid an aggregate amount equal to
the accumulated, but unpaid, payments otherwise due to Executive under the terms of Section 5.
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(b) It is intended that each installment of the payments and benefits provided under Section 5 of this Agreement shall be treated as a separate
“payment” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code. Neither Company nor Executive shall have the right to accelerate or defer the delivery of any such payments
or benefits except to the extent specifically permitted or required by Section 409A of the Code.
(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement shall be interpreted and at all times administered in a
manner that avoids the inclusion of compensation in income under Section 409A of the Code, or the payment of increased taxes, excise taxes or other penalties
under Section 409A of the Code. The parties intend this Agreement to be in compliance with Section 409A of the Code. Executive acknowledges and agrees that
Company does not guarantee the tax treatment or tax consequences associated with any payment or benefit arising under this Agreement, including but not limited
to consequences related to Section 409A of the Code.
(d) If any payment or benefit Executive would receive under Section 5.4 of this Agreement, when combined with any other payment or benefit
Executive receives pursuant to a Change of Control (for purposes of this section, a “Payment”) would: (i) constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of
Section 280G the Code; and (ii) but for this sentence, be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “Excise Tax”), then such Payment shall
be either: (A) the full amount of such Payment; or (B) such lesser amount (with cash payments being reduced before equity compensation) as would result in no
portion of the Payment being subject to the Excise Tax, whichever of the foregoing amounts, taking into account the applicable federal, state and local
employments taxes, income taxes, and the Excise Tax, results in Executive’s receipt, on an after-tax basis, of the greater amount of the Payment notwithstanding
that all or some portion of the Payment may be subject to the Excise Tax.
5.4 Effect of a Change in Control .
(a) In the event either (i) Executive’s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company for reasons other than death or Disability (as
defined above) within three months before or 12 months following a Change in Control (as defined below) or (ii) Executive terminates her employment for Good
Reason (as defined above) within three months before or 12 months following a Change in Control (as defined below), or (iii) the Executive terminates her
employment for any reason within one (1) month following a Change in Control (as defined below), then provided that Executive executes the Release (as defined
in Section 5.2) within the consideration period specified therein and it becomes effective and can no longer be revoked by Executive under its terms, and provided
further that Executive returns all Company property’ complies with her post termination obligations under this Agreement and the Proprietary Information,
Inventions and Non-Competition Agreement, and complies with the Release including without limitation any non-disparagement and confidentiality provisions
contained therein, Executive shall be entitled to the payments, equity acceleration and benefits described in this Section 5.4 in lieu of, and not in addition to, the
benefits provided for in Section 5.2. The Company shall pay to the Executive, in lieu of the severance described in Section 5.2(a), severance equivalent to 18
months of her annual Base Salary then in effect, together with an additional amount calculated by dividing by 365 the number of days employed in the year of
termination and multiplying that number by the amount of the Executive’s previous year’s bonus
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(if any), paid in a lump sum on the eighth day following the date the Release becomes effective, subject to standard payroll deductions and withholdings, provided,
however, that if the Release Review Period begins in one tax year and ends in a later tax year, the payments under this Section 5.4(a) will be made following the
date that the Release is effective that occurs in the later tax year. On the date of termination of Executive’s employment, any unvested equity awards granted to the
Executive shall immediately vest and, in the case of stock options, become exercisable. Additionally, if Executive timely elects and remains eligible for continued
coverage under COBRA, the Company, as part of this Agreement, will pay that portion of Executive’s COBRA premiums it was paying prior to the Separation
Date for eighteen (18) months.
(b) Definition of Change in Control . For purposes of this Agreement, a “Change in Control” means the occurrence of any of the following events:
(i) a sale, lease or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company;
(ii) a consolidation or merger of the Company with or into any other corporation or other entity or person, or any other corporate reorganization,
in which the stockholders of the Company immediately prior to such consolidation, merger or reorganization, own less than fifty percent (50%) of the
outstanding voting power of the surviving entity (and its parent) following the consolidation, merger or reorganization; or
(iii) any transaction (or series of related transactions involving a person or entity, or a group of affiliated persons or entities) in which in excess
of fifty percent (50%) of the Company’s outstanding voting power is transferred.
Notwithstanding the above, a Change in Control shall not be deemed to occur on account of the sale or acquisition of the Company’s capital stock by institutional
investors or venture capital firms for the primary purpose of obtaining financing for the Company.
6. No Mitigation . Executive shall have no obligation to mitigate any amount of any payment or benefit contemplated by this agreement.
7. Cooperation . For one month following termination of the Executive’s employment for any reason, and, additionally, for the number of months for which
the Executive is receiving severance following termination, she will reasonably cooperate with the Company in all matters relating to the winding up of her pending
work including, but not limited to, any litigation in which the Company is involved, and the orderly transfer of any such pending work to such other employees as
may be designated by the Company. The Company will reimburse the Executive for any out-of-pocket expenses associated with such cooperation.
8. Insurance and Indemnification . The Company shall purchase a directors and officers insurance policy for which Executive shall receive usual and
customary coverage for all acts undertaken as an officer of the Company. In addition, the Company shall indemnify Executive to the fullest extent permitted by its
charter, bylaws and by law for all costs, charges, damages, fees including without limitation, attorneys fees or other expenses that Executive incurs or potentially
may incur in connection with Executives’ duties herewith and also enter into an indemnification agreement with Executive.
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9. Pronouns . Whenever the context may require, any pronouns used in this Agreement shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine or neuter forms,
and the singular forms of nouns and pronouns shall include the plural, and vice versa.
10. Complete Agreement . This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between Executive and the Company with regard to the subject matter hereof.
This Agreement is the complete, final, and exclusive embodiment of their agreement with regard to this subject matter and supersedes any prior oral discussions or
written communications and agreements. This Agreement is entered into without reliance on any promise or representation other than those expressly contained
herein, and it cannot be modified or amended except in writing signed by Executive and an authorized officer of the Company. The parties have entered into a
separate Proprietary Information, Inventions, and Non-Competition Agreement and have or may enter into separate equity grant agreements. These separate
agreements govern other aspects of the relationship between the parties, have or may have provisions that survive termination of the Executive’s employment under
this Agreement, may be amended or superseded by the parties without regard to this agreement and are enforceable according to their terms without regard to the
enforcement provision of this Agreement. In the event of a conflict between this Agreement and any other agreement between the Executive and the Company, this
Agreement shall control.
11. Amendment . This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument executed by both the Company and Executive.
12. Governing Law . This Agreement shall be construed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of New York and any action
arising from or relating to this Agreement shall be commenced in the Federal or State courts located in New York County.
13. Notices . Any notices required hereunder to be in writing shall be deemed effectively given: (a) upon personal delivery to the party to be notified;
(b) when sent by electronic mail, telex or confirmed facsimile if sent during normal business hours on the day sent, and, if not, then on the next business day;
(c) five (5) days after having been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or (d) one (1) day after deposit with a nationally
recognized overnight courier, specifying next day delivery, with written verification of receipt. All communications shall be sent to the Company at its primary
office location and to Employee at Employee’s address as listed on the Company payroll, or at such other address as the Company or the Employee may designate
by ten (10) days advance written notice to the other.
14. Successors and Assigns .
14.1 Assumption by Successors . The Company shall require any successor (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or
otherwise and whether or not after a Change in Control) to all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company to assume in writing prior to such
succession and to agree to perform its obligations under this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform
it if no such succession had taken place. Successions by virtue of the sale of stock shall be governed by operation of law.
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14.2 Successor Benefits . This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of both parties and their respective successors and assigns,
including any corporation into which the Company may be merged or which may succeed to its assets or business, provided, however , that the obligations of
Executive are personal and shall not be assigned by Executive.
15. Miscellaneous .
15.1 No Waiver . No delay or omission by the Company in exercising any right under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver of that or any other
right. A waiver or consent given by the Company on any one occasion shall be effective only in that instance and shall not be construed as a bar or waiver of any
right on any other occasion.
15.2 Captions . The captions of the sections of this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and in no way define, limit or affect the scope or
substance of any section of this Agreement.
15.3 Severability . In case any provision of this Agreement shall be invalid, illegal or otherwise unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability
of the remaining provisions shall in no way be affected or impaired thereby.
15.4 Counterparts . This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which together
shall constitute one and the same instrument.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year set forth above.
I NTRA - CELLULAR T HERAPIES , I NC .

E XECUTIVE

By: /s/ Lawrence Hineline
L AWRENCE H INELINE
C HIEF F INANCIAL OFFICER

/s/ Kimberly Vanover
K IMBERLY V ANOVER
S ENIOR V ICE P RESIDENT , C LINICAL D EVELOPMENT
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S CHEDULE A
P ERMITTED A CTIVITIES
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SCHEDULE B
R ELEASE OF C LAIMS
This Release of Claims ( Release ”) is made as of
Company ”)(together, the “ Parties ”).

by and between

(“ the Executive ”) and Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. (the “

1. In consideration for Executive’s execution of this Release, the Company will make a severance payment to Executive in the amount set forth in the
Employment Agreement between the Executive and the Company. This amount will be paid following the Effective Date (as defined below) in accordance with the
Employment Agreement, provided the Company has received the executed Agreement from Executive on or before that date. This payment will be subject to
standard payroll deductions and withholdings. If Executive timely elects and remains eligible for continued coverage under COBRA, the Company will pay that
portion of Executive’s COBRA premiums it was paying prior to the Separation Date for the time period set forth in the Employment Agreement between the
Executive and the Company.
2. Executive hereby releases, acquits and forever discharges the Company, its parents and subsidiaries, and their officers, directors, agents, servants,
employees, stockholders, successors, assigns and affiliates, of and from any and all claims, liabilities, demands, causes of action, costs, expenses, attorneys fees,
damages, indemnities and obligations of every kind and nature, in law, equity, or otherwise, which were known or through reasonable diligence should have been
known, arising out of or in any way related to Releases, events, acts or conduct at any time prior to the date Executive executes this Settlement Release, including,
but not limited to: all such claims and demands directly or indirectly arising out of or in any way connected with Executive’s employment with the Company,
including but not limited to, claims of intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress, any and all tort claims for personal injury, claims or demands
related to salary, bonuses, commissions, stock, stock options, or any other ownership interests in the Company, vacation pay, fringe benefits, expense
reimbursements, severance pay, or any other form of compensation; claims pursuant to any federal, state or local law or cause of action including, but not limited
to, any and all claims and causes of action that the Company, its parents and subsidiaries, and its and their respective officers, directors, agents, servants,
employees, attorneys, shareholders, successors, assigns or affiliates:
•

has violated its personnel policies, handbooks, contracts of employment, or covenants of good faith and fair dealing;

•

has discriminated against her on the basis of age, race, color, sex (including sexual harassment), national origin, ancestry, disability, religion, sexual
orientation, marital status, parental status, source of income, entitlement to benefits, any union activities or other protected category in violation of any
local, state or federal law, constitution, ordinance, or regulation, including but not limited to: Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended; 42
U.S.C. § 1981, as amended; the Equal Pay Act; the Americans With Disabilities Act; the Family and Medical Leave Act; the New York State Law
Human Rights Law; the New York City Human Rights Law; the Employee Retirement Income Security Act; Section 510; and the National Labor
Relations Act;
11

•

has violated any statute, public policy or common law (including but not limited to claims for retaliatory discharge; negligent hiring, retention or
supervision; defamation; intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress and/or mental anguish; intentional interference with contract;
negligence; detrimental reliance; loss of consortium to her or any member of her family and/or promissory estoppel).

Excluded from this Release are any claims which cannot be waived by law. Executive is waiving, however, her right to any monetary recovery should any
governmental agency or entity, such as the EEOC or the DOL, pursue any claims on her behalf. Executive acknowledges that she is knowingly and voluntarily
waiving and releasing any rights she may have under the ADEA, as amended. Executive also acknowledges that (i) the consideration given to her in exchange for
the waiver and release in this Release is in addition to anything of value to which she was already entitled, and (ii) that she has been paid for all time worked, have
received all the leave, leaves of absence and leave benefits and protections for which she is eligible, and have not suffered any on-the-job injury for which she has
not already filed a claim. Executive further acknowledges that she has been advised by this writing that: (a) her waiver and release do not apply to any rights or
claims that may arise after the execution date of this Release; (b) she has been advised hereby that she has the right to consult with an attorney prior to executing
this Release; (c) she has twenty-one (21) days to consider this Release (although Executive may choose to voluntarily execute this Release earlier and if she does
she will sign the Consideration Period waiver below); (d) she has seven (7) days following her execution of this Release to revoke the Release; and (e) this Release
shall not be effective until the date upon which the revocation period has expired unexercised (the “Effective Date”), which shall be the eighth day after Executive
executes this Release.
3. On or before the last day of Executive’s employment, Executive agrees to return to the Company all Company documents (and all copies thereof) and
other Company property that Executive has had in her possession at any time, including, but not limited to, Company files, notes, drawings, records, business plans
and forecasts, financial information, specifications, computer-recorded information, tangible property (including, but not limited to, computers), credit cards, entry
cards, identification badges and keys; and, any materials of any kind that contain or embody any proprietary or confidential information of the Company (and all
reproductions thereof). Executive shall coordinate the return of Company property with Allen Fienberg, Vice President of Business Development or an
appropriated officer designated by the Board of Directors.
4. Executive further agrees that both during and after Executive’s employment Executive acknowledges her continuing obligations under her Proprietary
Information, Inventions and Non-Competition Agreement not to use or disclose any confidential or proprietary information of the Company and to refrain from
certain solicitation and competitive activities.
5. It is understood that Executive shall hold the provisions of this Release in strictest confidence and shall not publicize or disclose it in any manner
whatsoever; provided, however , that: (a) Executive may disclose this Release to her immediate family; (b) Executive may disclose this Release in confidence to
her attorney, accountant, auditor, tax preparer, and financial advisor; and (c) Executive may disclose this Release insofar as such disclosure may be required by law.
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6. Executive agrees not to disparage the Company, and the Company’s attorneys, directors, managers, partners, employees, agents and affiliates, in any
manner likely to be harmful to them or their business, business reputation or personal reputation; provided that Executive may respond accurately and fully to any
question, inquiry or request for information when required by legal process.
7. This Release does not constitute an admission by the Company of any wrongful action or violation of any federal, state, or local statute, or common law
rights, including those relating to the provisions of any law or statute concerning employment actions, or of any other possible or claimed violation of law or rights.
8. Executive agrees that upon any breach of this Release Executive will forfeit all amounts paid or owing to Executive under this Release. Executive further
acknowledges that it may be impossible to assess the damages caused by violation of the terms of paragraphs 3, 4, 5 and 6 of this Release and further agree that any
threatened or actual violation or breach of those paragraphs of this Release will constitute immediate and irreparable injury to the Company. Executive therefore
agrees that any such breach of this Release is a material breach of this Release, and, in addition to any and all other damages and remedies available to the
Company upon Executive’s breach of this Release, the Company shall be entitled to an injunction to prevent Executive from violating or breaching this Release.
Executive agrees that if the Company is successful in whole or part in any legal or equitable action against Executive under this Release, Executive agree to pay all
of the costs, including reasonable attorney’s fees, incurred by the Company in enforcing the terms of this Release.
9. This Release constitutes the complete, final and exclusive embodiment of the entire Release between the Parties with regard to this subject matter. It is
entered into without reliance on any promise or representation, written or oral, other than those expressly contained herein, and it supersedes any other such
promises, warranties or representations. This Release may not be modified or amended except in a writing signed by both Executive and a duly authorized officer
of the Company. This Release will bind the heirs, personal representatives, successors and assigns of the Parties, and inure to the benefit of the Parties, their heirs,
successors and assigns. If any provision of this Release is determined to be invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, this determination will not affect any other
provision of this Release and the provision in question will be modified by the court so as to be rendered enforceable. This Release will be deemed to have been
entered into and will be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of New York as applied to contracts made and to be performed entirely
within New York.
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I N W ITNESS W HEREOF , the Parties have duly authorized and caused this Agreement to be executed as follows:
I NTRA -C ELLULAR T HERAPIES , I NC .

[NAME]

By:
[N AME ]

Date

Date
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Exhibit 10.11
INTRA-CELLULAR THERAPIES, INC.
EMPLOYEE PROPRIETARY INFORMATION,
INVENTIONS, AND NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT
In consideration of my employment or continued employment by I NTRA - CELLULAR T HERAPIES , I NC . (the “ Company ”), and the compensation now
and hereafter paid to me, I hereby agree as follows:
1.

N ONDISCLOSURE .
1.1 Recognition of Company’s Rights; Nondisclosure. At all times during my employment and thereafter, I will hold in strictest confidence
and will not disclose, use, lecture upon or publish any of the Company’s Proprietary Information (defined below), except as such disclosure, use or
publication may be required in connection with my work for the Company, or unless an officer of the Company expressly authorizes such in writing. I
will obtain Company’s written approval before publishing or submitting for publication any material (written, verbal, or otherwise) that relates to my
work at Company and/or incorporates any Proprietary Information. I hereby assign to the Company any rights I may have or acquire in such
Proprietary Information and recognize that all Proprietary Information shall be the sole property of the Company and its assigns. I have been informed
and acknowledge that the unauthorized taking of the Company’s trade secrets may subject me to civil and/or criminal penalties.
1.2 Proprietary Information. The term “ Proprietary Information ” shall mean any and all confidential and/or proprietary knowledge, data
or information of the Company. By way of illustration but not limitation, “ Proprietary Information ” includes (a) tangible and intangible
information relating to antibodies and other biological materials, cell lines, samples of assay components, media and/or cell lines and procedures and
formulations for producing any such assay components, media and/or cell lines, formulations, products, processes, know-how, designs, formulas,
methods, developmental or experimental work, clinical data, improvements, discoveries, plans for research, new products ( “Inventions” );
(b) marketing and selling, business plans, budgets and unpublished financial statements, licenses, prices and costs, suppliers and customers; and
(c) information regarding the skills and compensation of other employees of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, it is understood that, at all
such times, I am free to use information which is generally known in the trade or industry, which is not gained as result of a breach of this Agreement,
and my own, skill, knowledge, know-how and experience to whatever extent and in whichever way I wish.
1.3 Third Party Information. I understand, in addition, that the Company has received and in the future will receive from third parties
confidential or proprietary information (“ Third Party Information ”) subject to a duty on the Company’s part to maintain the confidentiality of such
information and to use it only for certain limited purposes. During the term of my employment and thereafter, I will hold Third Party Information in
the strictest confidence and will not disclose to anyone (other than Company personnel who need to know such information in connection with their
work for the Company) or use, except in connection with my work for the Company, Third Party Information unless expressly authorized by an officer
of the Company in writing.

1.4 No Improper Use of Information of Prior Employers and Others. During my employment by the Company I will not improperly use or
disclose any confidential information or trade secrets, if any, of any former employer or any other person to whom I have an obligation of
confidentiality, and I will not bring onto the premises of the Company any unpublished documents or any property belonging to any former employer
or any other person to whom I have an obligation of confidentiality unless consented to in writing by that former employer or person. I will use in the
performance of my duties only information which is generally known and used by persons with training and experience comparable to my own, which
is common knowledge in the industry or otherwise legally in the public domain, or which is otherwise provided or developed by the Company.
2.

A SSIGNMENT OF I NVENTIONS .
2.1 Proprietary Rights. The term “ Proprietary Rights ” shall mean all trade secret, patent, copyright, mask work and other intellectual
property rights or “moral rights” throughout the world. “Moral rights” refers to any rights to claim authorship of an Invention or to object to or prevent
the modification of any Invention, or to withdraw from circulation or control the publication or distribution of any Invention, and any similar right,
existing under judicial or statutory law of any country in the world, or under any treaty, regardless of whether or not such right is denominated or
generally referred to as a “moral right.”
2.2 Prior Inventions. Inventions, if any, patented or unpatented, which I made prior to the commencement of my employment with the
Company are excluded from the scope of this Agreement. To preclude any possible uncertainty, I have set forth on Exhibit A (Previous Inventions)
attached hereto a complete list of all Inventions that I have, alone or jointly with others, conceived, developed or reduced to practice or caused to be
conceived, developed or reduced to practice prior to the commencement of my employment with the Company, that I consider to be my property or
the property of third parties and that I wish to have excluded from the scope of this Agreement (collectively referred to as “ Prior Inventions ”). If
disclosure of any such Prior Invention would cause me to violate any prior confidentiality agreement, I understand that I am not to list such Prior
Inventions in Exhibit A but am only to disclose a cursory name for each such invention, a listing of the party(ies) to whom it belongs and the fact that
full disclosure as to such inventions has not been made for that reason. A space is provided on Exhibit A for such purpose. If no such disclosure is
attached, I represent that there are no Prior Inventions. If, in the course of my employment with the Company, I incorporate a Prior Invention into a
Company product, process or machine, the Company is hereby granted and shall have a nonexclusive, royalty-free, irrevocable, perpetual, worldwide
license (with rights to sublicense through multiple tiers of sublicensees) to make, have made, modify, use and sell such Prior Invention.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, I agree that I will not incorporate, or permit to be incorporated, Prior Inventions in any Company Inventions without
the Company’s prior written consent.
2.3 Assignment of Inventions. Subject to Sections 2.4, and 2.6, I hereby assign and agree to assign in the future (when any such Inventions or
Proprietary Rights are first reduced to practice or first fixed in a tangible medium, as applicable) to the Company all my right, title and interest in and
to any and all Inventions (and all Proprietary Rights with respect thereto) whether or not patentable or registrable under copyright or similar statutes,
made or conceived or reduced to practice or learned by me, either alone or jointly with others, during the period of my employment with the
Company. Inventions assigned to the Company, or to a third party as directed by the Company pursuant to this Section 2, are hereinafter referred to as
“ Company Inventions .”

2.4 Unassigned Inventions. I recognize that this Agreement will not be deemed to require assignment of any Invention that was developed
entirely on my own time without using the Company’s equipment, supplies, facilities, or trade secrets and neither related to the Company’s actual or
anticipated business, research or development, nor resulted from work performed by me for the Company.
2.5 Obligation to Keep Company Informed. During the period of my employment and for six (6) months after termination of my employment
with the Company, I will promptly disclose to the Company fully and in writing all Inventions authored, conceived or reduced to practice by me,
either alone or jointly with others. In addition, I will promptly disclose to the Company all patent applications filed by me or on my behalf within a
year after termination of employment. The Company will keep in confidence and will not use for any purpose or disclose to third parties without my
consent any confidential information disclosed in writing to the Company pursuant to this Agreement.
2.6 Government or Third Party. I also agree to assign all my right, title and interest in and to any particular Company Invention to a third
party, including without limitation the United States, as directed by the Company.
2.7 Works for Hire. I acknowledge that all original works of authorship which are made by me (solely or jointly with others) within the scope
of my employment and which are protectable by copyright are “works made for hire,” pursuant to United States Copyright Act (17 U.S.C.,
Section 101).
2.8 Enforcement of Proprietary Rights. I will assist the Company in every proper way to obtain, and from time to time enforce, United States
and foreign Proprietary Rights relating to Company Inventions in any and all countries. To that end I will execute, verify and deliver such documents
and perform such other acts (including appearances as a witness) as the Company may reasonably request for use in applying for, obtaining,
perfecting, evidencing, sustaining and enforcing such Proprietary Rights and the assignment thereof. In addition, I will execute, verify and deliver
assignments of such Proprietary Rights to the Company or its designee. My obligation to assist the Company with respect to Proprietary Rights
relating to such Company Inventions in any and all countries shall continue beyond the termination of my employment, but the Company shall
compensate me at a reasonable rate after my termination for the time actually spent by me at the Company’s request on such assistance.
In the event the Company is unable for any reason, after reasonable effort, to secure my signature on any document needed in connection with the actions specified
in the preceding paragraph, I hereby irrevocably designate and appoint the Company and its duly authorized officers and agents as my agent and attorney in fact,
which appointment is coupled with an interest, to act for and in my behalf to execute, verify and file any such documents and to do all other lawfully permitted acts
to further the purposes of the preceding paragraph with the same legal force and effect as if executed by me. I hereby waive and quitclaim to the Company any and
all claims, of any nature whatsoever, which I now or may hereafter have for infringement of any Proprietary Rights assigned hereunder to the Company.
3.

R ECORDS . I agree to keep and maintain adequate and current records (in the form of notes, sketches, drawings and in any other form that may be
required by the Company) of all Proprietary Information developed by me and all Inventions made by me during the period of my employment at the
Company, which records shall be available to and remain the sole property of the Company at all times.

4.

D UTY OF L OYALTY D URING E MPLOYMENT . I understand that my employment with the Company requires my full attention and effort. I agree
that during the period of my employment by the Company I will not, without the Company’s express written consent, engage in any employment or
business activity other than for the Company, including but not limited to employment or business activity which is competitive with, or would
otherwise conflict with, my employment by the Company.

5.

N O S OLICITATION OF E MPLOYEES , C ONSULTANTS , C ONTRACTORS OR C USTOMERS . I agree that for the period of my employment by the
Company and for one (1) year after the date my employment by the Company ends for any reason, including but not limited to voluntary termination
by me or involuntary termination by the Company, I will not, either directly or through others, (i) solicit or attempt to solicit any employee of the
Company to end his or her relationship with the Company; and (ii) solicit any consultant, contractor, or customer of the Company, with whom I had
contact or whose identity I learned as a result of my employment with the Company to diminish or materially alter its relationship with the Company.

The parties agree that for purposes of this Agreement, a customer is any person or entity to which the Company has provided goods or services at any time
during the period commencing six (6) months prior to my employment with the Company and ending on the date my employment with the Company ends.
6.

N ON -C OMPETE P ROVISION . I agree that for the period of my employment with the Company, and for the period of one (1) year after the later of
(1) the date my employment ends for any reason, including but not limited to voluntary termination by me or involuntary termination by the Company;
or (2) the date a court of competent jurisdiction enters an order enforcing this provision, I will not provide services, similar to those I provided to the
Company, to any person or entity in competition (as defined below) with the Company. I acknowledge that this non-compete provision is limited to
the types of activities and services I provided in my employment with the Company.

At the present time, the Company engages in the research and discovery of genes and their function, and therefore entities and individuals which provide
similar products or services are defined as in competition with the Company. The parties understand that the scope and nature of my activities and services, and the
Company’s business, products or services, may change as the Company develops. The parties agree that the scope of this provision will change to cover any
changes in my activities or services, as well as any changes in the Company’s business, products or services, during my employment.
7.

N O C ONFLICTING A GREEMENT OR O BLIGATION . I represent that my performance of all the terms of this Agreement and as an employee of the
Company does not and will not breach any agreement or obligation of any kind made prior to my employment by the Company, including agreements
or obligations I may have with prior employers or entities for which I have provided services. I have not entered into, and I agree I will not enter into,
any agreement or obligation either written or oral in conflict herewith.

8.

R ETURN OF C OMPANY D OCUMENTS . When I leave the employ of the Company, I will deliver to the Company any and all drawings, notes,
memoranda, specifications, devices, formulas, and documents, together with all copies thereof, and any other material containing or disclosing any
Company Inventions, Third Party Information or Proprietary Information of the Company. I further agree that any property situated on the Company’s
premises and owned by the Company, including disks and other storage media, filing cabinets or other work areas, is subject to inspection by
Company personnel at any time with or without notice. Prior to leaving, I will cooperate with the Company in completing and signing the Company’s
termination statement.

9.

L EGAL AND E QUITABLE R EMEDIES . I recognize that in the course of employment with the Company, I will have access to Proprietary
Information, to Third Party Information, and to employees, consultants, contractors, clients, and customers of the Company. I also recognize that the
services I will be employed to provide are personal and unique. I understand that because of this the Company may sustain irreparable injury if I
violate this Agreement. In order to limit or prevent such irreparable injury, the Company shall have the right to enforce this Agreement and any of its
provisions by injunction, specific performance or other equitable relief, without bond and without prejudice to any other rights and remedies that the
Company may have for a breach of this Agreement.

10.

N OTICES . Any notices required or permitted hereunder shall be given to the appropriate party at the address specified below or at such other address
as the party shall specify in writing. Such notice shall be deemed given upon personal delivery to the appropriate address or if sent by certified or
registered mail, three (3) days after the date of mailing.

11.

N OTIFICATION OF N EW E MPLOYER . In the event that I leave the employ of the Company, I authorize the Company to provide notice of my rights
and obligations under this Agreement to my subsequent employer and to any other entity or person to whom I provide services.

12.

G ENERAL P ROVISIONS .
12.1 Governing Law; Consent to Personal Jurisdiction. This Agreement will be governed by and construed according to the laws of the State
of New York, as such laws are applied to agreements entered into and to be performed entirely within New York between New York residents. I
hereby expressly consent to the personal jurisdiction of the state and federal courts for New York County, New York in any lawsuit filed there against
me by Company arising from or related to this Agreement.
12.2 Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions, subsections, or sentences contained in this Agreement shall, for any reason, be
held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect the other provisions of this
Agreement, and this Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained herein. Moreover, if
any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall for any reason be held to be excessively broad as to duration, geographical scope,
activity or subject, it shall be construed by limiting and reducing it, so as to be enforceable to the extent compatible with the applicable law as it shall
then appear.
12.3 Successors and Assigns. This Agreement will be binding upon my heirs, executors, administrators and other legal representatives and will
be for the benefit of the Company, its successors, and its assigns.
12.4 Survival. The provisions of this Agreement shall survive the termination of my employment and the assignment of this Agreement by the
Company to any successor in interest or other assignee.
12.5 Employment At-Will. I agree and understand that I am employed at-will, and that nothing in this Agreement shall change this at-will
status or confer any right with respect to continuation of employment by the Company, nor shall it interfere in any way with my right or the
Company’s right to terminate my employment at any time, with or without cause.
12.6 Waiver. No waiver by the Company of any breach of this Agreement shall be a waiver of any preceding or succeeding breach. No waiver
by the Company of any right under this Agreement shall be construed as a waiver of any other right. The Company shall not be required to give notice
to enforce strict adherence to all terms of this Agreement.
12.7 Entire Agreement. The obligations pursuant to Sections 1 and 2 of this Agreement shall apply to any time during which I was previously
employed, or am in the future employed, by the Company as a consultant if no other agreement governs nondisclosure and assignment of inventions
during such period. This Agreement is the final, complete and exclusive agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and
supersedes and merges all prior discussions between us. No modification of or amendment to this Agreement, nor any waiver of any rights under this
Agreement, will be effective unless in writing and signed by the party to be charged. Any subsequent change or changes in my duties, salary or
compensation will not affect the validity or scope of this Agreement.

This Agreement shall be effective as of the first day of my employment with the Company, namely: November 4, 2015.
I HAVE READ THIS AGREEMENT CAREFULLY AND UNDERSTAND ITS TERMS . I HAVE COMPLETELY FILLED OUT E XHIBIT A TO THIS A GREEMENT
.
Dated: November 10, 2015
/s/ Robert Davis
(Signature)
Robert Davis
(Printed Name)
A CCEPTED AND A GREED T O :
I NTRA - CELLULAR T HERAPIES , I NC .
By:
Title:

/s/ Lawrence Hineline
V.P. Finance

430 E. 29 th St.
New York, NY
Dated:

November 5, 2015

Exhibit 14.1
INTRA-CELLULAR THERAPIES, INC.
CORPORATE CODE OF CONDUCT AND ETHICS
AND
WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY
Effective April 1, 2015
INTRODUCTION
This Corporate Code of Conduct and Ethics and Whistleblower Policy, referred to as the “Code,” is intended to provide our associates, as defined below,
with a clear understanding of the principles of business conduct and ethics that are expected of them and to aid them in making ethical and legal decisions when
conducting the company’s business and performing day-to-day duties. The standards set forth in the Code apply to us all. Every associate of the company must
acknowledge his or her review of, and agreement to comply with, the Code as a condition of his or her relationship with the company (see Appendix A attached
hereto). The term “associate” as used throughout the Code means (i) every full and part-time employee of the company and its subsidiaries, (ii) all members of the
company’s senior management, including the company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, and (iii) every member of the company’s Board of
Directors, even if such member is not employed by the company.

REPORTING VIOLATIONS UNDER THE CODE; ANTI-RETALIATION PLEDGE
It is our responsibility to conduct ourselves in an ethical business manner and also to ensure that others do the same. If any one of us violates these standards,
he or she can expect a disciplinary response, up to and including termination of any employment or other relationship with the company, and possibly other legal
action. If you are aware of any breach of the Code, you are obligated to report violations to the Corporate Compliance Officer, to any member of the Compliance
Committee, or to the anonymous Hotline that the company has retained to receive such reports, as described in more detail below. Through establishing a
confidential and anonymous option to accept and process such reports, we ensure that the good faith efforts of all of us to comply with the Code are not
undermined.
The Code contains a clear anti-retaliation pledge, meaning that if you in good faith report a violation of the Code by the company, or its agents acting on
behalf of the company, to the Hotline, the Corporate Compliance Officer or another member of the Compliance Committee, the company will undertake to protect
you from being fired, demoted, reprimanded or otherwise harmed for reporting the violation, even if the violation involves you, your supervisor, or senior
management of the company. Note, however, that while you will not be disciplined for reporting a violation, you may be subject to discipline with respect to the
underlying conduct or violation. You are entitled to make the report on a confidential and anonymous basis. To the extent an investigation must be initiated, the
company will keep confidential any report you make to the Corporate Compliance Officer or another member of the Compliance Committee to the extent required
by applicable law.

COMPLYING WITH THE CODE
The ultimate responsibility for maintaining our Code rests with each of us. As individuals of personal integrity, we can do no less than to behave in a way
that will continue to bring credit to ourselves and our company. Applying these standards to our business lives is an extension of the values by which we are known
as individuals and by which we want to be known as a company. To that end, the company has made the Code publicly available on its web site. It is our
responsibility to conduct ourselves in an ethical business manner and also to ensure that others do the same. If any one of us violates these standards, he or she can
expect a disciplinary response, up to and including termination of any employment or other relationship with the company, and possibly other legal action.
While it is impossible for this Code to describe every situation that may arise, the standards explained in this Code are guidelines that should govern our
conduct at all times. If you are confronted with situations not covered by this Code, or have questions regarding the matters that are addressed in the Code, you are
urged to consult with the Corporate Compliance Officer, a member of the Compliance Committee, or another member of management. Furthermore, the policies
set forth in this Code are in addition to other policies of the company that associates must comply with, including those set forth in the company’s Employee
Handbook and the other policies referenced in the Code. Copies of these other policies are available from the Human Resources Department or on the company’s
Intranet.
The provisions of the Code regarding the actions the company will take are guidelines which the company intends to follow. There may be circumstances,
however, that in the company’s judgment require different measures or actions and in such cases it may act accordingly while still attempting to fulfill the
principles underlying this Code.
In the case of any inconsistency between the provisions set out in this Code and the rules contained in any mandatory text, laws or interpretive case law
applicable to the company and its associates, the latter prevail. In no instance should this Code be interpreted as modifying, amending or otherwise changing any
legal text and related legal precedents that apply to the company and its associates.
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I.

WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY
A. Obligation to Report Violations or Suspected Violations

Any associate of the company having any information or knowledge regarding the existence of any violation or suspected violation of the Code has a duty
to report the violation or suspected violation to the Whistleblower Hotline (the contact details for which are below), the Corporate Compliance Officer, or any other
member of the Compliance Committee. Associates are also encouraged to raise any issues or concerns regarding the company’s business or operations. Failure to
report suspected or actual violations is itself a violation of the Code and may subject the associate to disciplinary action, up to and including termination of
employment or legal action. Reports may be made on a completely confidential and anonymous basis. To the extent any investigation is necessitated by a report,
the company will endeavor to keep the proceedings and the identity of the reporting associate confidential to the fullest extent required by applicable law.
Associates are encouraged to pursue all internal reporting channels through completion and reasonably await and consider the results of all internal
investigations prior to reporting matters outside of the company. We have instituted the procedures described in this Code, including procedures to make
anonymous submissions (a form of internal report), to facilitate the use of internal investigations.
Individuals should also consider leaving, but are not required to leave, their name or a contact number when submitting a report. Such information may
facilitate a more thorough and efficient investigation. The Corporate Compliance Officer will strive to maintain the integrity and confidentiality of all compliancerelated communications. However, in certain circumstances, the identity of the person reporting the issue may become known or may need to be revealed,
particularly if federal or state enforcement authorities become involved in the investigation. The company cannot guarantee confidentiality when material evidence
of a violation of the law is disclosed or if the person is identified during the normal course of an investigation.
B. Whistleblower Compliance Hotline for Confidential and Anonymous Reporting
If you are aware of any breach of the Code, you are obligated to report violations to the Corporate Compliance Officer, to any member of the Compliance
Committee, or to the anonymous Whistleblower Compliance Hotline (the “Hotline”). The Hotline is operated by a third party service provider, which the company
has retained to receive such reports, the contact details for which are below. You may make such reports on a completely anonymous and confidential basis by
contacting the Hotline. Associates may report to the Hotline any concerns an associate may have with respect to the company, including, but not limited to,
concerns with the company’s business or operations, suspected violations of the Code, securities or antifraud laws, accounting issues, any law relating to fraud
against shareholders, or any other issue concerning the company and their employment with the company. Reports made to the Hotline will, in turn, be provided
directly to the Audit Committee on an anonymous and confidential basis. The Hotline may be reached 24 hours a day, 7 days a week at the following toll-free
number and internet address:
Contact Information for the Whistleblower Compliance Hotline:
Toll-Free Telephone Number
Compliance Hotline E-mail Address
Compliance Hotline Internet Address

866-865-9483
INTY@openboard.info
http://www.openboard.info/INTY/
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C. Anti-Retaliation Pledge
Any associate who in good faith reports a suspected violation under the Code by the company, or its agents acting on behalf of the company, or who in
good faith raises issues or concerns regarding the company’s business or operations, to the Hotline, the Corporate Compliance Officer or any other member of the
Compliance Committee, may not be fired, demoted, reprimanded or otherwise harmed for, or because of, the reporting of the suspected violation, issues or
concerns, regardless of whether the suspected violation involves the associate, the associate’s supervisor or senior management of the company.
In addition, any associate who in good faith reports a suspected violation under the Code which the associate reasonably believes constitutes a violation of
a federal statute by the company, or its agents acting on behalf of the company, to a federal regulatory or law enforcement agency, may not be reprimanded,
discharged, demoted, suspended, threatened, harassed or in any manner discriminated against in the terms and conditions of the associate’s employment for, or
because of, the reporting of the suspected violation, regardless of whether the suspected violation involves the associate, the associate’s supervisor or senior
management of the company.
II.

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE CODE

The following questions and answers address the company’s implementation of the Code. The company has attempted to design procedures that ensure
maximum confidentiality, anonymity, and, most importantly, freedom from the fear of retaliation for complying with and reporting violations under the Code. In
addition, each associate shall sign the Associate’s Agreement to Comply with the Code in substantially the form attached as Appendix A hereto.
Q: Who is responsible for administering, updating and enforcing the Code?
A: The company’s Board of Directors has appointed a Corporate Compliance Officer and a Compliance Committee that includes the Corporate Compliance Officer
and at least one additional member to administer, update and enforce the Code. Ultimately, the Board of Directors of the company must ensure that the Corporate
Compliance Officer and the Compliance Committee fulfill their responsibilities.
The Corporate Compliance Officer has overall responsibility for overseeing the implementation of the Code. Specific responsibilities of the position are
to:
•

Develop the Code based on legal requirements, regulations and ethical considerations that are raised in the company’s operations;
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•

Ensure that the Code is distributed to all associates and that all associates acknowledge the principles of the Code;

•

Work with the company’s Audit Committee to provide a reporting mechanism so that associates have a confidential and anonymous method of
reporting not only suspected violations of the Code but concerns regarding federal securities or antifraud laws, accounting issues, or any federal law
relating to fraud against shareholders;

•

Implement a training program to ensure that associates are aware of and understand the Code;

•

Audit and assess compliance with the Code;

•

Serve as a point person for reporting violations and asking questions under the Code; and

•

Revise and update the Code as necessary to respond to detected violations and changes in the law.

The Compliance Committee is comprised of the Corporate Compliance Officer, the Chief Executive Officer and the Vice President, Finance and Chief
Financial Officer. The primary responsibilities of the Compliance Committee are to:
•

Assist the Corporate Compliance Officer in developing and updating the Code;

•

Develop internal procedures to monitor and audit compliance with the Code;

•

Serve as point persons for reporting violations and asking questions under the Code;

•

Set up a mechanism for anonymous reporting of suspected violations of the Code by associates and refer, when appropriate, such reports to the
Audit Committee;

•

Conduct internal investigations, with the assistance of counsel, of suspected compliance violations;

•

Evaluate disciplinary action for associates who violate the Code;

•

In the case of more severe violations of the Code, make recommendations regarding disciplinary action to the Board of Directors or a committee
thereof; and

•

Evaluate the effectiveness of the Code and improve the Code.

The Compliance Committee will provide a summary of all matters considered under the Code to the Board of Directors or a committee thereof at each
regular meeting thereof, or sooner if warranted by the severity of the matter. All proceedings and the identity of the person reporting will be kept confidential to the
extent required by applicable law.
Q: How can I contact the Corporate Compliance Officer and the Compliance Committee?
A: The names and phone numbers of the Corporate Compliance Officer and each member of the Compliance Committee are listed below. Any one of these
individuals can assist you in answering questions or reporting violations or suspected violations under the Code.
Michael I. Halstead
Corporate Compliance Officer
Sharon Mates, Ph.D.
Compliance Committee Member
Lawrence J. Hineline
Compliance Committee Member

(212) 923-3344
(212) 923-3344
(410) 832-7585
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The members of the Compliance Committee may change from time to time. You are encouraged to consult the copy of the Code that is included on the company’s
website to obtain the most current membership of the Compliance Committee.
III.

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS
Each associate of the company is expected to be honest, fair, and accountable in all business dealings and obligations, and to ensure:

IV.

•

the ethical handling of conflicts of interest between personal and professional relationships;

•

full, fair, accurate, timely and understandable disclosure in the reports required to be filed by the company with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and in other public communications made by the company; and

•

compliance with applicable governmental laws, rules and regulations.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Associates should avoid any situation that may involve, or even appear to involve, a conflict between their personal interests and the interests of the
company. In dealings with current or potential customers, suppliers, contractors, and competitors, each associate should act in the best interests of the company to
the exclusion of personal advantage. Immediate family members of associates, executive officers and directors are also covered in certain circumstances. For
purposes of this section, a “significant” amount or interest shall be deemed to be any amount in excess of $50,000 and an “immediate family member” in respect of
any person means any child, stepchild, parent, stepparent, spouse, sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-inlaw of such person, and any person (other than a tenant or employee) sharing the household of such person.
Associates and, in certain circumstances, their immediate family members, are prohibited from any of the following activities which could represent an
actual or perceived conflict of interest:
•

No associate or immediate family member of an associate shall have a significant financial interest in, or obligation to, any outside enterprise which
does or seeks to do business with the company or which is an actual or potential competitor of the company, without prior approval of the
Compliance Committee, or in the case of executive officers or members of the Board of Directors, the full Board of Directors
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or a committee thereof; provided however, that this provision shall not prevent any associate from investing in any mutual fund or owning up to
1% of the outstanding stock of any publicly traded company.
•

No associate shall conduct a significant amount of business on the company’s behalf with an outside enterprise which does or seeks to do business
with the company if an immediate family member of the associate is a principal or officer of such enterprise, or an employee of such enterprise
who will play a significant role in the business done or to be done between the company and such enterprise, without prior approval of the
Compliance Committee, or in the case of executive officers or members of the Board of Directors, the full Board of Directors or a committee
thereof.

•

No executive officer or employee, or an immediate family member of an executive officer or an employee, shall serve as a director, officer or in
any other management or consulting capacity of any actual competitor of the company.

•

No director, or an immediate family member of a director, shall serve as a director, officer or in any other management or consulting capacity of
any actual competitor of the company, without the prior approval of the full Board of Directors or a committee thereof.

•

No associate shall use any company property or information or his or her position at the company for his or her personal gain.

•

No associate shall engage in activities that are directly competitive with those in which the company is engaged.

•

No associate shall divert a business opportunity from the company to such individual’s own benefit. If an associate becomes aware of an
opportunity to acquire or profit from a business opportunity or investment in which the company is or may become involved or in which the
company may have an existing interest, the associate should disclose the relevant facts to the Corporate Compliance Officer or a member of the
Compliance Committee. The associate may proceed to take advantage of such opportunity only if the company is unwilling or unable to take
advantage of such opportunity as notified in writing by the Compliance Committee.

•

No associate or immediate family member of an associate shall receive any loan or advance from the company, or be the beneficiary of a guarantee
by the company of a loan or advance from a third party, except for customary advances or corporate credit in the ordinary course of business or
approved by the Compliance Committee. Please see Section V.E. below, “Corporate Advances”, for more information on permitted corporate
advances.

In addition, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors will review and approve, in advance, all related-person transactions, as required by the
Securities and Exchange Commission, The Nasdaq Stock Market or any other regulatory body to which the company is subject.
5

Each associate should make prompt and full disclosure in writing to the Corporate Compliance Officer or a member of the Compliance Committee of any
situation that may involve a conflict of interest. Failure to disclose any actual or perceived conflict of interest is a violation of the Code.
V.

PROTECTION AND PROPER USE OF COMPANY ASSETS

Proper protection and use of company assets and assets entrusted to it by others, including proprietary information, is a fundamental responsibility of each
associate of the company. Associates must comply with security programs to safeguard such assets against unauthorized use or removal, as well as against loss by
criminal act or breach of trust. The provisions hereof relating to protection of the company’s property also apply to property of others entrusted to it (including
proprietary and confidential information).
A. Proper Use of Company Property
The removal from the company’s facilities of the company’s property is prohibited, unless authorized by the company. This applies to furnishings,
equipment, and supplies, as well as property created or obtained by the company for its exclusive use – such as client lists, files, personnel information, reference
materials and reports, computer software, data processing programs and data bases. Neither originals nor copies of these materials may be removed from the
company’s premises or used for purposes other than the company’s business without prior written authorization from the Compliance Committee.
The company’s products and services are its property; contributions made by any associate to their development and implementation are the company’s
property and remain the company’s property even if the individual’s employment or directorship terminates.
Each associate has an obligation to use the time for which he or she receives compensation from the company productively. Work hours should be
devoted to activities directly related to the company’s business.
B. Confidential Information
The company provides its associates with confidential information relating to the company and its business with the understanding that such information
is to be held in confidence and not communicated to anyone who is not authorized to see it, except as may be required by law. The types of information that each
associate must safeguard include (but are not limited to) the company’s plans and business strategy, unannounced products and/or contracts, sales data, significant
projects, customer and supplier lists, patents, patent applications, trade secrets, manufacturing techniques and sensitive financial information, whether in electronic
or paper format. These are costly, valuable resources developed for the exclusive benefit of the company. No associate shall disclose the company’s confidential
information to an unauthorized third party or use the company’s confidential information for his or her own personal benefit.
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C. Accurate Records and Reporting
Under law, the company is required to keep books, records and accounts that accurately and fairly reflect all transactions, dispositions of assets and other
events that are the subject of specific regulatory record keeping requirements, including generally accepted accounting principles and other applicable rules,
regulations and criteria for preparing financial statements and for preparing periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. All company
reports, accounting records, sales reports, expense accounts, invoices, purchase orders, and other documents must accurately and clearly represent the relevant facts
and the true nature of transactions. Reports and other documents should state all material facts of a transaction and not omit any information that would be relevant
in interpreting such report or document. Under no circumstance may there be any unrecorded liability or fund of the company, regardless of the purposes for which
the liability or fund may have been intended, or any improper or inaccurate entry knowingly made on the books or records of the company. No payment on behalf
of the company may be approved or made with the intention, understanding or awareness that any part of the payment is to be used for any purpose other than that
described by the documentation supporting the payment. In addition, intentional accounting misclassifications (e.g., expense versus capital) and improper
acceleration or deferral of expenses or revenues are unacceptable reporting practices that are expressly prohibited.
The company has developed and maintains a system of internal controls to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are executed in accordance with
management’s authorization, are properly recorded and posted, and are in compliance with regulatory requirements. The system of internal controls within the
company includes written policies and procedures, budgetary controls, supervisory review and monitoring, and various other checks and balances, and safeguards,
such as password protection to access certain computer systems.
The company has also developed and maintains a set of disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that all of the information required to be disclosed
by the company in the reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified by the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms.
Associates are expected to be familiar with, and to adhere strictly to, these internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures.
Responsibility for compliance with these internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures rests not solely with the company’s accounting
personnel, but with all associates involved in approving transactions, supplying documentation for transactions, and recording, processing, summarizing and
reporting of transactions and other information required by periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Because the integrity of the
company’s external reports to shareholders and the Securities and Exchange Commission depends on the integrity of the company’s internal reports and
record-keeping, all associates must adhere to the highest standards of care with respect to our internal records and reporting. The company is committed
to full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandable disclosure in the periodic reports required to be filed by it with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, and it expects each associate to work diligently towards that goal.
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Any associate who believes the company’s books and records are not in accord with these requirements should immediately report the matter to the
Hotline, the Corporate Compliance Officer or a member of the Compliance Committee. The company has adopted explicit anti-retaliation policies with respect to
these matters, as described in Section I above.
D. Document Retention
Numerous federal and state statutes require the proper retention of many categories of records and documents that are commonly maintained by
companies. In consideration of those legal requirements and the company’s business needs, all associates must maintain records in accordance with these laws and,
if any, the company’s document retention policy.
Any record, in paper or electronic format, relevant to a threatened, anticipated or actual internal or external inquiry, investigation, matter or lawsuit may
not be discarded, concealed, falsified, altered, or otherwise made unavailable, once an associate has become aware of the existence of such threatened, anticipated
or actual internal or external inquiry, investigation, matter or lawsuit.
When in doubt regarding retention of any record, an associate must not discard or alter the record in question and should seek guidance from the
Corporate Compliance Officer or a member of the Compliance Committee. Associates should also direct all questions regarding document retention and related
procedures to the Corporate Compliance Officer or a member of the Compliance Committee. In addition, from time to time, the company may adopt additional
specific written policies and procedures with respect to document retention or amend its existing policies and procedures. All associates will be notified if such
policies and procedures are adopted or if existing policies and procedures are amended.
E. Corporate Advances
Under law, the company may not loan money to associates except in limited circumstances. It shall be a violation of the Code for any associate to
advance company funds to any other associate or to himself or herself except for usual and customary business advances for legitimate corporate purposes which
are approved by a supervisor or pursuant to a corporate credit card for usual and customary, legitimate business purposes. It is the company’s policy that any
advance to an associate over $5,000 be approved in advance by the Compliance Committee.
Company credit cards are to be used only for authorized, legitimate business purposes. An associate will be responsible for any unauthorized charges to a
company credit card.
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VI.

FAIR DEALING WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS, COMPETITORS, AND ASSOCIATES

The company does not seek to gain any advantage through the improper use of favors or other inducements. Good judgment and moderation must be
exercised to avoid misinterpretation and adverse effect on the reputation of the company or its associates. Offering, giving, soliciting or receiving any form of bribe
to or from an employee of a customer or supplier to influence that employee’s conduct is strictly prohibited.
A. Giving Gifts
Cash or cash-equivalent gifts must not be given by an associate to any person or enterprise. Gifts, favors and entertainment may be given to nongovernmental employees if what is given:
•

is consistent with customary business practice;

•

is not excessive in value and cannot be construed as a bribe or pay-off;

•

is not in violation of applicable law or ethical standards; and

•

will not embarrass the company or the associate if publicly disclosed.

See also subsection E below for considerations relating to gifts to foreign officials and Section VII.B below for considerations relating to gifts to
government employees.
B. Receiving Gifts
Gifts, favors, entertainment or other inducements may not be accepted by associates or members of their immediate families from any person or
organization that does or seeks to do business with, or is a competitor of, the company, except as common courtesies usually associated with customary business
practices. If the gift is of more than token value, the Compliance Committee must approve its acceptance.
An especially strict standard applies when suppliers are involved. If a gift unduly influences or makes an associate feel obligated to “pay back”
the other party with business, receipt of the gift is unacceptable.
It is never acceptable to accept a gift in cash or cash equivalent. Even cash gifts of token value must be declined and returned to the sender.
C. Unfair Competition
Although the free enterprise system is based upon competition, rules have been imposed stating what can and what cannot be done in a competitive
environment. The following practices can lead to liability for “unfair competition” and should be avoided. They are violations of the Code.
Disparagement of Competitors. It is not illegal to point out weaknesses in a competitor’s service, product or operation; however, associates may
not spread false rumors
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about competitors or make misrepresentations about their businesses. For example, an associate may not pass on anecdotal or unverified stories about a
competitor’s products or services as the absolute truth (e.g., the statement that “our competitors’ diagnostic testing procedures have poor quality control”).
Disrupting a Competitor’s Business. This includes bribing a competitor’s employees, posing as prospective customers or using deceptive practices
such as enticing away employees in order to obtain secrets or destroy a competitor’s organization. For example, it is not a valid form of “market research” to visit a
competitor’s place of business posing as a customer.
Misrepresentations of Price and Product . Lies or misrepresentations about the nature, quality or character of the company’s services and products
are both illegal and contrary to company policy. An associate may only describe our services and products based on their documented specifications, not based on
anecdote or his or her belief that our specifications are too conservative.
D. Antitrust Concerns
Federal and state antitrust laws are intended to preserve the free enterprise system by ensuring that competition is the primary regulator of the economy.
Every corporate decision that involves customers, competitors, and business planning with respect to output, sales and pricing raises antitrust issues. Compliance
with the antitrust laws is in the public interest, in the interest of the business community at large, and in our company’s interest.
Failing to recognize antitrust risk is costly. Antitrust litigation can be very expensive and time-consuming. Moreover, violations of the antitrust laws can,
among other things, subject you and the company to the imposition of injunctions, treble damages, and heavy fines. Criminal penalties may also be imposed, and
individual associates can receive heavy fines or even be imprisoned. For this reason, antitrust compliance should be taken seriously at all levels within the
company.
A primary focus of antitrust laws is on dealings between competitors. In all interactions with actual or potential competitors all associates must follow
these rules:
•

Never agree with a competitor or a group of competitors to charge the same prices or to use the same pricing methods, to allocate services,
customers, private or governmental payor contracts or territories among yourselves, to boycott or refuse to do business with a provider, vendor,
payor or any other third party, or to refrain from the sale or marketing of, or limit the supply of, particular products or services.

•

Never discuss past, present, or future prices, pricing policies, bundling, discounts or allowances, royalties, terms or conditions of sale, costs, choice
of customers, territorial markets, production quotas, allocation of customers or territories, or bidding on a job with a competitor.
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•

Be careful of your conduct. An “agreement” that violates the antitrust laws may be not only a written or oral agreement, but also a “gentlemen’s
agreement” or a tacit understanding. Such an “agreement” need not be in writing. It can be inferred from conduct, discussions or communications
of any sort with a representative of a competitor.

•

Make every output- and sales-related decision (pricing, volume, etc.) independently, in light of costs and market conditions and competitive prices.

•

Carefully monitor trade association activity. These forums frequently create an opportunity for competitors to engage in antitrust violations.

Another focus of antitrust law is how a company deals with customers, suppliers, contractors and other third parties. The following practices could raise
issues, and associates should always consult with the Corporate Compliance Officer or the Compliance Committee before doing any of the following:
•

Refuse to sell to any customers or prospective customer;

•

Enter into any new distribution or supply agreement which differs in any respect from those previously approved;

•

Condition a sale on the customer’s purchasing another product or service, or on not purchasing the product of a competitor;

•

Agree with a customer on a minimum or maximum resale price of our products;

•

Impose restrictions on the geographic area to which our customers may resell our products;

•

Require a supplier to purchase products from the company as a condition of purchasing products from that supplier;

•

Enter into an exclusive dealing arrangement with a supplier or customer; or

•

Offer different prices, terms, services or allowances to different customers who compete or whose customers compete in the distribution of
commodities.

If our company has a dominant or potentially dominant position with respect to a particular product or market, especially rigorous standards of conduct
must be followed. In these circumstances, all associates should:
•

Consult with the Corporate Compliance Officer or the Compliance Committee before selling at unreasonably low prices or engaging in any
bundling practices; and
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•

Keep the Corporate Compliance Officer or the Compliance Committee fully informed of competitive strategies and conditions in any areas where
the company may have a significant market position.

Finally, always immediately inform the Corporate Compliance Officer or the Compliance Committee if local, state or federal law enforcement officials
request information from the company concerning its operations.
E. Unfair Practices in International Business
Under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), associates of the company are prohibited from making certain gifts to foreign officials. “Foreign
officials” include not only persons acting in an official capacity on behalf of a foreign government, agency, department or instrumentality, but also representatives
of international organizations, foreign political parties and candidates for foreign public office. The gift is “corrupt” under the FCPA if it is made for the purpose
of:
•

influencing any act or decision of a foreign official in his official capacity;

•

inducing a foreign official to do or omit to do any act in violation of his lawful duty;

•

inducing a foreign official to use his position to affect any decision of the government; or

•

inducing a foreign official to secure any “improper advantage.”

A gift is still “corrupt” even when paid through an intermediary. Any associate who has any questions whatsoever as to whether a particular gift might be
“corrupt” under the FCPA, please contact the Corporate Compliance Officer or any member of the Compliance Committee.
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VII.

GOVERNMENT RELATIONS

Associates must adhere to the highest standards of ethical conduct in all relationships with government employees and must not improperly attempt to
influence the actions of any public official.
A. Government Procurement and Funding
The U.S. government, governments of other countries and many state, regional and local governments have adopted comprehensive laws and regulations
governing the purchase of products from private contractors or the provision of funds to the private sector for research and development. These laws and
regulations are intended to assure that governmental entities receive pricing, terms, and/or conditions equivalent to those granted to the company’s most favored
commercial counterparties and that there is full and open competition in contracting.
When selling products or services to, or seeking funding from, government agencies, the company is accountable for complying with all applicable laws,
regulations, and requirements. Certifications to, and contracts with, government agencies are to be signed by a company associate authorized by the Board of
Directors to sign such documents, based upon knowledge that all requirements have been fully satisfied.
B. Payments to Officials
Payments or gifts shall not be made directly or indirectly to any government official or associate if the gift or payment is illegal under the laws of the
country having jurisdiction over the transaction, or if it is for the purpose of influencing or inducing the recipient to do, or omit to do, any act in violation of his or
her lawful duty. Under no circumstances should gifts be given to any government employees.
C. Political Contributions
Company funds, property or services may not be contributed to any political party or committee, or to any candidate for or holder of any office of any
government. This policy does not preclude, where lawful, company expenditures to support or oppose public referendum or separate ballot issues, or, where lawful
and when reviewed and approved in advance by the Compliance Committee, the formation and operation of a political action committee.
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VIII.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS, RULES AND REGULATIONS
A. Insider Trading Policy

The company expressly forbids any associate from trading on material non-public information or communicating material non-public information to
others in violation of the law. This conduct is frequently referred to as “insider trading.” This policy applies to every associate of the company and extends to
activities both within and outside their duties to the company, including trading for a personal account.
The concept of who is an “insider” is broad. It includes officers, directors and employees of a company. In addition, a person can be a “temporary insider”
if he or she enters into a special confidential relationship in the conduct of a company’s affairs and as a result is given access to information solely for the
company’s purpose. A temporary insider can include, among others, a company’s investment advisors, agents, attorneys, accountants and lending institutions, as
well as the employees of such organizations. An associate may also become a temporary insider of another company with which our company has a contractual or
other relationship.
Trading on inside information is not a basis for liability unless the information is material. This is information that a reasonable investor would consider
important in making his or her investment decisions, or information that is likely to have a significant effect on the price of a company’s securities.
Information is non-public until it has been effectively communicated to the marketplace. Tangible evidence of such dissemination is the best indication
that the information is public. For example, information found in a report filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission or appearing in a national newspaper
would be considered public.
Each associate should be familiar with and abide by the company’s Insider Trading Policy. A copy of this policy is given to all new associates of the
company and is available from the Corporate Compliance Officer or any member of the Compliance Committee.
B. Equal Employment Opportunity
The company makes employment-related decisions without regard to a person’s race, color, religious creed, age, sex, sexual orientation, marital status,
national origin, ancestry, present or past history of mental disorder, mental retardation, learning disability or physical disability, including, but not limited to,
blindness and genetic predisposition, or any other factor unrelated to a person’s ability to perform the person’s job. “Employment decisions” generally mean
decisions relating to hiring, recruiting, training, promotions and compensation, but the term may encompass other employment actions as well.
The company encourages its associates to bring any problem, complaint or concern regarding any alleged employment discrimination to the attention of
the Corporate Compliance Officer. Associates who have concerns regarding conduct they believe is discriminatory should also feel free to make any such reports to
the Corporate Compliance Officer, a member of the Compliance Committee, or the Hotline.
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C. Sexual Harassment Policy
The company is committed to maintaining a collegial work environment in which all individuals are treated with respect and dignity and which is free of
sexual harassment. In keeping with this commitment, the company will not tolerate sexual harassment of associates by anyone, including any supervisor, coworker, vendor, client or customer, whether in the workplace, at assignments outside the workplace, at company-sponsored social functions or elsewhere.
Each associate should be familiar with and abide by the company’s Sexual Harassment Policy. A copy of this policy is given to all associates of the
company and is available from the Corporate Compliance Officer or any member of the Compliance Committee.
D. Health, Safety & Environment Laws
Health, safety, and environmental responsibilities are fundamental to the company’s values. Associates are responsible for ensuring that the company
complies with all provisions of the health, safety, and environmental laws of the United States and of other countries where the company does business.
The penalties that can be imposed against the company and its associates for failure to comply with health, safety, and environmental laws can be
substantial, and include imprisonment and fines.
E. Health Care Regulations
The company is committed to full compliance with federal and state laws, including laws prohibiting health care fraud and abuse such as the federal and
state anti-kickback laws, the physician self-referral law commonly known as the Stark law and the federal and state false claims laws.
The federal anti-kickback statute prohibits the knowing and willful payment of remuneration to a physician, hospital or other source with the intent to
induce the physician, hospital or other source to refer patients or order or recommend any items or services paid for by any federal health care program. There are
certain “safe harbor” exceptions to this statute; however, their application is very complicated. A violation of the federal anti-kickback statute can result in severe
penalties, including criminal conviction, fines and exclusion from Medicare and Medicaid programs. Many other jurisdictions, including many states, have similar
anti-kickback laws governing items or services payable under government programs and/or by private insurance companies.
A federal statute similar to the federal anti-kickback statute is the Stark Law. The Stark Law prohibits physicians who have certain financial relationships
with health care entities from ordering designated health services for their patients from such entities. Certain safe harbor provisions exist, but are complicated in
their application. A violation of the Stark Law can result in denial of payment and civil monetary penalties.
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Federal and state false claims laws prohibit knowing and willful false statements or representations made in connection with a claim submitted for
reimbursement to health care programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. Claims that (i) provide misleading or incomplete information to customers regarding health
care products or services, (ii) fail to include proper documentation or show a failure to obtain proper diagnosis information and (iii) bill for services not rendered,
coded improperly or otherwise not rendered in the manner required, have resulted in penalties to providers under false claims statues. A violation of a false claims
statute can result in severe consequences including civil penalties and criminal conviction.
As the application of federal and state anti-kickback and false claims laws is very complicated and nuanced, it is imperative that an associate with
questions about the application of these laws contact the Corporate Compliance Officer or a member of the Compliance Committee for guidance in advance of
taking any action.
IX.

QUESTIONS UNDER THE CODE AND WAIVER PROCEDURES

Associates are encouraged to consult with the Corporate Compliance Officer and Compliance Committee about any uncertainty or questions they may
have under the Code.
If any situation should arise where a course of action would likely result in a violation of the Code but for which the associate thinks that a valid reason
for the course of action exists, the associate should contact the Corporate Compliance Officer or a member of the Compliance Committee to obtain a waiver prior to
the time the action is taken. No waivers will be granted after the fact for actions already taken. Except as noted below, the Compliance Committee will review all
the facts surrounding the proposed course of action and will determine whether a waiver from any policy in the Code should be granted.
Waiver Procedures for Executive Officers and Directors. Waiver requests by an executive officer or member of the Board of Directors shall be referred
by the Compliance Committee, with its recommendation, to the Board of Directors or a committee thereof for consideration. If either (i) a majority of the
independent directors on the Board of Directors, or (ii) a committee comprised solely of independent directors agrees that the waiver should be granted, it will be
granted. The company will disclose the nature and reasons for the waiver on a Form 8-K to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within four
business days or as otherwise permitted by the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and The Nasdaq Stock Market. If the Board denies the request for
a waiver, the waiver will not be granted and the associate may not pursue the intended course of action.
It is the company’s policy only to grant waivers from the Code in limited and extraordinary circumstances.
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X.

FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS (FAQ’S) REGARDING REPORTING VIOLATIONS UNDER THE CODE,
WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY AND HOTLINE

The following questions and answers address each associate’s obligation to comply with the Code. The company has attempted to design procedures that
ensure maximum confidentiality and, most importantly, freedom from the fear of retaliation for complying with and reporting violations under the Code.
Q: Do I have a duty to report violations under the Code?
A: Yes, participation in the Code and its compliance program is mandatory. You must immediately report any suspected or actual violation of the Code to
the Hotline, the Corporate Compliance Officer or a member of the Compliance Committee. The company will keep reports confidential to the fullest extent
required by applicable law. Failure to report suspected or actual violations is itself a violation of the Code and may subject you to disciplinary action, up to and
including termination of employment or legal action.
Q: I’m afraid of being fired for raising questions or reporting violations under the Code. Will I be risking my job if I do?
A: The Code contains a clear anti-retaliation pledge, meaning that if you in good faith report a violation of the Code by the company, or its agents acting
on behalf of the company, to the Hotline, the Corporate Compliance Officer or another member of the Compliance Committee, the company will undertake to
protect you from being fired, demoted, reprimanded or otherwise harmed for reporting the violation, even if the violation involves you, your supervisor, or senior
management of the company. Note, however, that while you will not be disciplined for reporting a violation, you may be subject to discipline with respect to the
underlying conduct or violation. You are entitled to make the report on a confidential and anonymous basis. To the extent an investigation must be initiated, the
company will keep confidential any report you make to the Corporate Compliance Officer or another member of the Compliance Committee to the extent required
by applicable law.
In addition, if you in good faith report a suspected violation under the Code which you reasonably believe constitutes a violation of a federal statute by
the company, or its agents acting on behalf of the company, to a federal regulatory or law enforcement agency, you may not be reprimanded, discharged, demoted,
suspended, threatened, harassed or in any manner discriminated against in the terms and conditions of your employment for reporting the suspected violation,
regardless of whether the suspected violation involves you, your supervisor or senior management of the company.
Associates are encouraged to pursue all internal reporting channels through completion and reasonably await and consider the results of all internal
investigations prior to reporting matters outside of the company. We have instituted the procedures described in this Code, including procedures to make
anonymous submissions (a form of internal report), to facilitate the use of internal investigations.
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Individuals should also consider leaving, but are not required to leave, their name or a contact number when submitting a report. Such information may
facilitate a more thorough and efficient investigation. The Corporate Compliance Officer will strive to maintain the integrity and confidentiality of all compliancerelated communications. However, in certain circumstances, the identity of the person reporting the issue may become known or may need to be revealed,
particularly if federal or state enforcement authorities become involved in the investigation. The company cannot guarantee confidentiality when material evidence
of a violation of the law is disclosed or if the person is identified during the normal course of an investigation.
Q: How are suspected violations investigated under the Code?
A: When a suspected violation is reported to the Hotline, the Corporate Compliance Officer or a member of the Compliance Committee, the Compliance
Committee will gather information about the allegation by interviewing the associate reporting the suspected violation, the associate who is accused of the violation
and/or any co-workers or associates of the accused associates to determine if a factual basis for the allegation exists. The reporting associate’s immediate supervisor
will not be involved in the investigation if the reported violation involved that supervisor. The company will keep the identity of the reporting associate confidential
to the fullest extent required by applicable law.
If the report is not substantiated, the reporting associate will be informed and at that time will be asked for any additional information not previously
communicated. If there is no additional information, the Corporate Compliance Officer will close the matter as unsubstantiated.
If the allegation is substantiated, the Compliance Committee will make a judgment as to the degree of severity of the violation and the appropriate
disciplinary response. In more severe cases, the Compliance Committee will make a recommendation to the Board of Directors of the company for its approval.
The Board’s decision as to disciplinary and corrective action will be final. In the case of less severe violations, the Corporate Compliance Officer may refer the
violation to the individual’s supervisor for appropriate disciplinary action.
The Compliance Committee shall provide a summary of all matters considered under the Code to the Board of Directors or a committee thereof at each
regular meeting thereof, or sooner if warranted by the severity of the matter.
Q: Do I have to participate in any investigation under the Code?
A: Your full cooperation with any pending investigation under the Code is a condition of your continued relationship with the company. The refusal to
cooperate fully with any investigation is a violation of the Code and grounds for discipline, up to and including termination.
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Q: What are the consequences of violating the Code?
A: As explained above, associates who violate the Code may be subject to discipline, up to and including termination of employment. Associates who
violate the Code may simultaneously violate federal, state, local or foreign laws, regulations or policies. Such associates may be subject to prosecution,
imprisonment and fines, and may be required to make reimbursement to the company, the government or any other person for losses resulting from the violation.
They may be subject to punitive or treble damages depending on the severity of the violation and applicable law.
Q: What if I have questions under the Code or want to obtain a waiver under any provision of the Code?
A: The Corporate Compliance Officer and any member of the Compliance Committee can help answer questions you may have under the Code.
Particularly difficult questions will be answered with input from the Compliance Committee as a whole. In addition, Section IX of the Code provides information
on how you may obtain a waiver from the Code; waivers will be granted only in very limited circumstances. You should never pursue a course of action that is
unclear under the Code without first consulting the Corporate Compliance Officer or the Compliance Committee, and if necessary, obtaining a waiver from the
Code.
19

APPENDIX A
ASSOCIATE’S AGREEMENT TO COMPLY
I have read the Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. Corporate Code of Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”). I have obtained an interpretation of any provision about
which I had a question. I agree to abide by the provisions of the Code. Based on my review, I acknowledge that
To the best of my knowledge, I am not in violation of, or aware of any violation by others of, any provision contained in the Code;
OR
I have made a full disclosure on the reverse side of this acknowledgement of the facts regarding any possible violation of the
provisions set forth in the Code.
In addition, I understand that I am required to report any suspected or actual violation of the Code, and that I may make such reports on a fully
anonymous basis through the mechanisms described in this Code. I understand that I am required to cooperate fully with the company in connection with the
investigation of any suspected violation. I understand that my failure to comply with the Code or its procedures may result in disciplinary action, up to and
including termination.
By:
Name (Please print):
Department/Location:

Date:

20

Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-205070) pertaining to the Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. Amended and Restated 2013 Equity Incentive Plan of IntraCellular Therapies, Inc.,
(2) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-204509) of Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.,
(3) Registration Statement (Post-Effective Amendment No. 3 to Form S-1 on Form S-3 No. 333-191238) of Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc., and
(4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-193310) pertaining to the ITI, Inc. 2003 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, and the Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.
2013 Equity Incentive Plan of Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.;
of our reports dated February 25, 2016, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting of Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc. for the year ended
December 31, 2015.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Baltimore, MD
February 25, 2016

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302
I, Sharon Mates, Ph.D., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: February 25, 2016
/s/ Sharon Mates, Ph.D.
Sharon Mates, Ph.D.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 302
I, Lawrence J. Hineline, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Date: February 25, 2016
/s/ Lawrence J. Hineline
Lawrence J. Hineline
Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer and principal accounting officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATIONS UNDER SECTION 906
Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code), each of the
undersigned officers of Intra-Cellular Therapies, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), does hereby certify, to such officer’s knowledge, that:
The Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2015 (the “Form 10-K”) of the Company fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the information contained in the Form 10-K fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results
of operations of the Company.
Dated: February 25, 2016

/s/ Sharon Mates, Ph.D.
Sharon Mates, Ph.D.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

Dated: February 25, 2016

/s/ Lawrence J. Hineline
Lawrence J. Hineline
Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer and principal accounting officer)

